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The Intemational Finance Corporation (“IFC"” or the “Corporation”) inlends from lime to time to issue its
notes, bonds, structured debt securities or other evidences of indebtedness (“Securities™), with maturities and on
terms determined by market conditions at the time of sule. The Sccurities may be sold to dealers or underwriters that
may resell them in public offerings or otherwise, or they may be sold by [FC, either directly or through agents.

In connection with the sale of Securities issued under IFC's medium-term notes programs at any particular
time, the aggregate principal amount, maturity, interest rate(s) or method for determining such rate(s), interest
payment dates, redemption premium (if any), purchase price Lo be paid to IFC, provisions for redempiion or other
special terms, form and denomination of such Securities, information as to stock exchange listing and the names of
the dealers, underwriters or agents as well as other relevant inforniation will be set forth in a prospectus, offering
circular or information memorandum for such programs or in related offering documents.

Except as otherwise indicated, in this Information Statement (1) all amounts are stated in current United States
dollars translated as indicated in the notes 1o the consolidated financial statements, Note A-Summary of significant
accounting and related polices, translation of currencies and (2) all information is given as of June 30, 2006.

AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION

IFC will provide additional copies of this Information Statement to the public upon request and without charge.
Written or telephone requests should be directed to IFC's principal office at 2121 Pennsyivania Avenue, N.W.,
Washingion, D.C., 20433, Atention: Treasury Department, Tel: (202) 458-9230. IFC’s consolidated financial
statemnerts and other information filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™)
may also be inspected at the offices of the Commission at Room 1580, 100 F Strect, N.E. Washington, D.C. 20549,
and copies of such material may be obtained {rom the Public Reference section of the Commission at the above
address at prescribed rates.

Recipients of this Information Statement should retain it for future reference, as it is intended that each
prospectuns, offering circular, information memorandum or other offering document will refer to this
Information Statement for a description of IFC, its operations and financial status.

Qctober 31, 2006



SUMMARY INFORMATION

Except as otherwise indicated, all data are as of June 30, 2006.

The [nternational Finance Corporation (“IFC” or the “Corporation™) is an international organization, established in 1956 to further economic
growth in its developing member countrics by promoting private sector development, IFC is a member of the World Bank Group, which also
includes the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the “World Bank”), the Iniemational Pevelopment Association ("IDA™),
and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (“MIGA™), [tis a legal entity separate and distinct from the World Bank, IDA and MIGA with
its own Articles of Agreement, share capital, financial structure, management, and stafl, Membership in [FC is open only to member countries of
the World Bank The obligations of [FC are not obligations of, or guaranteed by, the World Bank or any government.

IFCis an experienced supranational organization providing financing and financial services to the private sector in developing countries tat
are members of 1FC. [t combines the characteristics of amulilateral development bank with (hose of a private financial instituton. As of June 30,
2006, IFC's entire share capital was held by 178 member countries. As of June 30, 2006, member countries of the Organization for Fconomic
Cooperation and Development (“OECD” ) held 70.38% of the voting power of IFC, The five largest of IFC's 178 shareholders are the United States
(23.65% of the total voting power), Japan (5.87%), Germany (5.36%), United Kingdom (5.04%), and France (5.04%). Generally, IFC charges
market-based rates for its loans and secks market returns on its equity investments. Unlike most other multilateral insututions, [FC does not accept
host govemment guarantees of its loans, The financial strength of 1FC is based principalty on the quality of its loan and equity portfolio, its
substantial patd-in capital and reserves, and low debl to equity rtio, the size of its liguid assets, its diversificd camings base and its consistent
profitability.

Basis of Preparation of the Corporation’s Financial Statements. The accounting and reporting policies of the Corporation conform Lo
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“US GAAP"). The Corporation has traditionally prepared one sct of financial
staements and footnotes, complying with both US GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™). However, principally dve 1o
material differences between US Staement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS") No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivatives and Certain Hedging Relationships (collectively
“SFAS No. 133)", and its counterpart in [FRS, 1AS No. 39, Financial Instrnomenss Recognition and Measurement, it has not been possible for the
Corporation to satisfy the requirements of both US GAAP and IFRS via one setof financial statements since the year ended June 30, 2000, IFC is
actively monitoring developments relard to accounting standards and the primary basis for preparation of its linancial statements, all with a view
to the necessary systems and controls to manage its various lines of business. IFC now plans Lo resume presentation of its financial stalements using
IFRS upon completion of the evaluation of an Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments 1o [IAS 32, Financial Instrumenis: Preseniation and IAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Instruments — Financial Instruments Pultable at Fair Value and Obligations Arising on Liguidation, issued in June
2006, and in panicular the apptication of vhis proposed amendment to [FC’s capital siock. Unless staled otherwise, discussions of financial
performance herein refer to income after expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services ("“TAAS") and expenditures for performance-
based grants (“PBG”) and before net (tosses) gains on non-trading financial instruments (“operating income™). Operating income excludes the
effects of net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instraments pursuant to SFAS No. 133. The effects of SFAS No. 133 on act income are
discussed in Results of Opertions.

Investment Products, As of June 30, 2006, IFC's disbursed and outstanding loan and equity investment portfolio, including fair valee
adjustments for loans in qualifying hedge relationships, unamortized net defemed loan origination fees, equity investment impaimment write-
downs, adjustments to investments accounted for under the equity method and unrealized gains on equity investments held by consolidated
Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs™) (“disbursed investment pontfolio™) amounied 1o United Staes dollars (“US dollars™ or “$7) 13.6 billion. Loans
represenied 79% and equities 21% of the disbursed investment portfolio. The disbursed investment pordolio is diversified by country, region,
indusiry, sector and project type. Credit risks are shared with other private sector investors as [FC does not generally provide finincing forits own
account for more than 25% of project cost. IFC's disbursed equity plus quasi-equity investments (net of impairment write-downs) may not exceed
100% of its net worth. IFC applies stringent lending and equity investment criteria, projects are appraised on their technical, managerial, financial,
and economic merits. Generally, [FC loans are priced on a markel basis and equity investment decisions are similarly made based on risk-reward
considerations,

Liquid Assets. As of Junc 30, 2006, the fair value of IFC’s liquid assets portfolio (net of associated derivative instruments and securities
lending activitics) amounted 10 $12.7 billion, down from $13.3 billion at June 30, 2005, IFC's liguid assets plus undrawn borrowings from the
World Bank are sufficient to cover all of IFC’s undisbursed loan and equity commitments. 1FC’s liquidity policy requires IFC to keep a all imes
the sum of its liguid assets and undrawn borrowing commitments from the World Bank sufficient 1o cover at least 65% of its estimated net cash
requirements for the next three years. The Corporation’s liquid assets comprise highly rated fixed and floaling rate instruments issued or
unconditionally guaranteed by governments, govemment agencies and instrumentalitics, multilateral organizations and AAA-rated corporate
issuers, including mongage-and asset-backed securities. Liguid Assets also includes time deposits and other unconditional obligations of banks
and financinl institutions, logether with associated derivative instruments pertaining to such obligations.

Borrowings. [FCraiscs virtually all of the funds for its lending and eguity investment activities through the issuance of debt obligations in
the international capital markets, while maintaining a small borrowing window with the World Bank. IFC diversifies its borrowings by currency.
country, source and maturity to provide flexibility and cost effectivencss. Since it began borrowing directly from the intemational capital markets
in 1985, IFC has raised the equivalent of $45.1 billion involving 34 cumencies. As of June 30, 2006, IFC’s oustanding borrowings totaled
$15.0 billion, including $0.] billion from the World Bank. In additon, 1FC underakes a substantial volume of currency and interest rate swap
transactions o convert its market borrowings into variable-rate US dollar liabilides.

Enterprise Risk Management. Inexecuting its sustainable private sector mandate, IFC assumes various types of risks. The Corporation’s
management has defined a comprehensive enterprise risk management framework, within which it recognizes four main risk groupings: strategic
risk, credit risk, financial risk, and operational risk. Active management of these risks is a key determinant ot the Corporation’s success and its
abilily to maintain a stable capital and earnings base, and is an essential part of its operations. As part of its enterprise risk management framework,
the Corporation has adopted several key financial and exposure policies and a number of prudential policies. IFC uses derivative instruments to
manage financial risk associated with its borrowing, lending and liquidity management activities, and in conncclion with its client risk
management products. The credit exposures on currency swaps and interest rate swaps are controlled through specified credit-rating requirements
for counterparties, and increasingly through netting and collateratization arrangements.

Net Worth.  As of June 30, 2006, IFC’s net worth (presented as “Towa! Capital” in the Corporation's financial statements) amounted (o
$11.1 billion, including $8.7 billion in retained earnings, of which $9).9 billion has been designated for TAAS, PBG and grants to IDA. IFC must
maintzin at all times a level of capital (paid-in capital, retained earnings and general loan loss reserves) equal to at least 30% of risk-weighted
assets. As of June 30, 2006, the capital adequacy ratio was 54%. Under IFC's Articles of Agreement, so long as [FC has outstanding indebtedness
1o the World Bank, [FC’s leverage, 2 measured by the ratio of IFC's debt (borrowings plus outstanding guaraniees) to equity (total subscribed
capital plus retained earnings), may not exceed 4.0 to 1. At June 30, 2006, this ratio was 1.5 to 1.

The above information is supplemented and qualified by the additional information
and Financia) Statements and Notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Information Statement.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The balance sheet and income statement data presenied below have been derived from consolidated financial statements for
the years ended June 30, 2006 (“FY06™) and June 30, 2005 (*FY05™) and linancial sialements for the year ended June 30, 2004
{(“FY04™) audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent accountants and for the years ended June 30, 2003 (“FY{(3") and
June 30, 2002 (“FY02™), by Deloiite Touche Tohmatsu (International Firm). Certain amounts have been reclassified so as to
conform with the current year presentation. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto as well as other fnancial information included elsewhere herein. Except as otherwise
indicated, all amounts are expressed in millions of US dollars.
As of and for the years ended June 30,
2008 2005 2004 2003 2002
Consolidated net income highlights:
Interest and financial fees from loans, . ... .. ... . ... oL 307 660 518 477 547
Income from lquid asset rading activides ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 444 358 177 475 524
Charges on DOTTOWINES . . . ... . .t e s (603) (309 (141) (226) {438)
Income from equity inVESIMENIS . . . . . ... .. oottt e 1,228 1,365 658 145 160
Or which:
Realized capital gains onequity sales . ... .. .. ... L 928 723 386 52 288
Dividends and profit participations . . ... .. .. . o o 327 258 207 147 141
Amortization of Unincorporated Joint Venture (“UIV™) conditional asset
relirement obligations . .. ... L. L. (8 — - — —
Unrealized income from Limited Liability Partnerships (“L1.Ps™) and certain
Limited Liability Corporations €“LLCs™). .. .. ... ... ot 56 191 — — —
Changes in carrying vatue of equity investments . .. ................. — 269 69 50 (268)
Equily investment impairment write-downs, .. . ., e (61 (62) — — —
Nelt losses on equity-related derivatives and custody & other lees . .. ... . ., (18) (14) (4) 4) {n
(Provigion for) release ol provision for fosses on loans and guarantees . ... ... . . (15} 261 103 “8) (389)
Nel OLRCE CXPENSE © o o ittt et e e e e e e 362) (344) 304 (2Y5) {243)
Income before expenditures for TAAS, PBG and net (losses) gains on non-trading
financial inStrumenis . . . .. .. .. e e e 1,499 1,991 1,011 528 161
Expenditures for TAAS . . . .. e e e e (55) (38) 29 — —
Expenditures for PBG. . .. .. .. e (3%) —_ — — —
Income after expenditures for TAAS and PBG and before net (Josses) gains on
non-tmding financial instruments (“operating income™), .. . ... ... ... .. 1,409 1,953 982 528 151
Net {losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments . .. .. ........ ... .. (131 62 il 41) 54
NEeLINCOME . . . e e e e e 1,278 2,015 993 487 215
Consolidated balance sheet highlights:
Totl BESEIS. . . o o oo e e e e e 38420 39560 32361 31543 27739
Liquid assets, net of associated denvatives . ... ... ... .. 12,730 13325 13,055 12952 14,532
Loan and equity inVeSIMERLS, NEL . . . .. ... vttt e e e 12,731 11,489 10,279 9377 7,963
Borrowings withdrawn and ousstanding . ... .. .. ... L. 14967 15359 16254 17315 16581
TOt) CAPHAL L e e e 11,076 9,798 7.782 6,789 6,304
OF which:
Undesignated retained eamings - .. ... ... e 7859 6,871 5,193 4425 3,938
Retained earnings designated for TAAS .. oo oo 487 312 225 - —
Retained earnings designated for PBG, .. . .. ... .. Lo 215 250 — — —
Retined eamings designtated for grams o IDA, .. ... ... ... ... ... 150 — — —_ —
Capital SI0CK . . . . .. 2,364 2,364 2,361 2.360 2,360
L4 1T 1 1 3 4 6
Key financial eatios’:
REIUMN 01 AVEIAZE ASSCIST . L oo vt vt vt et e e e et e e (%) 3.6 54 31 1.8 0.6
Return on average net worth . . ... L. L. (%) 137 22.6 13.7 8.2 2.7
Cash and liquid investments as a percentage of next three years' estimated met cash
TCQUITEMIEINS . . . .t o ot e e e e e e e e e e e e e (%) 112 142 i16 107 109
Debi to equity ratio®. . . ... 1.5:) L&:1 23:1 2.6:1 2.8:1
Capitad adequacy TAO® . .. o L e (%) 54 50 48 45 49
Total reserve against losses’ on loans to to1al dishursed loan pnrtfolio° ......... (T} 23 9.9 14.0 18.2 21.9
Memorandum:
GUAraDICES BIENEA . . . . . e e 1,150 978 386 1,080 794
Guarantees outstanding . . . .. . .. ... e e 494 291 315 314 223
! Key financial ratios are generally calculated excluding the effects of net gains (losses) on non-trading financial insruments pursvant 1o
SFAS No. 133.
? Rewmon average assets is defined as operating income for the fiscal year as a percentage of the average of 1013l assets at the end of such fiscal
veiar and the previous fiscil year,
> Rewrn on average net worth is defined as operating income for the fiscal year as a percentage of the average of wtal net worth (excluding
payments on account of pending subscriplions) at the end of such fiscal year and the previous fiscal year.
4 Debt w equity ratio is defined as the ratio of outstanding borrowings plus outstanding guaniniees 10 subscribed capital plus rewined camings
at the end of the fiscal year
3 Capital adequacy ratio is defined as the ratio of capital (including paid-in capital. retained eanings and general loss reserve) to risk-weighied
assets, both on- and off-balance sheet
©  Toll reserves against losses on loans 10 to1al disbursed loan porttolio is defined as reserve against losses on loans as a perccatage of the total
disbursed loan portfotio at the end of the fiscal year.




THE CORPORATION

IFC is an international organization, established in 1956 under its Articles of Agreement (the “Anticles of
Agreement”) to further cconomic growth in its developing member countries by promoting private seclor
development. [FC is a member of the World Bank Group, which also includes the World Bank, IDA and MIGA.
Although IFC’s activities are closely coordinated with and complement the overall development objectives of the
other World Bank Group institutions, IFC is a legal entity separate and distinet from the World Bank, IDA and
MIGA and operates pursuant to its own Articles of Agreement. While it shares some services with the World Bank
and the President of IFC is also the President of the World Bank, [FC has its own management and staff. I[FC’s
principat office is located at 2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20433,

IFC’s share capital is provided by itls member countries. It raises most of the funds for its investment activities
through the issuance of notes, bonds and other debt securities in the international capital markets. Generally, IFC
charges market-based rates for its loans and seeks market returns on its equity investments. Unlike most other
multilateral institutions, IFC does not accept host government guarantees of its loans.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds to IFC from the sale of the Securitics will be used for the general operations of IFC in
accordance with its Articles of Agreement.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE OF IFC

Total assets were $38.4 billion at June 30, 2006 ($39.6 hillion — June 30, 2005), including $12.7 billion in
liquid assets, net of associated derivatives ($13.3 billion — June 30, 2005) and $13.6 billion in the disbursed
investment portfolio ($12.5 billion — June 30, 2003). The disbursed investment portfolio is reduced by reserves
against losses on loans of $0.9 billion at June 30, 2006 (3$1.0 billion — June 30, 2005). Total assets also includes
$1.1 billion in derivative assets at fair value ($1.5 billion — June 30, 2005).

CLIENT SERVICES

Busess OVERVIEW

In partnership with private investors, [FC assists in financing the establishment. improvement, and expansion
of private sector enterprises by making investments where sufficient private capital is not otherwise available on
reasonable terms. IFC secks to bring together domestic and foreign private capital and experienced management
and thercby create conditions conducive to the flow of private capital, domestic and foreign, ino productive
investments in its developing member countries. In this way, [FC plays a calalytic role in mobilizing additional
project funding from other investors and lenders, either through co-financing or through loan syndications, and
guaranices, In addition to project finance (described below) and resource mobilization, TFC offers financial and
technical advisory services to private businesses in developing member countries. It also advises member
governments on private scctor development matters.

IFC's investments are normally made in its developing member countries. The Articles of Agreement mandate
that [FC shall invest in productive private enterprise. The requirement for private ownership does not disqualify
enterprises that are partly owned by the public sector if such enterprises are organized under local commercial and
comporate law, operate free of host government control in a market context and according to profitability criteria,
and/or are in the process of being totally or partially privatized.

The Corporation’s main investment activity is project financing. This encompasses “greenficld” projects,
expansions, and modernizations. IFC also provides corporate credits (o selected companies (o finance ongoing
programs of investment projecis. In addition, the Corporation facilitates financing through financial intermediaries,
covering project and general purpose lending and specialized lending products such as leasing, trade, and mortgage
finance. These financial intermediaries function cither as [FC's borrower, on-lending to private sector companies at
their own risk, or as [FC’s agent, identifying companies for direct loans from IFC,
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The Corporation applies stringent tests of enterprise soundness, project viability, and developmental impact in
determining the eligibility of projects for its investments.

IFC has historically delivered its mission primarily through investments. IFC has increased its effons in
frontier markelts and sustainable development impact. As a result, the demands on the Corporation for associated
advisory work and technical assistance have increased and coniinue 10 grow. In FY04, IFC established a funding
mechanism {or TAAS, funded by designations of IFC’s retained earnings. This funding mechanism finances project
development facilities, private enterprise partnerships and similar facilities focused on small and medium-size
enterprise development and similar initiatives.

Amounts designated for TAAS arc determined based on the Corporation’s annual operating income in excess
of $150 million, contemplating the financial capacity and priorities of the Corporation, and are approved by the
Corporation’s Board of Directors prior 1o the issuance of the annual financial staiements. Expenditures for the
various approved technical assistance and advisory projects are recorded as expenses in the Corporation’s income
statement in the year in which they occur, beginning in FY03, and have the cffect of reducing retained carnings
designated lor this specific purpose. Prior to FY06, IFC’s Board of Directors had approved designations of
$350 million of the Corporation’s retained earnings. On August 7, 2006, [FC's Board of Directors approved a
further designation of $230 million of the Corporation’s retained eamnings. IFC incurred expenditures [or technical
assistance and advisory services of $38 million in FY05 and $55 million in FY06, thereby reducing the amount of
retained earnings designaied for technical assistance and advisory services at June 30, 2006 to $487 million.
Additional information on the funding mecharism for TAAS, can be found in Notes A and K to the Comporation’s
FY06 consolidated financial statements.

In FYQS, IFC began the analysis to create a progrum to fund performance-based grants, targeted at specific
industries in developing countries, paricularly frontier areas. The performance-based grants initiative (“PBGI)
establishes a pool of resources for funding performance-based grants to individual private-sector projects in
developing markets. The PBGI furthers IFC's frontier strategy by opening new opporlunities 1o generate devel-
opmental impact.

The initiative had been discussed by [FC’s Board of Directors during the second half of FYO03 but no decisions
on the principles or modalities of the initiative were made at that time. As a result, IFC designated 3250 million of
retained earnings for the initiative, with further deliberations 1o occur in FY06 on the principles and specifics of the
initiative. On March 30, 2006, IFC’s Board of Directors approved an implementation mechanism {or the initiative
and an initial pilot phase of $65 million. During FY06, IFC provided $35 million to the World Bank’s Global
Pannership on Output Based Aid under the pilot phase; this amount has been recorded as an expense in FY06,
thereby reducing the amouni of retained carnings designated for performance-based grants at June 30, 2006 to
$215 million.

As pant of the efforts of the members of the World Bank Group to increase their cooperation, and in particular
to benefit the poorest countries, IFC and IDA have discussed the possibitity of providing resources for the benefit of
IDA projects in countries which are members of both IFC and [IDA. IFC plans to grant monies to IDA to be applied
to IDA grant projects that encourage the growth of productive private enterprise in countries that are members of
both IFC and IDA, On August 7, 2006, IFC’s Board of Directors approved the designation of $150 mitlion to IDA
for such purposes.

INvESTMENT PROCESS AND PORTFOLIO SUPERVISION

IFC’s investment process can be divided into six main stages: (1) identification and appraisal; (2) Board
approval; (3) document negotiation: (4) commitment; (5) disbursement; and (6) supervision. Prior to May 15, 2006,
the initial four stages were carried out under the responsibility of the Vice President, Operations. Beginning on
May 15, 2006 they were carried out under the responsibility of the Vice President, Industries. During FY 06, the fifth
and sixth stages were overseen by the Vice President, Ponfolio and Risk Management.

The Cormporation carefully supervises its projects 1o monitor project performance and compliance with
contractual obligations and with [FC's internal policies and procedures. IFC's Board of Directors is informed
of such matters and of recommended courses of action at regular intervals.
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INVESTMENT PROGRAM SUMMARY
Commitments

In FY 06, the Corporation entered into new commilments totaling $6.7 billion, compared with $5.4 billion for
FY05. Loan and equity investment commitments pending disbursement at June 30, 2006 were $6.9 hillion
($5.8 billion — June 30, 2005). Guarantees and client risk management facilities committed but not utilized at
June 30, 2006, were 30.8 billion ($0.8 billion — June 30, 2005). FY06 and FY03 commitments comprised the
following:

June 30,
2006 2005

(in millions of
US dollars)

Loans ... ... ... . . .. e e e 54,126  $4,125
BqUity . . e e e 997 528
QUasi-EqQUILY . ... . . 969 500
Guarantees & OLHCT ..o e e e e 611 220
Total investments for IFC’s owﬁ account . ... $6,703  $3,373
B-lOaIS © o e e $1572  $1.07
Disbursements

IFC disbursed $4.4 billion for its own account in FY06 ($3.5 billion — FY05). [FC’s disbursed and
outstanding loan portfolio for its own account, including fair value adjusiments for loans in qualifying hedging
relationships and unamortized net deferred loan origination fees (“disbursed loan portfolio™) grew 8.5% 1o
$10.8 billion at June 30, 2006 ($10.0 billion — June 30, 2005). IFC's equity investment portfolio, net of impairment
write-downs and including adjustments to investments accounted for under the equity method and unrcalized gains
on equity investments held by consolidated VIEs (“disbursed equity portfolio™). grew 12.3% to $2.8 billion at
June 30, 2006 ($2.5 billion — June 30, 2005).

Approvals

In FY06, IFC approved new investments for its own account, including guarantees and client risk management
facilities, totaling $7.1 billion, representing 286 projects, compared with 36.6 billion in FYO0S5, representing
252 projects. In addition, IFC approved loan participations (B-loans) arranged 10 be placed with financial
institutions (Participants) for loans approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors totaling $2.2 billion in
FY06, compared with $1.9 billion in FY0S. FY06 and FY0S approvals comprised the following:

June 30,
2006 2005
(in millions of
US dollars)
1001 $4479 34,679
Bquity .. e e 1,133 571
Quasi-eqUILY . ... ..o e e 881 673
Guarantees & Other ... ..o 600 708
Total investments for IFC’s ownacconnt . ................... §7.093 $6,631
B-loans . ... e e e $2,176  $1,868

Approvals pending commitment for IFC’s own aceount at June 30, 2006, including guarantees and client risk
management facilities, were $3.6 billion ($3.5 billion — June 30, 2005). '
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Disbursed Investment Portfolio

The Corporation’s disbursed investment portfolio is widely diversified by sector and geographic region. The
following tables show the distribution of the porfolio (before adjustiments 1o investments accounted for under the equily
method, unrealized gains on equity investments held by consolidated VIEs, unamonized net deferred loan origination
fees and fair value adjustments for loans in qualifying hedge relationships) as of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005:

Distribution by Sector

June 30,

Finance and iNSUFANCE .. ... . it i e e e e 4%  28%
UtHes . . e g 10
Oil, gas and MIRINE . ... e e 7 8
Transportation and warehOusing .. ......... ... i, 6 6
Industrial anrd consumer products .. .. ... .. Lo 6 6
Nonmetaltic mineral product manufacturing .. ............ .. ......... h] 5
InFOrmation .« .. e e 5 5
Food and beverages . .. . ... ... . e 4 5
Chemicals .. ... . e 4 3
Collective investment vehicles ... ... .. i e 3 4
Agriculture and fOICSIrY ... oL 3 2
Wholesale and retail trade .. ... ... . 3 3
Accommodation and tOUSM SCEVICES . ... ... ..t 2 3
Paperand pulp. . ... o 2 2
Primary metals. . ... .. e e 2 3
Textiles, apparel and leather ... ... . . .. o 1 2
Plastics and rubber . . . ... e 1 1
Construction and real eslate . ... ... i e 1 1
L T 2 3

100%  100%

Distribution by Geographic Region
June 30,

Region 2006 2005
Europe and Central Asia. ... ... . 3% 28%
Latin America and Caribbean ... ... ... . oo ool 31 35
N T 22 22
Sub-Saharan Africa . ... ... ... 7
Middle East and Noth Africa. ......... . ... .. .. . . .. o i oa.. 6 6
Other ... 12

100%  100%

Disbursed B-Loans

The portfolio of disbursed and outstanding B-loans which are serviced by the Corporation at June 30, 2006
totaled $3.9 hillion in 172 transactions, compared with $4.4 hillion in 204 transactions at June 30, 2005.

Additional information on IFC’s loans and equity investments as of and for the years ended June 30, 2006 and
June 30, 2005 can be found in Notes C, D, E, F and G to the Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial statements.
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Investment Products
Loans

Loans account for the major part of the financing provided by IFC, representing 79% of the Corporation's
disbursed investment as of June 30, 2006, compared with 80% at Junc 30, 2005.

Loans will gencrally have the following characteristics:

Term: typically amortizing, with final maturilies of up 10 12 years

Currency: primarily in major convertible currencies, principally US dollar, and to a lesser extent, Euro,
Swiss lranc, and Japanese yen

Interest rate:  fixed or variable

Pricing: reflects such laclors as market conditions and country and project risks: variable rate loans are
generalty tied to the 6-month LIBOR index in the relevant currency,

IEC offers local currency loan products to centain clients, provided that the Corporation is able to hedge its
local currency exposure through mechanisms such as cross-currency swaps or forward contracts. Fixed-rate loans
and loans in currencies other than US dollars are normally transformed, using currency and/or interest rale swaps,
into US dollar variable rate loans.

On June 30, 2006, IFC’s disbursed loan portfolio was $10.8 billion ($10.0 billion — June 30, 2005). At June 30,
2006, 76% (81% — June 30, 2003) of the Corporation’s disbursed loan portfolio, excluding fair valuc adjustments
for loans in qualifying hedging relationships and unamortized net deferred loan origination fees, was US dollar-
denominated.

The currency composition of the disbursed loan portfolio, excluding fair value adjusiments for loans in
qualifying hedging relationships and unamortized net deferred loan crigination fees, at June 30, 2006 and June 30,
2005 was as follows:

June 30,
2006 2005
(in millions of
US dollars)
USdollars . .. ... e ¥ 3300 38074
BUTO . e e 1,498 1,193
Other curmencies. . . ... o it i e e e e 1,059 695
Total . .. ... $10,857 §9,962

Equiry

Equity investments accounted for 21% of the Corporation’s disbursed invesiment porifolic at June 30, 2006,
compared with 20% at June 30, 2005. IFC’s equity investments are typically in the form of common or preferred
stock and are usuatly denominated in the currency of the country in which the invesiment is made.

Quasi-equity

In addition to traditional equity investments, the Corporation provides financing through a variety of quasi-
equity instruments, which constitute a growing portion of its investment portfolio. Quasi-equities include subor-
dinated or convertible loans. asset-backed securities, mortgage-backed sccurities, and certain common or preferred
shares with put and/or call features, Depending upon their characteristics, quasi-equities may be classified as either
loans or equity investments in the Corporation’s balance sheet. At June 30, 2006, the Corporation’s disbursed
quasi-equity portfolio, before fair value adjustments on loans in qualifying hedging relationships, adjusiments to
investments accounted for under the equity method, unrealized gains on equity investments held by consolidated
VIEs, and unamortized net deferred loan origination fees, totaled $1.935 million (31,768 million — June 30, 2005),
of which $1,808 million was classificd as loans (31,638 million — June 30, 2005) and $127 million was classified
as equity investments ($130 million — June 30, 2005} in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Loan participations {B-loans)

IFC finances only a portion, usually not more than 25%, of the cost of any project. All [FC-financed projects.
therefore. require other financial pariners. The principal direct means by which the Corporation mobilizes such
private scctor finance is through the sale of participations in its loans, known as the B-loan program. Through the
B-loan program. IFC has worked primarily with commercial banks but also with nenbank financial institutions in
financing projects singe the early 1960°s. Over 150 commercial banks and nonbank financial institutions currently
participate in IFC’s B-loan program.

Whenever it participates a loan, [FC will always make a loan for its own account (an A-loan), thereby sharing the
nisk alongside its loan participants. IFC acts as the lender of record and is responsible for the administration of the entire
loan, including the B-loan. [FC charges fees to the borrower at prevailing market rates to cover the cost of the syndication
of the B-loan. Since it began its loan syndication program, IFC has placed panicipations totaling $26 billion.

Client risk management products

IFC provides clients with access to asset and liability managernent tools such as currency swaps and interest
rate swaps, caps and floors by acting as an intermediary between clients and market counterparties. IFC also
provides risk-sharing structures and guarantees that allow its clients to transact directly with market counterparties.

Guarantees and partial credit guarantees

The Corporation offers partial credit guarantees to clients covering, on a risk-sharing basis, client obligations
on hends and/or loans, The Corporation’s guarantee is available for debt instruments and trade obligations of clients
and covers commetrcial as well as noncommercial risks. [FC will provide local currency guarantees, but when a
guarantee is called, the client will generally be obligated {o reimburse the Corporation in US dollar terms.
Guarantce fees are consistent with IFC’s loan pricing policies. During FY06, the Corporation signed $0.6 billion of
guarantees, $0.2 billion in FYO0S.

Advisory activities

The Corporation, on its own or through a department jointly managed with the World Bank, provides threc
general lypes of advisory services 1o member countries and individual enterprises:

(1) Special advisory services on project structuring and financial packaging.
(2) Financial advisory services provided to member governments or to private sector clients.

(3) Policy udvice to governments on capital markets development and private sector development, including
privatization and [orcign investment.

The Corporation also assists governments with developing the legal frameworks for privatizing their state-
owned sectors, and selling individual enterprises. Fees are charged for advisory services consistent with market
rates charged for comparable services, IFC recorded such fees amounting to $52 million for FY06 {($41 million —
FY05 and $41 million — FY04).

Technical assistance and advisory services

TAAS involve the provision of advice and capacity building support and services to entities cxternal o the
Corporation. TAAS are key to IFC's development mission and now form a core ling of business that is pan of [FC's
“branding.” IFC’s TAAS are central 1o [FC’s mission of improving the private sector in its member countries. IFC's
TAAS operations are often the focal point of IFC’s engagement in many member countries where investment
opportunities are nascent. Currently IFC implements TAAS operations in more than 100 countries. Beginning in
FY035, the Comporation established a funding mechanism for TAAS, funded by designations of IFC's retained
carnings, in order to address its increased efforts in TAAS. IFC delivers TAAS through mechanisms such as Project
Development Facilities and Private Enterprise Partnerships. In FY06, expenditures for TAAS totaled $35 million
($38 million — FYO035 and $29 million —FY04), In FY06, such initiatives included:

(1) The Private Enterprise Partnership. which provides focused technical assistance, with the goal of helping
build successful private businesses in the former Soviet Union region.
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(2) The Private Enterprise Partnership for Africa, which enhances support to Small and Medium-Size
Enterprises {“SMEs”) through project development and engaging in improving the investment climate.

(3) The Private Enterprisc Partnership for the Middle East and North Africa (“MENA"), which provides
technical assistance to support private sector development to all countries in the MENA region.

(4) The Latin America SME Facility, which promotes private sector growth through SMEs in selected
countries in Latin America with the aim of fostering job creation and reducing poverty in the host
countries.

(5) The Grassrools Business Initiative, which strengthens and expands support to grassroots business
organizations.

TREASURY SERVICES

LiQuim ASSETS

IFC invests its liquidity in highly rated fixed and floating rate instruments issued by, or unconditionally
guaranteed by, governments, government agencies and instrumentalities, multilateral organizations, and
AAA rated corporate issuers, including mortgage- and asset-backed securities, lime deposits and other uncondi-
tional obligations of banks and financial institutions.

The Corporation manages the market risk associsted with these investments through a variety of hedging
techniques including derivatives, principally currency and interest rate swaps and financial futures.

IFC’s liquid assets are invested in five separate portfolios.

MARKET
PORTFOLIO VALUE* COMPRISING MANAGED BY INVESTED IN BENCHMARK
PO $1.2bn ($1.0bn) Funds awaiting [FC’s Treasury Short-term deposits US overnight Fed
disbursement or Department funds
reinvestment
Pl $5.2bn ($6.7bn) Proceeds from [FC’s Treasury Principally global Since January 2001,
markel borrowings Department government bonds, adjusted 3-month
invesied pending asset-backed US dollar LIBID **.
disbursement of sceuritics, and other Prior to January
operational loans AAA-rated corporate 2001, 6-month US
bonds generally dollar LIBOR
swapped into
G-month US dollar
LIBOR
P2 $4.9br ($4.1bn) Primarily the [FC’s Treasury US Treasuries and Lehman Brothers
Corporation’s paid-in ~ Department other sovercign and Intcrmediate US
capital and agency issues Treasury Index***
accumidated
camings that have
not been invested in
equity and quasi-
equity investments or
fixed-rate loans
P3 $1.0bn ($1.1bn) Proceeds from Iixlernal managers Global government Same as for P1
market borrowings appointed by IFC bonds and montgage-
backed securities
P4 $0.4bn ($0.4bn) An outsourced External managers US Treasuries and Same as for P2
portion of the P2 appointed by IFC other sovereign and
portfolio agency issues
Total $12.7bn ($13.3bn)

* at June 30, 2006 (June 30, 2005)

** adjusted 3 month US dollar LIBID=US dollar LIBOR-12.5 husis points. The net duration of the P1 and P3 benchmarks is

approximately 0.25 years

*=** duration of P2 portfolic plus fixed-raie loans.
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The P3 portfolio is not permitted 10 exceed 12% of the total value of liquid assels al any lime.

All portfolios are accounied for as trading portfolios.

The Corporation has a flexible approach 10 managing the liquid assets portfolios by making investmenis on an
aggregate portfolio basis against its benchmark within specified risk parameters. In implementing these portfolio
munagement strategies, the Corporation utilizes derivative instruments, including futures, and options, and takes
long or short positions in securitics.

All liquid assets are managed according to an investment authority approved by IFC’s Board of Directors and

investment guidelines approved by {FC's Finance and Risk Committee, a subcommittee of the Comoration’s
Management Group.

CAPITALIZATION

IFC’s capitalization as of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 is as follows:

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
(in millions of US dollars)

Borrowings
Borrowings from market sources .. ..... ... ... ... $14,887 $15,304
Borrowings from the World Bank. . ... 0 0L 80 55
Capital and retained earnings
Paid-imcapital . ........ ... ... ... i 2,364 2,364
Retained earmings . ......... ... .. .. 8,711 7.433
Other. ...... ... e e 1 1
Total capitalization . ... ..... ... ... .. .............. $26,043 $25,157

During the period July 1, 2006 through October 27, 2006. IFC has undertaken 22 borrowings from market
sources (3770 million in the aggregate). The borrowings underaken during this period were comprised of seven
Japanese Yen issues amounting to $51 million, five United States Dollar issues amounting 10 $90 million, one Euro
issue amounting to $31 million, one Australian Dollar issue amounting to $120 million, one Hong Kong Dollar
issue amounting to $96 million, one Mexican Peso issue amounling to $18 million, five South African Rand issues
amounting Lo a $331 million, and one New Turkish Lira issue amounting to $33 million.

Borrowings

The major source of IFC’s borrowings is the international capital markets. Under the Articles of Agreement,
the Corporation may borrow in the public markets of a member country only with approvals [rom that member and
also the member in whose currency the borrowing is denominated. The Corperation borrowed $1.8 billion during
FY06 ($2.0 billion — FY(5 and $3.0 billion — FY04). In addition, IFC's Board of Directors has authorized the
repurchase and redemption of and tender for debt obligations issued by the Corporation. During FY06, the
Corporation repurchased and retired $209 million of ouistanding debt ($133 million — FY(05).

IFC diversifies its borrowings by currency, country, source, and maturity to provide flexibility and cost-
effectiveness, Qutstanding market borrowings have remaining maturities ranging from less than one year 1o almost
30 years, with a weighted average remaining maturity of 10.7 years at June 30, 2006 (11.6 years — June 30, 2005).

Market borrowings are generally swapped into floating-rate obligations denominated in US dollars. As of
June 30, 2006, the Corporation had gross payables from borrowing-related currency swaps of $8.3 billion
($9.4 hillion — June 30, 2005) and from borrowing-related interest rate swaps in the notional principal amount
of $6.7 hillion ($6.7 billion — June 30, 2005). Afler the effect of these derivative instruments is taken into
consideration, substantially all of the Corporation's market borrowings at June 30, 2006, and all of the
Corporation’s market borrowings al June 30. 2005 were US doltar-denominated.
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The weighted average cost of market borrowings after currency and imerest rate swap transactions was 4.9% at
June 30, 2006 (3.3% — June 30, 2005).

Capital and Retained Earnings

As of June 30, 2006, IFC’s net worth (presented as Total Capital in the Corporation’s consolidated balance
sheet) amounted to $11.1 billion, up from the Junc 30, 2005 level of $9.8 billion. At June 30, 2006, net worth
comprised $2.4 billion of paid-in capital, unchanged from June 30, 2003, and $8.7 billion of retained earnings
{$7.4 billion a1 June 30, 2005).

As of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005, IFC’s authorized capital was $2.45 billion, of which $2.36 billion was
subscribed at June 30, 2006, unchanged from June 30, 2005. Over 99% of this was paid in ($2.36 billion — June 30,
2006 and June 30, 2005). The Corporation has agreed to defer the payment dates for certain member countries.
Pursuant to these arrangements, $1 million of subscribed shares remained unpaid at June 30, 2006, unchanged from
June 30, 2005.

At June 30, 2006, retained carnings comprised $7.8 billion of undesignated retained earnings ($6.9 billion —
June 30, 2005), $0.5 billion of retaired earnings for TAAS ($0.3 billion — June 30, 2005), $0.2 billion of retained
earnings designated for PBG (30.3 billion — June 30, 2005), and $0.2 billion of retained eamings designated for
grants to IDA (30 -— June 30, 2005).

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT

In executing its sustainable private sector development business, IFC assumes various kinds of risks. The
Cormporation’s management has defined a comprehensive enterprise risk management framework, within which it
recognizes four main risk groupings: strategic risk, credit risk, financial risk, and operational risk.

Active management of these risks is a key determinant of the Corporation’s success and ils ahilily to maintain a
stable capital and earnings base, and s an essential part of its operations. As part of its enterprise risk management
framework, the Comporation has adopted several key [inancial and exposure policies and a number of prudential
policies,

FY06 Enterprise Risk Highlights

The recently created Project Risk Management fonction (organized as part of [FC’s Financial Operations
Department) has developed and implemented detailed operational risk management controls and procedures and
has implemented these across our most important induwstry groups. These updated procedures will be implemented
in FYO7 for all new projects. Also in FY07, this group will establish appropriate staff in the regional centers, thus
significantly improving the management of investment project administration and compliance monitoring within
the regions.

The Corporation initiated policy reviews in twa areas: first, of its financial policies, to confirm that these are in
line with new business imperatives and best practices in risk management; second, of its Safeguard Policies, Policy
on Disclosure of Information, and Environmental, Health & Safety (EHS) Guidelines, involving a comprehensive
update of its policies and guidelines, subsequent to siakeholder consultation and expert guidance.

The Corporation is committed to ensuring that it has timely, effective and efficient risk management controls at
each step of its investment process, and in FY06, made the commitment to increase risk management staffing and to
place key credit risk managers in the regional hubs to improve the timeliness and quality of the risk decision
process. The sophistication of the risk process at IFC necessitates reviews of economic and social risks, corporate
governance standards for clients, and reputation risk reviews in addition to the more traditional credil quality and
operational concerns. The Carporation believes that this move to put key decision risk makers in the regions wili
significantly improve the quality of its enterprise risk management, and will implement this strategy in the first
quarter of FYO7.
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SrraTrEGIC RISK

IFC defines strategic risk as the potential reputational, (inancial and other consequences of a failure to achieve
ity strategic mission and, in particular, its sustainable development mandate.

The overall management of strategic risk is effected through the definition and implementation of an annual
strategy for meeting the Corporation’s mission and guidelines for its investment operations and advisory services.
The strategy is developed with Senior Management by the Operational Strategy Group, and is approved by the
Board of Directors. The Independent Evaluation Group {formerly the Operations Evaluation Group) conducts
ex post evaluations of the implementation of the Corporation’s investment strategy on an ongoeing basis.

The Corporation’s commitment to quality enterprise risk management, particularly on the environment and
social front, continues Lo gain acceptance with IFC’s strategic partners as the “Equator Principles” announced in
FY03 have now become an established standard for financial institutions engaged in finance in the emerging
markets. Responsibility for managing these economic and social risk principles both internally and in liaison with
other financial institutions rests with the Environment and Social Development Department. In addition. the
Corporation is focused on ensuring the evolving principles of corporate governance are sccepted and practiced by
its clients, and great emphasis is placed on developing these standards as pan of [FC's development activities.
Responsibility for managing corporate governance both internally and within projects rests with the Corporate
Governance Depariment. More broadly, the responsibility for the management of the fundamental reputational risk
associated with the sclection of project sponsors and the review of aspects relating to integrity rests with the
operational depariments, in which they are supponed by the Business Risk Department.

The key guiding principles and policies established as part of the framework for controlling strategic risk are as
follows:

Guiding Principles for IFC’s Operations

Catalytic role:  1FC will seek above all to be a catalyst in facilitating productive investments in the private
sector of its developing member countries. it does so by maobilizing financing from both foreign and domestic
investors from the private and public sectors.

Business partership:  IFC functions like a business in partnership with the private sector. Thus, IFC takes the
same commercial risks as do private institutions, investing its funds under the discipline of the marketplace.

Additionality:  TFC participates in an investment only when il can make a special contribution not offered or
brought 1o the deul by other investors.

Environmental and Social Policies

The Corporation has developed a comprehensive set of Guidelines and Safeguard Policies to promote
environmentally and socially responsible private sector investments. Project sponsors are given the Safeguard
Policies for environmental and social issues to review pror 1o conducting their asscssments, as well as the
environmental, health, and safety guidelines specific to the particular industry, sector, and type of project.

When making investments, 1FC applies its standards to the project and its performance is monitored against
those standards. Projects are expected 1o comply with the applicable policies and guidelines, as well as applicable
local, national, and international laws.

FY06 Strategic Risk Highlights

IFC’s Environmental and Social Policies have become widely recognized as best practice when twelve
imternational commercial banks adopted them in the form of the Equator Principles. To date, more than 30 leading
imernational financial institutions have adopted these principles. During FYO06, the Business Risk Depanment has
started developing tools 1o help the Corporation’s operational depariments analyze broader reputation risks.
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Creprr Risk

IFC defines credit risk as the potential reduction in value of on- and off- balance sheet asscis due to a
deteriorating credit profile of its clients, the countries in which it invests, or a financial counterpany. Credit risk is
incurred in iwo areas of the Corporation’s operations: (1) in its investment operations, where [FC provides loans,
equity investments, guarantees and derivatives for clients in its developing member countries, and (ii) in its treasury
operations, where credit risk is incurred with counterparties in its liquid assct investment, borrowing and asset-
hability management activitics. As part of its mandate, IFC is prohibited from accepting host government
guarantees of repayment on its investments and, thercfore, incurs commercial and sovereign risk on its investments.

The Corporation’s Risk Management and Financial Policy Department has oversight responsibility for overall
credit risk management and, in addition, monitors and controls credit risk arising in IFC’s treasury activities. With
respect (0 IFC’s credit risk exposures 1o clients in developing countries, the Credit Review Department plays a key
role. At origination of new investments, the Credit Review Depariment analyzes information obtained from the
investment departments and provides an independent review of the credit risk of the transaction. After commitment,
the quality of IFC’s loan and equity investment portfolio is monitored according to supervision principles and
procedures defined in the Operational Policies and Procedures. Responsibility for the day-to-day monitoring and
management of credit risk in the pontfolio rests with the portfolio management units of individual investment
departments. Their assessments are subject to quarterly review, on a sample basis, by the Loss Provisioning Division
of the Controller’s and Budgeting Depantment and by the Credit Review Department.

The Corporation’s investment portfolio is subject Lo a number of operational and prudential limits, including
limitations on single project/client cxposure, single country exposure, and segmeant concentration, Similarly, credit
policies and guidelines have been formulated covering treasury operations; these are subject to annual revision by
the Risk Management and Financial Policy Department, and approval by the Finance and Risk Committee.
Specifically, IFC has adopted the following key exposure policies:

Investment Operationst

(1) IFC does not normally finance for its owna account more than 25% of a project’s cost.

(2) An equity investment in a company does not normally represent more than 35% of the company’s
iotal share capital, provided further that IFC is not the single largest shareholder. Until [FC resumes
presentation of its financial stalements in accordance with IFRS, IFC’s equity investment in a
company will not normally represent more than 20% of the company’s total share capital.

(3) Investment in a single obligor may not exceed 4% of [FC’s net wanth plus general reserves on loans.

(4) Bquity plus quasi-equity investments in a single obligor may not exceed 3% of the Corporation’s net
worth plus gencral reserves on loans, and straight equity investments may not exceed 1.5%.

Portfolic Management}

(1) Review trigger levels of between 2.5% and 10% of net worth plus general reserves on loans are set for
each country’s outstanding portfolio, net of specific reserves on loans, based on the size of its
economy and its risk rating.

(2) IEC lender of record disbursed exposure in a country may not exceed 10% for Heavily Indebted Poor

Countries and 5% for all other countries. Exceptions for countries with low levels of external debt
may be set by the Finance and Risk Committee. Lower trigger levels are set for certain countries.

(3) The Corporation’s total exposure 10 a single risk sector may not exceed 12% of net worth plus general
reserves on loans. Lower review trigger levels are set for single sectors, and individually for the
finance and insurance sector, based on IFC’s net worth plus general reserves on loans and the country
exposure level.

(4) TFC's held guarantees that are subrogated in local currency are limited to $200 million.

T Al exposures are net of specific reserves
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Treasury Operations

(1) Counterparties are subject 10 conservative eligibility criteria, currently restricled to banks and
financial institutions with a minimum credit rating of A by leading international credit rating
agencies.

(2) Exposures to individual counterparties are subject to diversification caps. For derivatives, exposure is
mieasured in terms of “worst case” potential exposure based on simulations of market variables.
Institution-specific limits are updated monthly based on changes in counterpanty size or credit status.

(3) To limit exposure, IFC signs collateral agreements with counterparties that require the posting of
collateral when net exposure exceeds certain predetermined thresholds, which decrease as a
counterparty’s credit rating deteriorates.

{(4) Because counterpantics can be downgraded during the life of a transaction, the agreements pravide an
optien for IFC 10 terminate all swaps if the counlerparty is downgraded below investment grade or if
other early termination events occur that are standard in the market.

(5) Limits are also imposed con the volume of over-the-counter derivative transactions with individual
counterpartics.

(6) Eor cxchange-traded instruments, 1IFC limits credit risk by restricting transactions 10 a list of
authorized exchanges, contracts and dealers, and by placing limits on the Corporation’s open interest
rate position in each contract.

FY06 Credit Risk Highlights

1FC does not recognize income on loans where collectibility is in doubt or payments of interest or principal are
past due more than 60 days unless management anticipates that ¢ollection of interest is expecied in the near future,

The amount of nonaccruing loans as a percentage of the disbursed loan porfolio, excluding fair value
adjustments for loans in qualifying hedging relationships and unamortized net deferred loan origination fees, a key
indicator of portfolio performance, decreased to 4.1% at June 30, 2006 (6.4% — June 30, 2005). The principal
amount outstanding on nonaccrual loans totaled $447 million at fune 30, 2006, a decrease of $187 million (29%)
from the June 30, 2005 level of $634 million.

The guality of IFC’s loan and cquity investment porifolio, as measured by the aggregate risk level, improved
further during F Y06, continuing the trends noted during FY05 and FY04. As a result, total reserves against losses on
loans at June 30, 2006, decreased to $898 million ($989 million — June 30, 2005). This is equivalent to 8.3% of the
disbursed loan portfolio, excluding fair value adjustmenis for loans in qualifying hedging relationships and
unamortized net deferred loan origination fees, significantly below the level of 19.9% at June 30, 2005.

IFC operates under the assumption that the guarantee portfulio is exposed to the same idiosyncratic and
systematic risks as IFC’s loan portfolio and the inherent, probable losses in the guarantec porntfolio need 10 be
covered by an allowance for loss. The allowance al June 30, 2006, was $18 million ($13 million — June 30, 2005),
hased on the year-end portfolio, and is included in payables and other liabilities on the Corporation’s consolidated
balance sheet. The increase in allowance for the year, 35 million for FY06 ($3 million reduction — FY05), is
included in the provision for losses on loans and guarantees in the consolidated income statement

The Corporation has not suffercd credit tosses on its exposures 1o derivatives counterparties in its treasury
operations.
FiNancial Risk

IFC defines financial nisk in three components: (a) the potential inahility to realize asset values in its porifolio
sufficient to meet obligations to disbumce funds as they arise (“liquidity risk™); (b) the potential inability 10 access
funding at reasonable cost (*funding risk™); and (c) a deterioration in values of financial instruments or positions
duc to changes in market interest and exchange rates and the volatility thereof (“market risk™).
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Key Financial Policies

IFC currently operates under a number of key financial policies as detailed below, which have been approved
by its Board of Direciors:

(1) Disbursed equity plus quasi-equity investments (net of impairment write-downs) may not exceed
100% of net worth and disbursed equity (net of write-downs) may not exceed 50% of net worth,

(2) Minimum liquidity (liquid assets plus urdrawn borrowing commitments from the World Bank) must
be sufficient at all times to cover at least 65% of IFC’s estimated net cash requirements for the next
three years.

(3) The currency, raic basis, and maturity of loan assets must be closely matched to borrowings; trigger
levels at which foreign exchange and interest rate exposures are hedged are defined.

(4) Capital (paid-in captial plus retained earnings plus general loan loss reserves) must equal at least
30% of risk-weighted assets.

In addition, under IFC's Anicles of Agreement, as long as IFC has outstanding borrowings from the
World Bank, IFC's leverage, as measured by Lhe ratio of IFC’s debt (borrowings plus outstanding guarantees)
to IFC’s equity (subscribed capital plus retained earnings), may not exceed 4.0 1o L.

Liguintty RisK

Within the key financial policies described above, in practice the Corporation maintains, ax a prudential
measure, an operating liquidity target of not less than 70% of three years™ net cash requirements, including projected
disbursement and debt service requirements.

The primary instruments for maintaining sufficient liquidity are the Corporation’s liquid asset portfolios. As
noted above, IFC distinguishes five such portfolios:

(1 Pd, which is generally invested in short-dated deposits, money market funds, and tri-party repos,
reflecting its use for short-term funding requirements.

(2) P1, which is gencrally invested in (a) forcign sovereign, sovereign-guaranteed and supra-national
fixed income instruments (rated AA— or better); (b} US Treasury or agency instruments; (c) asset-
backed securities rated AAA by at leasl two rating agencies and/or other AAA rated notes issued by
Corporations; (d) interest rate futures and swaps to manage currency risk in the portfolio, as well as its
duration relative to benchmark; and (¢) cash deposits.

(3) P2, which is generally invested in US Treasuries and other sovereign and agency issues.

(4) P3, which comprises a global fixed income portfolio and a mortgage-backed securities porifolio
(managed by external managers).

(5) P4, which is an outsourced portion of the P2 portfolio (managed by external managers).

FY06 Liquidity Risk Highlights

At June 30, 2006, the Corporation’s liquidity level stood at $12.7 hillion, or 112% of its projected net cash
requircments for three years ($13.3 billion, and 142% — June 30, 2005).

Funping Risk

The Corporation’s primary cbjective with respect to managing funding risk is, through the adoption of the key
financial policies described above, (o maintain its AAA credit rating and, thereby, maintain access to funding, as
needed, at the lowest possible cost. Access 10 funding is maximized, and cost is minimized, by issuing debt
securitics in various capital markets in a variety of curreacies, sometimes using complex structures, These structures
include borrowings payable in multiple currencies, or borrowings with principal and/or interest determined by
reference to a specified index such as a stock market index. a reference interest rate, a commaodily index, or one or
more foreign exchange rates.
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FY06 Funding Risk Highlights
During FY06, the Corporation raised $1.8 billion ($2.0 billion — FY05) of funding at sub-LIBOR rates,

MAaRKET RIsK

The Corporation's exposure to market risk is minimized by udopting the matched funding policy noted above
and by using a variety of derivative instruments to convert assels and liabilities into 6-month floating rate US dollar
assets and labilities,

Investment Operations

Implementation of the matched funding policy is a two-step process: funds are earmarked at Board approval
stage and matched, with respect to interest rate and currency, at disbursement. Interest rate and currency exchange
nisk associated with fixed rate and/or non-US dollar lending is hedged via currency and interest rate swaps that
convert cash flows into variable rate US dollar flows.

Exposures 10 market risk resulting from derivative transactions with clients, which are intended 10 facilitate
cliems’ risk management, are minimized by cntering into offsetting positions with highly rated market
counterparies.

Liquid Asset Portfolios

Consistent with the matched funding policy. the P, P1 and P3 portiolios are strictly managed 10 variable rate
US doliar benchmarks, on a portfolio basis. To this end, a variety of derivative instruments are used, including short-
term. over-the-counter foreign exchange forwards (covered forwards), interest rate and currency swaps, and
exchange-traded interest rate futures and options. The Corporation also takes both long and short positions in
securities in the management of these ponfolios to their respective benchmarks.

The primary source of market risk in the liquid asset portfolios is the P2 and P4 portfolios, which, in contrast,
are managed 10 a three-year duration US dollar benchmark, with additional flexibility to deviate from the

benchmark. P2 represents the portion of [FC’s capital not disbursed as equily invesiments, and the benchmark
reflects the chosen risk profile for this uninvested capital. P4 represents an outsourced portion of the P2 portfolio.

Borrowing Activities

Market risk associated with {ixed rate obligations and structured instruments entered into as part of the
Cotporation’s funding program is generally mitigated by using derivative instruments to convert them into variable
ratc US dollar obligations, consistent with the maiched funding policy.

Asset-Liability Management

While IFC's matched-funding policy provides a significant level of protection against currency and interest
rate risk, the Corporation can be exposed 1o residual market risk in its overall asset and liability management. This
residual market risk is monitored by the Asset-Liability Management group within the Treasury Depanment.

Residual currency risk arises from events such as changes in the level of non-US dollar loan loss reserves. This
risk is managed by monitoring the aggregate position in each lending currency and hedging the exposure when the
net asset or liability position exceeds $5 million equivalent, through spot sales or purchases.

Residual interesi rate risk may arisc (rom [wo sources:

(1) Assets that are fully match-funded a1 inception, which can become mismatched over time due lo write
downs, prepayments, or rescheduling; and

(2) Differing interest rate reset dates on assets and liabilities.

This residual risk is managed by: first, synchronizing interest rate reset dates on asscls and liabilities at a
portfolio level; and second, measuring the sensitivity of the present value of assets and liabilities in each currency to
cach basis poinl change in interest rates, with an action trigger of $50.000 on this measure.

17




FY06 Market Risk Highlights

Total liquid asset returns (comprising interest, realized and unrealized gains and losses, and translation
adjusiments) were $444 million in FY06 ($358 million ~- FY05 and $177 million — FY04), of which $378 million
was attributable to the PO, P1 and P3 portiolios ($212 million — FYQS5 and $156 million — FY(04), and $66 million
was attributable to the P2 and P4 portfolios ($146 million — FY05 and $21 million — FY(04). Currency translation
gains on non-trading activities for FY06 were $6 million (37 million loss — FY0S5 and $4 million gain — FY(4),

OreraTIONAL RISK

IFC defines operational risk as the potential for loss resulting from events involving people, systems and
processes, These include both internal and external events, whether caused by a lack of controls, documentation, or
conlingency planning, or by breakdowns in information systems, communications, physical safeguards, business
continuity, supervision, transaction processing, or in the execution of tegal, fiduciary. and agency responsibilities.
As such, operational risk covers the risks emanating from the manner in which an entity is operated as opposed to
the way it is financed.

Consistent with the Basel IT Capital Adequacy guidelines, [FC is developing a matrix framework to analyze
operalional risk by identilying, for each area (people, systems and processes), which risks IFC will: (i) manage
internally, as part of its ongoing business; (ii} alleviate through contingency planning; or (iii) insure cxternally,
whether by subcontracting, outsourcing or hedging. including insurance.

Responsibility for the development of the framework for managing and monitoring operational risk now rests
with the Business Risk Department, and for contingency planning for recovery from emergencies with the
Controller’s Department. In respect of insurable operational rsk, IFC’s Insurance Services Group performs
insurance reviews to identify the risks and assess the adequacy of existing insurance policies and limits.

IFC secks to mitigate the risks it manages intermally by maintaining a comprehensive system of internal
controls that is designed not only to identily the pararmneters of various risks but also to monitor and coatrol those
areas of particular concern. Key components of this effort are:

(1) The Corporation has adopted the COSO' control framework and a control self-assessment meth-
odology to evaluate the effectiveness of its internal controls in people, systems and processes, and it
has an ongoing program in place to cover all significant business operations. In addition, the COBIT?
methodology is used to supplement the COSO review of the information technology function. The
program includes compliance testing of key internal controls assuring the reliability of external
financial reporting and has been applied to Donor Funded Operations as well.

(2) The Imernal Audit Department of the World Bank Group performs ongoing independent review of
the effectiveness of IFC’s internal controls in selected key areas and functions.

(3) To promote data integrity, the Corporation has formulated a Data Management Policy. The policy is
enforced by the Information Quality Group within the Controller’s Department and through a
network of Departmental Data Stewards.

{4) The Corporation has a New Products/Initiatives Assessment Group, with representation from key
business and support functions, (0 ensure that processes and controls are in place 1o manage the risks
in new products and initiatives before they are executed.

' COSO refers to the Internal Control — Integrated Framework formulated by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, which was convened by the US Congress in response to the well-
publicized irregularities that occurred in the financial sector in the United States during the late 1980s.

COBIT refers to Control Objectives for Information and Related Technology., first released in 1996, updated to
the 3rd edition released in July 2000, sponsored by the Information Systems Audit and Contro! Association
{ISACA).
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FY06 Operational Risk Highlights

IFC continues to focus on its preparedness to react Lo an emergency siluation that disrupts its normal
operations. During FY06, the Corporation has;

(1) Added applications and capabilities to back-up facilities available for its key strategic [inancial and
support systemns and continued exiensive testing thereof.

(2) As part of the I[FC's avian flu contingency plans, reinforced and extended home computing
arrangements {or essential staff in all departments.

(3) Extended the Emergency Management Team (EMT) concept 10 IBRD. The combined World Bank
Group EMT conducied simulation exercises to test the adequacy of the avian flu contingency plan,
and reinforced the roles and responsibilities of the EMT. The Corporation plans to extend the EMT
structure to all regions during FY(7.

The Corporation is continuing a multi-year effonl to analyze and develop enhanced methodologies for
measuring, monitoring and managing operational risk in its key activities. During FY06, IFC has:

(1) Continued a process-mapping exercise 10 identify potential areas of exposure 1o operational riskin its
investment and advisory services processes and to provide a basis for quantifying potential risks: and

(2) Developed a beginning framework for IFC’s stralegic and operational risk functions within the newly
established Business Risk Department; and

{3) Mapped out IFC's current risk management lunctions in order 1o further align these functions with the
more regionalized business operations of 1FC.

In FY06, IFC continued with its voluntary practice of conducting an annual assessment of its internal control
over external financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over external financial reporting
described in COSO. Based upon this assessment, Management believes that IFC maintained effective internal
control over external financial reporting presented in conformity with US GAAP, as of June 30, 2006. In light of
recent developments concerning changes in auditing standards by which the Corporation’s external auditors have
historically provided an attestation to Management’s assertion, Management did not scek an attestation report from
the Corpotation's external auditors for FYO06.

Munagement has carried out an evaluation of internal controls over external financial reporting for the
purposes of determining if there were any changes made in internal controls during the year ended June 30, 2006,
that had materially affecied. or would be reasonably likely to materially affect, IFC's internal control over external
financial reporting. As of June 30, 2006, no such significant changes occurred.

Internal controls and procedures are those processes which are designed to ensure that information required 1o
he disclosed is sccumulated and communicated to managemenl, us appropriate 1o allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure by IFC. Management believes that these controls and procedures were effective as of June 30,
2006.



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Notes to the Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial statements contain a summary of the Corpo-
ration’s significant accounting policies, including a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements.
Certain of these pelicies are considered to be “critical” to the portrayal of the Corporation’s financial condition,
since they require management to make difficult, complex or subjective judgments, some of which may relate to
matters that are inherently uncertain. These policies include: (i) determining the level of the allowance for losses in
the loan portfolio; (ii) determining the level of impairment of equity investments; and (iii) determining the valuation
of certain financial instruments with no quoted market prices. Additional information about these policies can be
found in Notes A, C, O and P to the FY06 consolidated financial statements.

RESERVE AGAINST Losses oN Loans

The Corporation considers a loan as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that
the Corporation will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the locan’s contractual terms. The reserve
against losses for impaired loans reflecis Management’s judgment of the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s cffective interest rate. The reserve against losses {or loans includes an cstimate of probable
losses on loans inherent in the portfolic but not specifically identifiable. The reserve is established through periodic
charges to income in the form of a provision for losses on loans. Loans written off, as well as any subsequent
recoveries, are recorded through the reserve.

The assessment of the adequacy of tolal reserves against losses for loans is highly dependent on management's
judgment about factors such as geographical concentration, industry, regional and macroeconomic conditions, and
historical trends. Due to the inherent limitation of any particular estimation technique, management utilizes three
different and independent methods to provide estimates for the total loan loss reserve balance: (1) a simulation
model, (2} country risk ratings and probability of crisis associated with those risks, and (3) a model of the
Corporation’s long-term historical loan portfolio experience. Changes in these estimates could have a direct impact
on the provision and could result in a change in the reserve balance.

The reserve against losses on loans is separately reported in the consolidated balance sheet as a reduction of the
Corporation’s total loans. Increases or decreases in the reserve level are reporied in the income slatement as
provision for losses or release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees. The reserve against losses on loans
relaies only to the Client Services segment of the Corporation (see Note R 10 the FY06 consolidated financial
statements for further discussion of the Corporation’s business segments).

Equrry IMPAIRMENT

The Corporation assesses all equity investments for impairment each quarier. When an impairment is
identificd and is deemed to be other than temporary, the equily investmert is written down to its impaired value,
which becomes the new cost basis in the cquity investment. The Corporation has elected 10 assume that all
impairments shall be deemed to be other than temporary. Impairment losses are not reversed for subsequent
recoveries in value of the equity investment until it is sold.

Priorto March 31, 2003, the Corporation had carried rescrves against losses on the equity investment portfolio.
During the year ended June 30, 2005, the Corporation changed its process of estimating tmpairment on equity
investments to adopt an impairment methodology based largely on fair value estimates. As a result, the Corporation
recorded a change in carrying value of the equity investment portfolio. In this regard, the Corporation determined
that all impairments and changes in carrying value were deemed to be other than temporary. This change in carrying
value of the equity portfolio was reflected in net income from equity investmenis in the FY0S3 consolidated income
staternent and in equity investrments in the consolidated balance sheet.
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VALUATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH No QUoTED MARKET PRICES

As part of its compliance with SFAS No. 133, the Corporation repons at fair value all of its derivative
instruments and certain borrowings that the Corporation has designated as components of fair value hedges. In
addition, certain features in various loan agreements, cquity investment agreements. and borrowing contracts
contain embedded derivatives that, for accounting purposes, are scparately accounted as either derivative assets or
liabilities, including puts, caps, floors, and forwards. Few of these instruments have a ready market valuation.
Therefore, the fair values of the financial instruments with no quoted market prices are estimated using sophis-
ticated pricing models of the net present value of estimated future cash flows. Management makes numerous
assumptions in developing the pricing models, including the appropriate discount rates, interest rates, and related
volatitity and expected movement in foreign currency cxchange rates. Changes in assumptions could have a
significant impact on the amounts reported as assets and Habilities and the related gains and losses reported in the
income statement. The fair value computations affect both the Client Services and Treasury segments of the
Corporation (see Note R to the FY06 consolidated financial statements for funther discussion of the Corporation’s
business segments). :

Additional information can be found in Notes A, O and 1" to the FY06 consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

The summary statements of income of the Corporation presented below have been derived from consolidated
financial statements audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP. Centain amounts have been reclassified $o0 as to conform
with current year presentation. The information set ferth below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto as well as other information included elsewhere herein.

Years ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in millions of US dollars)
Interest and financial fees from loans . .................. $ 807 3% 660 3% 518 $477 §547
Income from liquid asset trading activities .. ............. 444 358 177 475 524
Charges on horrowings . ... ... ... ... .. o .. (603) (309 (141)  (226) (438)
Income from equity investments
Realized capital gains on equity sales .. ............. 928 723 386 52 288
Dividends and profit participations .. ............... 327 258 207 147 141
Amortization of UJV conditional asset retirement
obligalions . . ... ... (8) —_— — — —
Unrealized income from LLPs and certain LIL.Cs ... .. .. 56 191 — — -
Changes in carrying value of equity investments . ... ... — 2609 69 (50)  (268)
Equity investment impairment write-downs . ... ....... 37 62) — — —
Net losses on cquity-related derivatives and custody &
otherfees. .. ... (18) (14) 4) (4 (N
Total income from equity investments . .. .............. 1,228 1,365 658 145 160
(Provision for) release of provision for losses on loans and
QUATANICES « . . oottt it et it a3 261 103 (48) (389
Net other eXpense . . ... .ot n e it (362) (344) (304) (295 (243)
Income before expenditures for TAAS, PBG and net
(losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments . . .. . 1,499 1,991 1,011 528 161
Expenditures for TAAS . ..... ... .. ... ... L (53) (38) 29 —_ —_
Expenditures for PBG .. ... ... ... oo o (35) —_ — — —
Income after expenditures for TAAS and PBG and before
net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instruments
(“operating income™) ... ....... ... ... . 1.409 1.953 982 528 161
Net (losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments® . .. .. {131) 62 11 {41) 54
NETINCOME. ... .. ... .. ... i $1278 32015 § 993 $487 §215

* See Note O to the Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial statements.



The main elements of IFC’s net income and influences on the level and variability of operating and net income
from year to year are:

ELEMENTS SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCES

Operating income:

Spread on inlerest earning assets Nonaccruals and recoveries of interest on loans
formerly in nonaccrual status and income from
participation notes

Liquid asset income Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the
liquid asset portfolios

Income from the equity investment portfolio Performance of the equity portfolio (principally
dividends and capital gains)

Provisions for losses on loans and guarantees Level of provisions for tosses on loans and
guarantces

Equity impairment write-downs Amount of impairment write-downs

Noninterest income and expense L.evel of technical assistance and advisory services

provided by the Corporation 10 its clients, the level
of expense from the stall retirement and other
benelits plans, and the approved administrative and
other hudgets

Net income:
Net (losses) gains on non-trading financial Principally. differences between changes in fair
instruments values of derivative instruments and changes in fair
value of hedged items in fair value hedging

relationships

The following paragraphs detail significant variances between FY06 and FY05, and FYQS5 and FY04, covering
the periods included in the Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial siatcmenis. As disclosed in Note A to the
Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial statements, centain amounts in FY0S and FY04 have been reclassified to
conform 1o the current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on operating income, net income or
total assets.

FY(6 versus FY05
Operating income

The Corporation’s income before expenditures for TAAS and PBG and net (losses) gains on non-trading
financial instruments for FY06 was $1,499 million. Expenditures for TAAS for FY06 were 355 million. and
expenditures for PBG for FY06 were $35 million, resulting in operating income for FY06 of $1,409 million. The
continued strong operating performance in FYO06, following from FY0S5's record year, was mainly attributable to
continued significant equity income (principally capital gains and dividends) and a continued overall improvement
in the guality of the loan and equity investment ponfolio, as measured by portfolio impairment and portfolio risk
levels, although at a slower pace than in FYOS5. The aggregate risk level within the portfolio has been reduced
principally due to: (i) the successful restructuring or rescheduling of problem projects; (ii) the growth in the
outstanding portfolio in new investments with better fisk ratings: (iii) the write-off of investments with worse risk
ratings than the average risk rating of the portfolio; and (iv) an overall improvement in country risk ratings. This
improvement began during the latter stages of FY03 and coantinued through FY04, FYOS and FY06. The
Corporation’s liquid asset portfolios yielded strong positive contributions o the Corporation’s operating income.

A more detailed analysis of the components of IFC’s operating income follows.
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Interest and financial fees from loans

[FC’s primary interest earning assets is its loan port{olio. Interest and financial {ees from loans (including guarantee
fees) for FY06 totaled $807 million. compared with S660 million in FYO3, an increase of $147 million, or 22%.

Interest income increased from $574 mitlion in FY05 to $743 million in FY06, an increase of $169 million, or
29%. The growth in the loan portfolio and the overall increase in average interest rates during FY06, when
compared with FY03, contributed $231 million, including net interest income on lending-related swaps, of the
increase in interest income. Recoveries of interest on loans being removed {rom non-accrual status, net of reversals
of income on loans being placed in nonaccrual status, were $20 million lower in FY06, compared to FY05. Income
from the Corporation’s participation notes, over and above minimum contractual interest, was $25 million lower in
FY06 than in FY (5. Interest income from loans serving as collateral under secured borrowing arrangements totaled
$6 million in FY06 (30 in FYQ5).

Commitment and financial fees fell to $64 million in FYO06 from $86 million in FYO0S5, principally reflecting
the change in accounting principle concerning the deferral of pet loan origination fees which offset the growth
attributable to strong commitments and disbursements,

Charges on borrowings

The Corporation’s charges on borrowings increased by $294 million, from $309 million in FYOS5 to
$603 million in FYO06, largely reflecting the increased US dollar interest rate environment, when comparing
FY06 and FY05. Charges on borrowings in FY06 inciudes $6 million in respect of interest expense on secured
borrowings (30 in FY05). The weighted average cost of the Corporation’s borrowings cutstanding from market
sources, after the effects of borrowing-related derivatives, rose during the year from 3.3% at June 30. 2005 {0 4.9%
at June 30, 2006. The borrowings portfolio, net of borrowing-related derivatives and before the effects of
SFAS No. 133, decreased by $0.7 billion in FY06 from $16.0 billion at June 30, 2005, to $15.3 billion at June 30,
2006.

Income from liquid asset trading activities

Income from liquid asset trading activities comprises interest from time deposits and securities, net gains and
losses on trading activities, and a small currency translation effect. The liquid assets portfolio, net of derivatives and
securities lending activities, decreased from $13.3 billion at June 30, 2005, 1o $12.7 billion at June 30, 2006.

Liquid asset income totaled $444 million in FY06 ($358 million in FY03). In a year when interest rates rose,
the Corporation has still been able o increase income. In FYO06, all of IFC's liquid asset portfolios outperformed
their respective henchmarks.

The majority of liquid asset income in FY06 was attributable to the Corporation’s P1 portfolio, which is
actively managed against a variable rale benchmark. This portfolio generated income of $288 million in FY06, a
return of 5.20% ($162 million in FY0S5, a return of 2.249%). The P3 portfolio, managed against the same variable rate
target returned $43 million in FY06, $17 million higher than in FY05.

The P2 and P4 portfolios delivered 156 and 54 basis points of excess return versus their Lehman Brothers
Intermediate US Treasury Index. With rates on the rise, the benchmark actually lost 0.19% in FY06. The P2 and P4
portfolios returned $64 million (1.38%) and $2 million (0.35%) in FY 06, respectively, as compared to $130 million
(3.73%) and $16 million (4.51%) in FY05. The positive performance of the P2 portfolio was achieved due to
directional and yield curve strategies designed specifically to take advantage of the tightening of monetary policy in
the United States, Europe and Japan.

The Corporation’s holdings of US, European and Japanese inflation-indexed securities whose income varies
with inflation in the Pland P2 portfolios was a significant contributor to the outperformance relative to benchmark.

Income from equity investments

Income from the equity investment portfolio decreased by $137 million from $1,365 million in FYO5 10
$1,228 million in FY06.
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The Corporation generated realized capital gains on equity sales, including recoveries of previously written-
off equity investments and net of losses on sales of equity investments, for FYG6 of $928 million, as compared with
$723 million for FYO0S3, an increase of $205 million. Realized capital gains on equity sales from 14 investments
comprised 50% of the FY06 gains (before write-offs and losses on sales), compared 10 19 investments comprising
71% of the FYQS5 gains. 1FC continued to take advantage of buoyant markets throughout most of FY06 o sell
equitics and take some limited gains in investments where IFC’s developmental role was complete, and where pre-
determined sales trigger levels had been met.

Dividend income was also significantly higher in FYO6 at $327 million, as compared with $258 million in
EY(05. Consistent with FY03, a significant amount of IFC’s dividend income in FY06 was due to returns on the
Corporation’s joint ventures in the oil, gas and mining sectors accounted {or under the cost recovery method, which
iotaled $86 million in FYO08, as compared with $106 million in FY0S.

Income from LLPs, certain LLCs, and other investments accounted for under the equity method totaled
$36 million in FY06 ($191 million in FYO03).

Provisions for losses on loans and guarantees

As noted above, the quality of the Corporation’s loan portfolio continued to improve during FY06 although at a
slower pace than in FY0S5 and FY04. IFC recorded a small provision for losses on loans and guarantces of
$15 million in FY06, including $5 million in respect of guaranices. On June 30, 2006, the Corporation’s total
reserves against losses on loans were 8.3% of the disbursed and outsianding loan portfolio excluding unamontized
deferred net loan origination fees and fair value adjustments for loans in gualifying hedge relationships (9.9% at
June 30, 20035).

Other income

Other income of $115 million for FY06 was $36 million higher than in FY0S5 ($79 million).

Other expenses

Administrative expenses (the principal component of other expenses) increased by 8% from $403 million in
FY(S5 to $436 million in FYO06, principally reflecting the Corporation’s higher budget authority in FY06 when
compared to FY0DS., Administrative expenses include the grossing-up effect of cenain revenues and expenses
attributable 1o the Corporation’s reimbursable program and jeopardy projects ($37 million in FY06, as compared
with $33 million in FY0S5). The Corporation recorded expense from pension and other postretirement benefit plans
in FY06 of $28 million, as compared with 514 million in FY03.

Net income

As more {ully disclosed in Notes A, O and P to the Corporation’s FY06 consolidated financial statements, the
Corporation has designated centain hedging relationships in its borrowing activities and its lending activities as {air
value hedges. The Corporation generally matches the terms of its derivatives with the terms of the specific
underlying financial instruments hedged, in terms of currencies, malturity dates, reset dates, interest rates, and other
featurgs. However, differing valuation methodologies are applicd to the derivative and the hedged financial
instrument, as prescribed by SFAS No. 133, The resulting ineffectiveness calculated for such relationships is
recorded in net (losses) gains on non-trading tinancial instraments, in net income.

The effects of SFAS No. 133 on et income in FY06 and FY 05 can be summarized as follows (US$ millions):

FY06 FY05
Income after expenditures for TAAS and PBG and before net (losses) gains on non-trading
financial instruments (Coperating income™ . ... ... .. 51,409  $1953
SFAS No. 133 adjustments:
Net (losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments. .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... (13D 62
NELIMCOME . L ottt et et e e e e e e e e e e $1.278 32,015




Net (losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments largely comprises the difference between the change in
fair value of derivative instruments and the change in fair value of the hedged item under designated hedging
relationships.

FY05 versus FY(4
Operating income

The Corporalion’s income before expenditures for TAAS and net (losses) gains on non-trading financial
instruments for FY0S was $1,991 million. Expenditures for TAAS for FY0S were $38 million, resulting in income
after expenditures for TAAS (“operating income™) for FY05 of $1,953 million, a third consecutive record year. The
improvement was mainly attributable o significant equity income (principally capital gains) and a continued
overall improvement in the quality of the loan and equily investment portfolio, as measured by portfolio impairment
and portfolio risk levels. The aggregate risk level within the portfolio had been reduced principally due to: (i) the
successful restructuring or rescheduling of problem projects; (i1) the growth in the outstanding portfolio in new
investments with better risk ratings; (iii) the write-off of invesiments with worse risk ratings than the average risk
rating of the portfolio; and (iv) an overall improvement in country risk ratings. This improvement began during the
latter stages of FY(3 and continued through FY04 and FY(05. The Corporation’s liquid asset portfolios yielded
sirong positive contributions to the Corporation's operating income.

A more delailed analysis of the components of [FC’s operating income follows.

Interest and financial fees from loans

Interest and financial fees from loans (including guarantee fees) for FYOS totaled $660 million, compared with
$518 million in FY04, an increasce of $142 million, or 27%. Intercst income increased from $449 million in FYO4 to
3574 million in FYQ5. The growth in the loan portfolio and the overall increase in average interest rates during
FY05, when compared with FY (4. contributed $118 million, net of interest expense on lending-related swaps. of
the increase in interest income. Recoveries of interest on loans being removed from non-accrual status, net of
reversals of income on loans being placed in nonaccrual status, were $8 million lower in FY 05, compared to FY(4,
at $31 million in FY0S (339 million in FY(4), Income from the Corporation’s participation notes, over and above
minimum contractual interest, totaled $55 million in FYQ3 (340 million in FY04), Commitment and financial fees
also grew to $86 million in FYO03 from $69 million in FYO4, reflecting strong commitments and disbursements.

Charges on borrowings

The Corporation’s charges on borrowings increased by $168 million, from $141 million in FY(4 10
$309 million in FYO0S5, largely reflecting the increased US dollar interest rate environment, when comparing
FY05 and FY04. As the Corporation’s borrowings generally reprice every six months, the effect of the significant
rise in the interest rate environmeant in the fourth quarter of FY04 adversely impacted FYO05 charges on borrowings.
The weighted average cost of the Corporation’s borrowings outstanding from market sources, after the effects of
borrowing-related derivatives, rose during the year from 1.0% at June 30, 2004 to 3.3% at Junc 30, 2005. The
borrowings portfolio, net of borrowing-related derivatives and before the effects of SFAS No. 133, decreased by
30.4 billion in FY0S from $16.4 billion at June 30, 2004, to $16.0 billion at June 30, 2005.

Income from liquid asset trading activities

Income from liquid asset trading activities comprises interest from time deposits and securities, net gains and
losses on trading activities, and a small currency translation effect. The liquid assets portfclio, net of derivatives and
securities lending activities, increased from $13.1 billion at June 30, 2004, to $13.3 billion at June 30, 2005. Liquid
asset returns totaled $358 million in FYQS5.

Income from equity investments

Income from the equity investment portfolio increased by $707 million from $658 million in FY04 1o
$1,365 million in FYQS.



The Corporation generated realized capital gains on equity sales for FY0S of $723 million, as compared with
$381 million for FY(4, an increase of $342 million. Realized capilal gains on equity sales from 19 investments
comprised 71% of the FYODS gains, compared to seven investments comprising 64% of the FY(04 gains. IFC
continued to take advantage of buoyant markets to sell equities and take some limited gains in investments where
IFC’s developmental role was complete, and where pre-determined sales trigger levels had been met.

Dividend income was also significantly higher in FY03 at $258 million, as compared with $207 million in
FY04. Consistent with FY04, a significant amount of IFC's dividend income in FYOS was due to returns on the
Corporation’s joint ventures in the oil, gas and mining scctors, which totaled $106 million in FYO0S, as compared
with $65 million in FY04.

Beginning in FYQ5, the Corporation’s investments in its LLPs and certain 11.Cs are accounted for under the
equity method. As a result, IFC's FY03 income from equity investments includes income from its investments in
LLPs and certain LL1.Cs in the amount of $191 million ($0 in FYQ4),

Release of provisions for losses on loans and guarantees

As noted above, the guality of the Corporation’s investment portfolio improved during FY03. continuing the
trend noted in FYOQ3 and FY04. As a result, IFC recorded a release of provisions for losses on loans and guarantees
of $261 million in FY 05, including a release of $3 million in respect of guarantees, a significant improvement over
FY(4 when the Corporation recorded a release of $103 million {$14 million in respect of guarantees). On June 30,
2005, the Corporation’s tota} reserves against losses on loans were 9.9% of the disbursed and outstanding loan
portfolio (14.0% at June 30, 2004).

Other income

Other income of $79 million for FY0S5 was substantially unchanged from FY 04,

Other expenses

Administrative expenses (the principal component of other expenses) increased by 12% from $360 million in
FY04 to $403 million in FY03, principally reflecting the Corporation’s higher budget authority in FY0S when
compared 10 FY0O4. Administrative cxpenses include the grossing-up effect of certain revenues and expenses
attributable to the Corporation’s reimbhursable program and jeopardy projects ($33 million in FY035, as comnpared
with $34 million in FY04). The Corporation recorded expense {rom pension and cther postretirement benefit plans
in FY05 of $14 million, as compared with $19 million in FY{J4.

Net income

As more fully disclosed in Notes A, O and P to the Corporation's FY(6 consolidated financial statements, the
Corporation has designated certain hedging relationships in its borrowing activities and its lending activities as fair
value hedges. The Corporation generally matches the terms of its derivatives with the terms of the specific
vaderlying financial instruments hedged, in terms of currencies, maturity dates, reset dates, interest rates, and other
features. However, differing valuation methodologies are applied to the derivative and the hedged financial
instrument, as prescribed by SFAS No. 133, The resulting ineffectiveness calculated for such relationships is
recorded in net {losses) pains on non-trading financial instruments, in net income.

The effects of SFAS No. 133 on net income in FY03 and FY 04 can be summarized as follows (US$ millions):

FY0S FY04
Income after expenditures for TAAS and PBG and before net (losses) gains on non-trading
financial instruments (“operating inCome™) ... ... . i i $1,953 3982
SFAS No. 133 adjustmenis:
Net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instruments . . ... ... ... . ... . . . 62 li
NELIICOIMIE o o o e e e e e e e e e e $2,015  $993




Net gains on non-trading financial instruments largely comprises the difference between the change in fair
value of denvative instruments and the chanpe in fair value of the hedged item under designated hedging
rclationships.

GOVERNANCE

MANAGEMENT CHANGES

Mr. Assaad Jabre was Acting Executive Vice President (EVP) since the retirement of the Comporation’s EVP,
Mr. Peter Woicke effective January 31, 2005. Effective January 15, 2006, Mr. Lars H. Thunell was appointed EVP
of the Corporation.

Mr. Declan Duff was appointed Vice President, Industries effective May 15, 2006. Ms. Farida Khambata was
appointed Regional Vice President for Asia and Latin America effective July 1, 2006. Mr. Edward Nassim was
appointed Regional Vice President for Europe, Africa, and the Middle East cffective July 1, 2006. The Regional
Vice Presidents will exercise, for their respective regions, the portfolio responsibilities previously exercised by the
Vice President, Porifolio and Risk Management.

Effective July 1, 2006, IFC announced the creation of a new Vice Presidency of Risk Management for the
Corporation, and Mr. Allen F. Shapiro was appointed Acting Vice President, Risk Management. On September 26,
2006, IFC announced that Mr. Michel G. Maila will become the new Vice President, Risk Management effective
January 15, 2007.

Boarn oF DIRECTORS

In accordance with its Articles of Agreement, members of IFC’s Board are appointed or clected by their
member governments. These Directors are neither officers nor staff of IFC. The President is the only management
member of the Board, serving as a non-voling member and as Chairman of the Board. The Board has established
several Commiitees including:

« Committee on Development Effectiveness

+ Audit Commitiee

+ Budget Committee

« Personnel Committec

+ Ethics Commitiee

« Committee on Governance and Administrative Matlers

The Board and its Committees function in continuous session at the principal offices of the World Bank Group,
as business requires. Each Committee's terms of reference establish its respective roles and responsibilities. As
Committees do not vote on issues, their role is primarily to serve the full Board in discharging its responsibilities.

AupIT COMMITTEE
Membership

The Audit Committee consists of eight members of the Board. Membership on the Committee is determined by
the Board, based upon nominations by the Chairman of the Board, {ollowing informal consultation with the
Directors. In addition, membership of the Commitiee is expected Lo reflect the cconomic and geographic diversity
of IFC's member countries. Other relevant selection criteria include seniority, continuity and relevant experience.
Some or all of the responsibilities of individual Committee members are performed by their alternatés or advisors.
Generally, Commitice members are appointed for a two-year lerm; reappointment to a second term, when possible,
is desirable for continuity. Audit Committee meelings are gencrally open to any members of the Board who may
wish to attend, and non-Committee members of the Board may panticipate in the discussion. In addition, the
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Chairman of the Audit Committec may speak in that capacity at meetings of the Board with tespect 10 discussions
held in the Audit Committee.

Key Responsibilities

The Audit Commitiee is appointed by the Board 1o assist it in the oversight and assessment of [FC's finances
and accounting, including the effectiveness of financial policies, the integrity of financial statements, the system of
internal controls regarding finance, accounting and ethics (including fraud and corruption), and financial and
operational risks. The Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing the performance and recom-
mending 1o the Board the appointment of the external auditor, us well as monitoring the independence of the
external anditor and meeting with it in executive session, The Audit Commitlee participates in oversight of the
internal audit function, including reviewing the responsibilities, staffing and the effectiveness of internal audit. The
Committee also reviews the annual intemal audit plan and meets with the Auditor General in executive session. In
the execution of its role, the Committee discusses with management, the external auditors, and the internal auditors
financial issues and policies which have a bearing on the Corporation’s financial position and risk-bearing capacity.
The Audit Committee monitors the evolution of developments in corporate governance and the roie of audit
committees on an ongoing basis and revised its terms of reference in FY(4.

Communications
The Audit Committee communicates regularly with the Board through distribution of the [ollowing:

+ The minutes of its meetings.

+ Reports of the Audit Committee prepared by the Chairman. which document discussions held. These reports
are distributed to the Directors, Alternates, World Bank Group Senior Management and Vice Presidents of
IFC.

« “Statement(s) of the Chairman™ and statements issued by other members of the Commitiee.

« The Annual Report to the Board, which provides an overvicew of the main issues addressed by the Audit
Committee over the year,

The Audit Commitiee’s communications with the external auditor are described in the Auditor Independence
section, below.

Executive Sessions

Members of the Audit Committee may convene in executive session at any time, without management present.
Under the Committec’s lerms of reference, it meets separately in executive session with the external and internal
auditors,

Access to Outside Resources and to Management

Throughout the year, the Audit Committee receives a large volume of information, which supports the
preparation of the financial statements, The Audit Committee meets both formally and informally throughoul the
year to discuss financial and accounting matters. Directors have complete access 1o the Management of the
Corporation. The Audit Commitiee reviews and discusses with Management the quarterly and annual firancial
statements. The Committee also reviews with the external auditor the financial statements prior to their publication
and recommends them for approval to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has the capacity, under exceptional ctrcumstances, to obtain advice and assistance from
outside legal, accounting or other advisors as deemed appropriate.
Cong or ErHics

The World Bank Group strives to foster and maintain a positive work environment that supports the ethical

behavior of its staff. To facilitate this effort, the World Bank Group has a Code of Professional Ethics in place. The
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Code (Code of Professional Ethics — Living our Values) applies to all staff (including managers, consultants, and
temporary employees) worldwide.

The Code is available in nine languages on the World Bank Group’s Web site, www.worldbank.org. Stafl
relations, conflicts of interest, and operational issues, including the accuracy of books and records, are key elements
of the Code.

In addition to the Code, an essential element of appropriate conduct is compliance with the obligations
embodied in the Principles of Staff Employment, Staff Rules, and Administrative Rules, the violation of which may
result in disciplinary action. In accordance with the Staff Rules, senior managers must complete a confidential
financial disclosure instrument with the Office of Ethics and Business Conduct.

Guidance for staff is also provided through programs, training materials, and other resources. Managers are
responsible for ensuring that internal systems, policies, and procedures are consistently aligned with the World
Bank Group's ethical goals. In support of its efforts on cthics, the World Bank offers a variety of methods for
informing staff of these resources. Many of these efforts are headed by the following groups:

» The Office of Ethics and Business Conduct provides leadership, management and oversight for the World
Bank Group’s ethics infrastructure including the Ethics Help Line, a consolidated conflicts of interest
disclosure/resolution system, financial disclosure, ongoing training to both internal and external audiences,
and communication resources.

+ The Deparnument of Institutional Integrity is charged with investigating allegations of fraud and cormption
within the World Bank Group. The Department also investigates allegations of misconduct by World Bank
Group staff, and trains and educates staff and clients in detecting and reporting fraud and corruption in World
Bank Group-funded projects. The Department reports directly to the President and is composed of
professionals from a range of disciplines including financial analysts, researchers, investigators, lawyers,
prosecutors, forensic accountants, and World Bank Group staff with operational expericnce.

The Woild Bank Group has in place procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received
rcgarding accounting, intcrnal controls and auditing matters.

The World Bank Group offers both the Ethics Help Line and a Fraud and Corruption hotline run by an cutside
firm staffed by trained specialists. This third-party service offers numerous methods of communication in addition
to a tollfree hotline in countries where access to telecommunications may be limited. In addition, there are other
methods by which the Depantment of Institutional Integrity may receive ailegations, including directly by email,
anonymously, or through confidential submission through its Web site, as well as the postal service and telephone.
AupITor INDEPENDENCE

In FYO03, the Board adopted a set of principles applicable Lo the appointment of the external auditor for IFC,
Key features of those principles include:

* Prohibition of the external auditor from the provision of all non audit-related services;

+ All audit-related services must be pre-approved on a case-by-case basis by the Board, upon recommendation
of the Audit Committee;

* Mandatory rebidding of the external audit contract every five years;

= Prohibition of any firm serving as external auditor for more than two consecutive five-year terms;
« Mandatory rotation of the senior partner afler five years; and

< An evaluation of the performance of the external auditor at the mid-point of the five year term.

In FY(04, IFC’s external auditor, Deloitte & Touche LLP, began a new five-ycar term and will have served
eleven years as external auditor upon completion of that (erm, pursuant {0 a one-time grandfathered exemption from
the above-referenced ten-year limit. Even within a five-year term the service of the extemal auditors is subject to-
recommendation by the Audit Committee for annual reappointment and approval of a resolution by the Board.
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As a standard practice, the external auditor is present as an observer at virtually all Audit Committee meetings
and is frequently asked 10 present its perspective on issues. In addition, the Audit Committee meets periodically
with the external anditor in private session without management present. Communication between the external
auditor and the Audit Committee is ongoing, as frequently as is deemed necessary by either party. IFC's external
auditors follow the communication requirements with audit committees set out under U.S. generally accepted
auditing standards. In keeping with these standards, significant formal communications include:

« Quarerly and annual financial statement reporting:

+ Annual appointment of the external auditors;

+ Presentation of the external audit plan;

« Presentation of control recommendations and discussion of the COSO attestation and report; and
« Presentation of a statement regarding independence.

In addition to Committee meetings, individual members of the Audit Committee have independent access to
the external auditor.

Auptt Fegs

For FY(6, Deloitte & Touche LLP served as IFC’s independent exiernal auditors. Administrative expenses for
FY06 included the following professional fees for services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP: $1.0 million for
audit services, and $0.5 million for audit-related services and all other fees. Audit-related services and all other fees
principally comprises internal control reviews as well us accounting consultations concerning financial accounting
and reporting standards,

ORGANIZATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF IFC

MEMBERSHIP

IFC was organized in 1956 with an original membership of $6 countries. which has since grown to 178 member
countries at June 30, 2006. Membership in IFC is open only 10 members of the World Bank at such times and in
accordance with such terms and conditions as the Corporation shall prescribe.

Although any member may withdraw from membership in IFC by delivering notice thereof in writing, any
government which ceases 1o be a member remains liable for all its obligations to IFC. In the event of withdrawal,
[FC will arrange for the repurchase of that government’s capital stock in the Corporation. Also, a member may be
suspended by & decision of a majority of the Governors exercising a majority of the Corporation’s total voting power
if such member fails to fulfill any of its obligations to IFC.

ADMINISTRATLON

[FC's administration is comprised of the Board ol Governors, the Board of Directors, the President, the
Executive Vice President, other officers and staff.

All of the powers of IFC are vested in the Board of Governors which is composed of a Governor (and an
Alternate Governor) appointed by each member country of TFC. Each member country has 250 votes plus one
additional vole for each share of stock held by that member, Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Articles
of Agreement, all matters before [FC are decided by a majority of the votes cast. The Board of Governors holds
regular annual meetings, but has delegated to the Board of Directors authority 10 exercise all of the powers of I[FC
except those reserved to the Governors under the Articles of Apreement.

The Board of Directors is respansible for the conduct of the peneral operations of IFC. It is composed ol each
Executive Director of the World Bank who has been either (i) appointed by a member of the World Bank which is
also a member of IFC, or (ii) elected in an election in which the votes of at least one member of the World Bank
which is also a member of IFC shall have counted toward his or her election. Each Director is entitled 10 cast the
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number of votes which the member by which he or she was appointed, or the member (or members) that voted for
his or her election, is entitled to cast. The Board of Directors presently consists of 24 Directors. Five Directors are
appointed by individual members and the remaining 19 are elected by the Governors representing the other
members. The President of the World Bank is ex officio Chairman of the Board of Directors of [FC.

The President is the chief of the operating staff of the Corporation and is appointed by the Board of Directors.
Under the direction and control of the Board of Directors, the President is responsible for the organization,
appointment and dismissal of the officers and staff. The authority to conduct the ordinary business of the
Corporation is vested in the Executive Vice President.

The following is a list of the principal officers of IFC at July 1, 2006:

President .. ... ... .. . e Paul D. Wolfowitz
Executive Vice President ... ...... ... .. ... ... .. .. ... Lars H. Thunell
Vice President, Human Resources and Administration. .. ... ... .. Dorothy H. Berry
Acting Vice President, Risk Management . ................... Alien F. Shapiro
Regional Vice President, Asia and Latin America .. ............ Farida Khambata
Regional Vice President, Europe, Africa and the Middle East ... .. Edward A. Nassim
Vice President, Finance and Treasurer. ... ................... Nina B. Shapiro
Vice President, Financial and Private Sector Development and .

Chief Economist. . ........ ... . . i Michael U. Klein
Vice President. Industries . .. ......... ... ... ... ... ...... Declan J. Duff
General Counsel and Dircctor, Legal Depanment ... ........... Jennifer A. Sullivan

Mr. Klein is also Vice President for Financial and Private Sector Development for the World Bank Group.

On September 26, 2006, IFC announced that Mr. Michel G. Maila will become the new Vice President, Risk
Management effective January 15, 2007. ‘

IFC is a legal entily separate and distinct from the World Bank. The funds of IFC are kepi separate and apart
from those of the World Bank and cbligations of [FC are not obligations of, or guaranteed by, the World Bank.

THE ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT

The Articles of Agreement constitute IFC’s governing charnter. They prescribe [FC’s purpose, capital structure
and organization, authorize the operations in which it may engage, prescribe limitations on the carrying on of those
operations and establish the status, privileges and immunities of IFC in its member countries. The Articles of
Agreement also contain provisions with respect to the admission of additional members, the increase of the
authorized capital stock of IFC, the terms and conditions under which IFC may invest its funds, the distribution of
the net income of IFC to its members, the withdrawal and suspension of members and the suspension of operations
of 1FC.

Pursuant to its provisions, the Anicles of Agreement may be amended only by a vote of three-fifths of the
Governors exercising 85% of the total voting power (except for certain provisions the amendment of which requires
the affirmative vote of all Governors). The Articles of Agreement further provide that questions of interpretation of
provisions of the Articles of Agreement arising between any member and [FC or between members of IFC shall be
decided by the Board of Directors. lts decisions may be referred by any member to the Board of Governors, whose
decision is final. Pending the result of such reference, IFC may act on the basis of the decision of the Board of
Directors. :

Copies of the {ull text of the Articles of Agreement are available for inspection and distribution at IFC's head
office in Washington, D.C.
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LEGAL STATUS, IMMUNITIES AND PRIVILEGES

The Anicles of Agreement contain provisions which accord to IFC legal status and centain immunities and
privileges in the territories of each of its members, including those summarized below:

IFC has full juridical personality with capacity to make contracts, 1o acquire and dispose of property and to sue
and be sued. Actions may be brought against IFC only in a coun of competent jurisdiction in the territories of a
member in which IFC has an office, has appointed an agent to accept service of process, Or has issued or guaranieed
securities, but no action may be brought against [FC by a member or persons acting for or deriving claims from a
member.

The Governors, Dircctors, Alternates and the officers and employees of [FC are immune from legal process for
acts performed by them in their official capacities,

The archives of IFC are inviolable and the property and assets of IFC are immune {rom seizure, attachment or
execution prior to delivery of final judgment against IFC. The property and assets of the Corporation are also
immune [rom search, requisition, confiscation, expropriation or any other form of seizure by cxecutive or legislative
action.

IFC, its assets, property, income and its operations and transactions authorized by the Anticles of Agreement,
arc immune (rom all taxation and cusioms duties imposed by a2 member country. The Corporation is also immune
from liability for the collection or payment of any tax or duty.

Under the Articles of Agreement, securitics issued or guaranteed by IFC and the interest or dividends thereon
are nol subject 10 any tax (a) which discriminates against such securities solely because they are issued or
guaranteed by IFC or (b) if the sole jurisdictional basis for the tax is the place or currency in which such sccurities
are issued, made payable or paid, or the location of any office or place of business maintained by IFC.

IFC in its discretion may waive any of the privileges and immunities conferred under the Articles of
Agreement upon such conditions as it may determine.
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August 7, 2006

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
International Finance Corporation

We have reviewed the financial statements for the period ending on June 30, 2006, and the
accompanying management’s discussion and analysis of the International Finance Corporation
(IFC) (collectively, the “Reports™). Based on our knowledge, the Reports do not (1) contain any
untrue statement of a material fact, or (2) omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by the Reports.

Based on our knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the
Reports fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, changes
in net assets, and cash flows of [FC for the periods presented in the Reports.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining intemal controls and procedures over
extemnal financial reporting for [FC. As part of carrying out these responsibilities, Management
has:

e designed internal controls and procedures to ensure that material information required to
meet the accuracy and completeness standards set forth above with regard to the Reports is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely manner, as well as to ensure that
such information is accumulated and communicated to Management as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure; and

¢ designed internal controls over externa! financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of IFC’s internal controls and procedures as of the
date of the Reports; and presented in management’s discussion and analysis its conclusions about
the effectiveness of such controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by the
Reports, based on such evaluation. Management has disclosed in the Reports any change in IFC’s
internal controls over external financial reporting that occwrred during the period covered by the
Reports that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, IFC’s internal
controls over external financial reporting.

2121 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433 USA Phone: (202} 473-1000 . Facsimile: (202) 477-6391
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Further, Management has disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to IFC's external auditors and the Audit Committee of IFC's Board of
Directors:

# all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect IFC's ability to record, process,
summarize, and report financial information; and

¢ any fraud, whether or not material, that involves Management or other employees who
have a significant role in [FC’s internal controls over financial reporting,

R = N

Paul Wolfowitz

Presiden Executive Vice President

VA ’/%;:o{a_ L. Find 2l
Allen F. ghapiro Farida Khambata
Acting Vice President, Risk Management Regional Vice President, Asia & Latin America
(Controller through August 7, 2006) (Vice President, Portfolio & Risk Management

through June 30, 2006)

36



international

Finance Corporation
World Bank Group

IFC

August 7, 2006

Management’s Report Regarding Effectiveness of
Internal Controls Over External Financial Reporting

The management of the International Finance Corporation (IFC) is responsible for the
preparation, integrity, and fair presentation of its published financial statements and all other
information presented in the accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis. The
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP) and, as such, include amounts based on
informed judgments and estimates made by management.

The financial statements have been audited by an independent accounting firm, which was given
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of
the, Board of Executive Directors and committees of the Board. Management believes that all
representations made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.
The independent auditors’ report accompanies the audited financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
external financial reporting for financial presentations in conformity with US GAAP. The
system of internal control contains monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct
deficiencies identified.. Management believes that internal controls for external financial
reporting, which are subject to scrutiny by management and the internal auditors, and are revised
as considered necessary, support the integrity and reliability of the external financial statements.

Key procedures that Management has estabiished, which are designed to provide effective
internal financial control within IFC, include the preparation, review and Board approval of
annual financial plans that align with strategic plans prepared every year. Results are monitored
regularly and reports on progress compared to the plan are prepared quarterly. Additionally,
systems are in place to monitor financial risks such as changes in the market prices of financial
instruments, funding of assets, operational error and fraud. Exposure to these risks is monitored
by ‘the IFC Finance and Risk Committee.! Further, the system of internal controls includes
written policies and procedures, proper delegation of authority, accountability through
establishing responsibility centers, and segregation of duties.

! The members of Finance and Risk Committee are: the EVP (Chair), VP [ndustries, Regional VP Asia & Latin
America, Regional VP Europe, Africa & Middle East, Acting VP Risk Management, VP Finance & Treasurer, VP
Private Sector Development & Chief Economist, and General Counsel.

2121 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433 USA Phone: (202) 473-1000 . Facsimile: (202) 477-6391
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There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even
effective internal control can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal

control may vary over time.

IFC assessed its internal control over external financial reporting for financial presentations in
conformity with US GAAP as of June 30, 2006. This assessment was based on the criteria for
effective internal control over external financial reporting described in Jnternal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based upon this assessment, management believes that [FC maintained effective
internal control over external financial reporting presented in conformity with US GAAP, as of

June 30, 2006.

The Board of Executive Directors of IFC has appointed an Audit Committee responsible for
monitoring the accounting practices and internal controls of IFC. The Audit Committee is’
comprised entirely of Executive Directors who are independent of IFC’s management. The
Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board of Executive Directors the
selection of independent auditors. It meets periodically with management, the independent
auditors, and the internal auditors to ensure that they are carrying out their responsibilities. The
Audit Committee is responsible for performing an oversight role by reviewing and monitoring
the financial, accounting and auditing procedures of IFC in addition to reviewing IFC’s reports.
The independent auditors and the internal auditors have full and free access to the Audit
Committee, with or without the presence of management, to discuss the adequacy of internal
control over external financial reporting and any other matters which they believe should be
brought to the attention of the Audit Commilttee.

Paul Wolfowitz Ears i;unell
President Executive Vice President

VA W Loksermds a5
Allen ¥. Shapiro Farida Khambata
Acting Vice President, Risk Management Regional Vice President, Asia & Latin America
and Controller (Vice President, Portfolio & Risk Management

through June 30, 2006)
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555 12th Street NW
Washington, DC 20004-1207
USA

Tel: +1 202 B79 5600
Fax: +1 202 879 5309
www. deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

President and Bcard of Govemors
International Finance Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the International Finance
Corporation as of June 30, 2006 and 2003, including the consolidated statements of capital stock
and voting power as of June 30, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, changes in capital, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the
period ended June 30, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
International Finance Corporation’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the International Finance Corporation’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all matertal respects, the
financial position of the International Finance Corporation as of June 30, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended

June 30, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Prtostl # duke L2P

August 7, 2006

member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

as of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005
{US$ millions)

2006
Assets

Cash and due frOm DANKS .....cciiierimrrrereersemrastrsssassamseesressias sssesrerersss s arsssnss prbssisssasessicasosase 9 159
Time deposils ... 2,959
Trading securmes No1e B . . 16,286
Securities purchased under resale agreements 1,190

Loans . 10,817

2005

o
-
[
w

Less Reserve agamst Iosses on Ioans {898}
Net loans .. TR 9919

.

EGUIY IMVESHTIENIS Lot ere e recreeorr s seereonceremer o s beerneaes ron e LR AR b HR A SELE bbbk s e e e e

2812

12,731

Total loans and equity investments disbursed and outstanding - Note C.........cccrveiveee
Derivative BSSEES — NOB Pttt e b s bt b e e 1,128

Receivables and other assets —NOte H ... e s e

3,967

Total assets ... ..ottt e e

Liabilities and capital

Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and payable
for cash collateral TeEEIVE ... e s sear s ens O 8,805

Bomowings withdrawn and oulstanding — Note |
From market sources ............
From International Bank for Reconslructron and Development .

Total borrowings .. -

Derivative lIabilties — NOWE P .ot st pe s sies e m e e eme e aene e e anecen

Payables and other labilities = NOte J. .o vttt v e e ene e 2284

Total RABIIES ...eoe e ir s s senn e s s e e s e 27,344

Capital
Capital stock, authorized 2,450,000 shares of $1,000 par value each — Note K
Subscribed .. B

2,365
Less: Pomon not yet pa|d

(1)

2.505

11,489

———— b

1,516

3.774

$ 9,321

15,304
15,359
2,332
2,750

29,762

2,365
{1)

Total capital stock . 2,364

Accumulated other COmMPrehensive INCOMB L. irccceisee e rmresm s e s srnrmae s e em e 1
Retaingd @armings ...t s s e e e v v e 8711

11,076

TOLAl CAPHAI ..oocvverveeverrrerre e rres s s ssrns e sessar s s rrar s ernerarerass s sassnammss beessnesnses e oo s sseramnsn b sasnan

Total liabilities ANd CAPIAL ..o e e r st ar e srveas st e seban

The notes to the consolidated finangial siatements are an integral par! of these statemsnts.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

for the three years ended June 30, 2006

{US$ millions)

2006 2005 2004
Interest and financial fees from 10anS = NOE C ..o cvvirvicecrrerssressrareressencnrsces e 807 $ 660 $ 518
Income from liquid asset trading activities — Note B ... 444 358 177
Charges on borrowings — NOtE | .o e e e e (603) {309) {141)
income fram equily iINvestments — NOE E ... et ates v et v e 1,228 1,365 658
{Provision for) release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees — Note G ....... {15) 281 103
Income from loans, equity investments and liquid asset trading activities,
after (provision for) release of provision for losses on leans and
GUATANMEEES ..o oieiee e er et e et e e emsen et b ee e s et sa et e emean e e 1,861 2,335 1,315
Other income
Service fees ... 52 41 a1
Net translation adjustmenls on non-tradlng acmvmes [ (7} 4
Other — Note L . 57 45 34
Total other income . 115 79 79
Other expenses
Administrative expenses — Notes T and U .. 436 403 360
Expense from pension and other postrellremen! beneﬁt plans Note S 28 14 19
Other e 13 B 4
Total OtHEE BXPENSES L .o ree e e s e e e s e ama et e e s e s smne s, 477 423 383
Income before expenditures for technica! assistance and advisory services,
expenditures for perfonnance-based grants and net {losses) gains on
non-trading financial instruments .. 1,499 1,991 1,011
Expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services —Note M ________............ (55) (38) {29}
Expenditures for performance-based grants - Note N ... {35) - -
Income after expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services,
expenditures for performanca-based grants and before net {losses) gains on
non-trading financial instruments ... 1,409 1,953 982
Net {losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments — Note Q... {131) 62 11
NBL INCOIMIB . ... et seenaseuee e esennt st ene st smesn e s e smmns o eaeenaneceeat e ara 1,278 5 2,015 s 993

The notes to the consolidated financial stalements dre an inlegral parl of these statermenis.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the three years ended June 30, 2006

{US$ millions)
2006 2005 2004
NBEINCOMIB ...ttt e et eh e e s e e seaeaneons e 1,278 $ 2,015 993
Other comprehansive loss
Reclassification to net income of net interest accruals on swaps in
cash flow hedging relationships at June 30, 2000 ... iierre e - (1) {2)
Total comprehensive income ... i e 1,278 5. 2014 8 991

Tha notas lo the consolidalad financial slalements are an inlegral pari of these stalements,
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL

for the three years ended June 30, 2006

(US$ millions)

Retained earnings

Designated
for technical Accumulated
assistance  Designated for other
and advisory  performance- Designated for comprehensive  Capital Total
Lndesignated _ services baged grapts ~ _grants to IDA Total income stock’ capital
AtJuly1,2003 ................. $ 4425 § - 8 -8 -$ 4425 % 485 2360 8 6,789 |
Year ended June 30, 2004
Netincame ..................c. 993 993 993
Other comprehensive
INCOMmE {I0SS) ... eoeeens . {2} {2)

Cesignations for technical

assistance and advisory

services - Note K......... (225) 225 -
Payments received on

account of pending

subscriptions............ 1 1
Payments received for

capital stock

subscribed.................... 1 1

AtJune 30,2004 ............_.. 5,193 225 - - 548 2 2,362 1,782

Year ended June 30, 2005

Netincome .................. 2,015 2,015 2,015
Expenditures for technical

assistance and advisory

services -Note M......... 38 (38) - -
Other comprehensive

income (loss) ... ) (1
Designations for technical

assistance and advisary

services - Note K......... {125) 125 - -
Designations for

perfarmance-based

grams - Note K.......... {250) 250
Payments received for

capital stock

subscribed................... 2 2

AtJune 30,2005 ............... 6,871 312 250 - 7433 1 2,364 9,798 |

Year ended June 30, 2006
Netincome ............c..e.... 1,278 1,278 1,278
Expenditures for technical
assistance and advisory

services - NoteM.......... 55 {55) - -
Expenditures for
performance-based
grants —Note N ........... 35 (35) -

Designated for technical
assistance and advisory

services - Note K.......... (230) 230 -
Designated for grants
toIDA—Note K.......... (150 150 - - -
At June 30, 2006 ............... $ 7859 § 447 § 215 § 150 8714 § 1§ 2364 % 11076

1 Capital stock indudes payments received on account of pending subseriptions.

The noiles lo the consolidated financial statemenis are an integral part of these statements.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the three years ended June 30, 2006

(US$ millions)
2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from loans and equity investment activities
LOBN dISDUISEMENES ....vcvrcieiiisisevececreee s s iessss s e eocaceans s sssronsass s s e s s s smnannns enmss B (3.717) 5 (2,868} $ {2,684)
Equity disbursements . . {711) {588} (468)
Loan repayments ....... 2,752 2,283 1,935
Equity redemgptions ............. 2 29 4
Sales of loans and equity |nve51ments 1,456 1,338 975
Net cash {used in} providad by investing activities ...............cccoverrrineees {218) 194 {238)
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown Of DOMOWINGS ....occvreerrirrcernrracreccisresrs s e ssrrssrssras s ssssserses essnessesasenssnas 1,818 1,989 3,047
Repayment of bomowings . . {2,611) (2,497) (3,136)
Capital SUDSCHPLIONS ...t veer et s e e e v mrer s s e e e seeeren sescesrasesvesens - 2 1
Net cash used in financing activitles ... e (795} {5086} (88)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income . - 1,278 2,015 993
Adjustments 10 reooncﬂe nel income to net cash prov;ded by oparatlng actwmes
Realized capital gains on equity sales .. erearra et vt et eeeaen (928) (723) (386)
Income from LLPs, certain LLCs and other |nvestmenls
accounted for under the equity method .. (56) (191) -
Equity investment impairment wnte-downs 57 62 -
Provision for (release of provision for) Iosses on Ioans and gua rantees.. 15 (261) (103)
Changes in carrying value of equity investments .. - (269) (69)
Translation adjustiments, net . (6) 7 {4)
Net losses (gains) on non- !radlng flnanclal mstruments 131 (62) (11)
Change in accrued income on loans, time deposits and securmes (150) (470} {228)
Change in payables and other liabilities _.............coiireees 431) 459 (733)
Change in receivables and ofher 8SSetS ... e csiercee s en (168) (797) 1,023
Change in trading securities and securities purchased and sqld under
resale and repurchase agreemMents.. ... e s 2,416 51 (69}
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ... 2,158 (179} 413
Change in cash and cash @QUIVAIBNLS ......cco oo e s s erre e enr e e 1,145 {491) 87
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ... 35 (32) {12)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . " 1,180 (523) 75
Beginning cash and cash equivalents ... e 1,938 2,461 2,386
Ending cash and cash eguivalents ..., . 3,118 § 1,938 s 2461
Composition of cash and cash equivalents
DUE fTOM DBNKS ...oveeeereririieresirsrrsrsisrcsnarrsssss s sssssssssssnssasesnsssssssassrmssnssarasor srenseresssnes 9 159 3 139 g 74
TIME GEPOSIES «ovvveceeciiriictsirressssee st ers s se s ass e s st s s s s s svssare s b aa s bna e et s assesbs shesrsurasaesasenss 2,959 1.799 2,387
Total cash and cash equivalents ............coviinimmnicve v e 3,118 5 1938 5 2461
Supptemental disclosure
Change in ending balances resulung fram exchange rate fluctuations:
LOANS OUISTANIAING ..o ieeceereecrienreetece st sueotseeeensontsesee s re s cmeaaae se s cnem s seesnnecnt et nee sanene (49) 3 {9) $ 83
Bomowings - (355) (24) {765)
CUMBNCY SWBPS .o roe e eeceeeeee et e ecser s e cne e rme s e en e e em raa s s s err e ems s oo anmna (1 - -

The notes to the consolidated financial staterents are an integral par of thesa statements.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING POWER

as of June 30, 2006

(US$ thousands)
Capital stock Voting power Capital stock Vating powes

Amount Percent Number Percent Arnoun) Percent Number Parcent

Members paid of total ol voleg ol total paid of total ofvotes _ of lofal
Afgha_nistan - 111 ¢ 361 0.02 2,150 0.09 2400 0.10
Albania .. 1,302 0.06 1,552 0.06 135 0.0 385 0.02
Algeria 5621 0.24 5,871 0.24 71 . krd| 001
Angola ... 1,481 0.06 1,731 0.07 83 - ek v} 0.0
Antigua an 13 * 263 0.01 55 " 305 0.01
Argentina 38,129 1.61 38,379 1.59 2,341 010 2,591 0.1
Armenia . 992 0.04 1,242 0.05 2,139 0.06 389 0.10
Australia 47,329 2.00 47,579 1.98 536 0.02 788 0.03
Austria 19,741 0.84 19,5991 0.83 432 0.02 682 0.03
ij 2,367 0.10 2817 0.11 1,822 0.08 2,072 0.09

335 0.01 585 0.02 Malaysia . 15,222 064 15472 0.64

1,746 0.07 1,996 0.08 Maldives 16 ‘ 266 0.01

9,037 0.28 9,287 0.39 Mali .. 451 0.02 701 0.03

361 0.02 811 0.03 Malha ... 1615 0.07 1,865 0.08

5,162 0.22 5412 0.22 Marshall islands . 663 0.03 913 0.04

50,610 2.14 50,860 2.11 Mauritania .. 214 0.01 464 0.02

11 * 351 0.01 Mauritius . . 1,665 0.07 1,915 0.08

119 0.01 389 0.02 Mexico ... . 27,589 147 27,839 1.16

720 0.03 970 0.04 Micronesia, Fed. States of, 744 0.03 994 0.04

1,902 0.08 2,152 0.09 Moldova .. . 784 0.03 1,034 0.04

620 0.03 870 0.04 Mongolia . 144 0.01 e} 0.02

113 - 63 0.02 Morocco .. 9,037 0.38 9,267 0.39

39,479 1.67 39,729 1.85 322 0.01 572 0.02

4,867 0.21 5117 0.21 666 0.03 916 004

836 0.04 1,086 0.05 404 0.02 554 0.03

100 " 350 0.01 822 0.03 1,072 0.04

339 0.01 589 0.02 56,131 237 58,381 234

885 0.04 1,135 0.05 3,583 015 Rk <) 0.18

81,342 3.44 81,592 3.39 15 0.03 965 0.04

15 - 265 0.01 147 0.01 397 0.02

19 0.0 369 0.02 21,543 0.92 21,893 0.91

had 1,364 0.06 1614 0.07 17,599 D74 7.845 0.74
[ 11,710 0.50 11,960 0.50 187 0.05 1,437 0.08

i 24,500 1.04 24,750 1.03 19,380 0.82 19,630 0.82

i 12,606 0.53 12,856 0.53 25 - 275 0.01
Comoas ... 14 R 264 0.01 1,007 0.04 1,257 005
Congo, Dem. Rep. of 2,158 0.09 2,408 0.10 1,147 008 1,397 0.06
o, Republic of .. 131 0.01 as 0.02 436 0.02 686 0.03
Costa Rica ... 952 0.04 1,202 0.05 6,898 0.25 7.148 0.30
Céte divoire . 3,544 0.15 3,794 0.16 2,606 053 12,856 0.53
Croatia ... 2,882 0.12 3,132 0.13 7,236 0. 486 0.31
Cyprus .. 2,139 0.09 389 0.10 8,324 0.36 8,574 0.36
CZzech Republic 803 0.38 163 0.38 2,661 0.1 2911 0.12
Dermark 18,554 0.78 18,804 0.78 81,342 344 B1,582 3.39
Djibouti ., 21 * 211 0.01 308 0.01 5568 0.02
Dominica ... 42 N 292 0.01 838 0.03 BB8 0.04
Dominican Republic 1,187 0.05% 1,437 0.06 74 - 324 0.01
Ecuador ..o 2,161 0.09 411 0.10 35 - 285 0.01
Ei;gpt, Arab Republic 12,360 0.52 12,610 0.52 30,062 1.27 30,312 1.26
El Salvador 29 . 279 0.01 2,299 Q.10 549 0.11
Equatorial G 43 - 293 0.01 1,803 0.08 2,053 0.09
935 0.04 1,185 0.05 27 . 277 0.01

1,434 0.06 1,684 0.07 223 0.01 473 0.02

127 0.01 377 0.02 177 0.01 427 0.02

287 0.01 537 0.02 4,457 016 4,707 0.20

15,697 0.66 15,847 0.66 1,585 0.07 B35 D.08

121,156 512 121,265 5.04 37 . 287 0.01

1,268 0.05 518 0.06 Somalia ... 83 ‘ 3 .01

94 . 344 0.01 Sou,ch Africa 15,948 067 16,198 0867

861 0.04 1,111 0.05 Spain ...... 37,026 1.57 37,276 1.55

128,908 545 129,158 536 i |.anka ,135 0.30 7,385 0.31

5,07t 0.1 53 0.22 ucan ... 111 ' 361 0.02

6,898 0.29 7,148 0.30 azilang 684 003 9M 0.04

74 - 324 0.0 1. 26,876 1.14 27128 1.12

1,064 0.05 1334 0.06 Swizerdand ... 41,580 1.76 41,830 174

339 0.0 589 0.02 Syrlan Arab Republic " 194 0.01 444 0.02

18 - 268 0.01 Tajikistan ... 1,212 0.05 1,462 0.06

1,392 0.06 1,642 0.07 Tanzania . 1,003 0.04 1,253 0.05

822 0.03 1072 0.04 Thailand ., 10,941 046 11,191 0.46

495 0.02 145 0.02 Timard.este 77T 0.03 027 0.04

10,932 0.46 11,182 0.46 Togo ... 808 0.03 1,058 0.04

42 N 292 0.01 Tonga .. 34 " 264 0.01

81,342 344 81592 3.39 Trinfdad 4,112 0.17 4,362 0.18

28,539 1.1 28,789 1,20 Tunisia 3,566 .15 3,816 0.16

A44 0.06 1,694 0.07 Turksey . 14,545 0.62 14,795 0.61

147 0.0 397 0.02 Turkmen| B10 0.03 060 0.04

1,290 0.05 1,540 0.06 Ligarda 735 0.03 985 0.04

138 0.09 2,385 0.10 Uwrgine ... 9,505 0.40 8,755 0.41

81,342 3.44 81,592 3.39 Linited Arab Emirates 4,033 017 4,283 0.18

4,282 0.18 4532 0.19 Unitad Kingdom . 121,015 512 121,265 5.04

141,174 597 141,424 5.87 Urited Stales . 9,37 24.09 589,629 2385

941 0.54 1,191 0.05 Lnuguay ... 569 015 3,819 0.16

4,637 0.20 B87 0.20 Uzhakdstan . 3,873 018 123 017

enya, 4,041 0.17 4,291 0.18 Varuaty ... . 55 ! 305 0.01
Kiribati ... 12 - 262 0.01 Vverezuela, Rep. Boliv. de 27 588 147 27,828 1.16
Korea, Repubtic of 15,948 0.87 16,196 0.67 ViIgInAm .o 446 0.02 696 0.03
Kuwalt .....oeen 947 0.42 197 0.42 Yeman, Republic of ., 715 0.03 965 0.04
Kyrgxg Republic 1,720 0.07 870 0.08 Zombia ... 1,286 0.05 1,536 0.06
Lao People's Dsm. Rep. ... 278 0.1 528 0.02 Zimbabwea .. 2,120 009 2370 0.10
Total June 30, 2006 §, 2383891 10000+ Z4DRASY _ 10000«
Total June 30, 2005 5. 2363891 10000+ 2408391 10000+

* Less than .005 percent.

+ May differ from the sum of the individual percentages shown because of rounding.

The notes 1o the consolidated financial staternents are an integral pant of these statements.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PURPOSE

The International Finance Corporation (IFC or the Corporation), an intemational organization, was established in 1956 to further economic
development in its member countries by encouraging the growth of private enterprise. The Corporation is a member of the Warld Bank Group,
which also includes the Intermnational Bank for Recanstruction and Development {IBRD), the International Development Association ({DA), and
the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency {MIGA). The Corparation's activities are closely coordinated with and complement the overall
development objectives of the other World Bank Group institutions. The Corporation, together with private investors, assists in financing the
establishment, improvement, and expansion of private sector enterprises by making loans and equity investments where sufficient private capital
is not otherwise available on reasonable terms. The Corporation's share capital is provided by its member countries. M raises most of the funds
for its investment aclivities through the issuance of notes, bonds, and other debt securities in the international capital markets. The Corporation
also plays a catalytic role in mobilizing additional project funding from other investors and lenders, either through cofinancing or through loan
participations, underwritings, and guarantees. [n addition to projsct finance and resource mobilization, the Corporation offers an array of
financial and technical advisory services to private businesses in the developing world to increase their chances of success. It also advises
governmenis on how 1o create an environment hospitable 1o the grawth of private enterprise and foreign investment.

NOTE A ~ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND RELATED POLICIES

The cansolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Corporation and four Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) (see Note W).
The accounting and reporting policies of the Corporation conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(US GAAP). On August 7, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the Board) approved these consolidated financial statements for
issue.

Consolidated financial statements presentation - Certain amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation.

Use of estimates - The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reperted amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consoiidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expense during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. A
significant degree of judgment has been used in the determination of: the adequacy of the reserve against lesses on loans and impaiment of
equity investments; estimated fair values of all derivative instruments and related financial instuments in qualifying hedging relationships; and
net periodic pension income. There are inhereni risks and uncertainties related to the Corporation's operations. The possibility exists that
changing economic conditions could have an adverse effect on the financial position of the Carporation.

The Corporation uses intemal models to determine the fair values of derivative and other financial instruments and the aggregate level of the
resarve against losses an loans and impairment of equity investments. The Corporation undertakes continuous review and respecification of
these models with the cbjective of refining its estimates, consistent with evolving best market practices. Changes in estimales resulting from
refinements in the assumptions and methodologies incorporated in the models are reflected in net income in the period in which the enhanced
meodels are first applied.

Translation of currencias - Assets and liabilities not denominated in United States dollars {US dollars or $), other than disbursed equity
investments, are expressed in US dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005. Disbursed equity investments
are axpressed in US dollars at the pravailing exchange rates at the time of disbursement. Income and expenses are translated at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Translation gains and losses are credited or charged to income.

Loans - The Corparation originates loans to facilitate project finance, restructuring, refinancing, corperate finance, and/or developmental impact.
Loans are recorded as assets when disbursed. Loans are carried at the principal amounts outstanding. Where loans are part of a designated
hedging relationship employing derivative instruments, the carrying value is adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being
hedged. These adjustments are reported in net gains and losses on non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated income statement. It
is the Corporation's practice to obtain collateral security such as, but not limited to, mortgages and third-party guarantees.

Revenue recognition on loans - Interest income and commitment fees on loans are recorded as income on an accrual basis. Beginning in the
year ended June 30, 2008, the Corporation began amortizing net loan arigination costs and fees over the estimated life of the originated loan to
which the fees relate. Prior to the year ended June 30, 2006, loan origination costs were expensed as incurred, and loan origination fees were
recognized in income when received. The net of foan origination fees and loan origination costs was considered insignificant. All other fees are
recorded as income when received in freely convertible currencies.

The Corporation does not recognize income on loans where collectibility is in doubt or payments of intarest or principal are past due more than
60 days unless management anticipates that collection of interest will occur in the near future. Any interest accrued on a loan placed in
nonaccrual status is reversed out of income and is thereafter recognized as income anly when the actual payment is received. Interest not
previously recognized but capitalized as past of & debt resiructuring is recorded as deferred income, included in the consolidated balance sheet
in payables and other {iabilities, and credited to income only when the related principal is received. Such capitalized interast is considered in the
computation of the reserve against losses on loans and equity investments in the consolidated balance sheet.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reserve against losses on loans - The Corporation recognizes porfolic impairment on ioans in the consolidated balance sheet through the
reserve against losses on loans, recording a provision or release af provision for losses on loans in net income on a quarterly basis, which
increases or decreases the reserve against losses on loans.

Management determines the aggregate level of the reserve against losses on loans, taking inlo account established guidelines and its
assessment of recent portfolio quality trends. The guidelines comprise simulation techniques, internal country risk ratings and the impairment
potential of the loan portfolio based on the Corporation’s historical portfolio write-off and loss reserve experience on mature investments.

The reserve against losses on loans reflects estimates of both probable losses afready identified and probable losses inherent in the portfolio but
no! specifically identifiable. The determination of identified probable losses represents management's judgment of the creditworthiness of the
borrower and is established through review of individual loans undertaken on a quarterly basis. The Corporation considers a loan as impaired
when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Carporation will be unable 1o collect all amounts due according to the
loan's contractuat terms. Unidentified probable losses are the aggregate probable losses over a one-year risk horizon, in excess of identified
probable losses. The risks inherent in the portfolio that are considered in determining unidentified probable losses are those proven to exist by
past experience and include: country systemic risk; the risk of correlation or contagion of losses betwean markets; uninsured and uninsurable
risks: nonperformance under guarantees and suppon agreements; and opacity of, or misrepresentation in, financial statements,

Loans are written-off when the Corporation has exhausted all possible means of recovery, by reducing the reserve against losses on loans.
Such reductions in the reserve are offset by recoveries associated with previously wiitten-off loans.

Equity investments - The Corporation invests for cument income, capital appreciation, developmental impact, or all three; the Corporation does
not seek to take operational, controlling, or sirategic equity positions within its investees. Equity investments are acquired through direct
ownership of equity instruments of invesieas, as a limited partner in limited liability partnerships (LLPs) and limited liability companies {LLCs),
and/or as an investor in a private equity fund.

Revenue recognition on equity investments - Direct equity investments in which the Corporation does not have significant influence and
certain investments in investment companies are carried at cost less impairment, The Corporation’s investments in companies where it has
significant influence and cerlain investments in LLPs and LLCs that maintain specific ownership accounts are accounted for under the equity
method. The Corporation's investments in certain private equity funds in which IFC is deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary of a VIE as the
presumption of control by the fund manager or the general partner has been overcoms are fully consolidated into the Corporation's books.
Certain equity investments, for which recovery of invested capital is unceriain, are accounted for under the cost recovery method, such that
receipts of freely convertible currencies are first apptied to recovery of invested capitaf and then to capital gains. The cost recovery method is
principally applied to the Corporation's investment in its il and gas unincorporated joint ventures (UJVs). Conditional asset retirement
obligations related to investments in UJVs are recorded when the fair value of the obligations can be reasonably estimated. The obligations
are capitalized and systemically amortized aver the estimated economic useful lives.

Dividends and profit participations received on cost method equity investments are generally recorded as income when received in freely
converible currencies. Realized capital gains on the sale or redemption of equity investments are measured against the average cost of the
investments sold and are generally recorded as income when received in freely convertible curnencies or securities, which are readily convertible
into freely convertible currencies. Capital losses are recognized when incurred.

The Comporation enters into put and call option agreements in connection with equity investments; these are accounted for in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {SFAS) No. 133.

Impainment of equity investments - Equity investments are assessed for impairment each quarter. When an impairment is identified and is
deemed to be other than temporary, the equity investment is written down to the impaired value, which becomes the new cost basis in the equity
investment. Impairment losses are not reversed for subsequent recoveries in value of the equity investment until it is sold.

Guarantees - The Corporation extends financial guarantee facilities to its clients to provide credit enhancement for their debt securities and
trade obligations. Beginning in the year ended June 30, 2001, the Comaration began offering partial credit guarantees to clients covering, on a
risk-sharing basis, client obligations on bonds and/or loans. Under the terms of the Corporation’s guaraniees, the Corporation agrees to assume
responsibility for the client’s financial ebligations in the event of default by the client {i.e., failure to pay when payment is due). Guarantees are
regarded as issued when the Corporation commits to the guarantee. Guarantees are regarded as outstanding when the underlying financial
obligation of the client is incurred, and this date is considered to be the “inceplion” of the guarantee. Guarantees are regarded as called when
the Corporation’s obligation under the guarantee has been invoked. There are two liabilities associated with the guarantees: (1) the stand-ready
obligation to perform and (2) the contingent liability. The stand-ready obligation to perform is recognized at the outstanding date unless a
contingent liability exists at that time or is expected to exist in the near term. The contingent liability associated with the financiat guarantees is
recognized when it is probable the guarantee will be called and when the amount of guarantee called can be reasonably estimated. All liabilties
associated with guarantees are included in payables and other liabilties, and the receivables are included in other assets on the consolidated
batance sheet. When the guarantees are called, the amount disbursed is recorded as a new loan, and specific reserves are established, based
on the estimated probable loss. These reserves are included in the reserve against losses on loans on the consolidated balance sheet.
Guaraniee fees are recorded In income as the stand-ready obligation 1o perform is fulfiled. Commitment fees on guarantees are recorded as
incame an an accrual basis.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Designations of retained earmnings - In the year ended June 30, 2004, IFC established a funding mechanism for technical assistance and
advisory services {TAAS) through a designation of retained earnings. In the year ended June 30, 2005, the Corporation established a funding
mechanism for performance-based grants (PBG) through a designation of retained earnings. Further, in the year ended June 30, 2006, the
Corporation also designated retained earnings for grants to IDA for use by iDA in the provision of grants to further IFC's mandates in certain
IDA member countries. Total designations of retained eamings for TAAS, PBG, and grants to {DA are determined based on the Corporation's
annual income befora expenditures for TAAS, expenditures for PBG, and net (losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments in excess of
$150 million, and contemplating the financial capacity and priarities of the Corporation. Expenditures for TAAS, PBG, and grants to IDA are
recorded as expenses in the Corporation’s consolidated income statement in the year in which they occur, also having the effect of reducing
the respective designated retained earnings for such purposes.

Expenditures are deemed to have occurred when IFC has ceded control of the funds 1o the recipient. If the recipient organization is deemed,
in accardance with US GAAP, to be controlled by IFC, the expenditure is deemed to have occurred only when the recipient organization
expends the funds lo a non-related party. On gccasion, recipient organizations which are deemed to be controlled by the Corporation witl
acquire certain investment assets other than cash. These investments have had no material impact on the Corporation's financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows. In such cases, the Corparation includes those assets on its consolidated balance sheet, where they
remain until tha recipient organization disposes of or transfers the asset or the Carporation is deemed 1o no longer be in contro! of the recipient
organization.

Liquid asset portfolio - The Corporation's liquid funds are invested in govemment and agency obligations, time deposits and asset-backed
securities. Government and agency obligations inctude long and short positions in highly rated fixed rate bonds, notes, bills, and other
obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by governments of countries or other official entities including government agencies and
instrumentalities or by multilateral organizations. The liquid assat portfolio, as defined by the Corporation, consists of: time deposits and
securities; related derivative instruments; securities purchased under resale agreements, securilies sold under repurchase agreements and
payabie for cash collateral received; receivables from sales of securities and payables far purchases of securities; and related accrued income
and charges.

Trading securities are carried at fair value with any changes in fair value reported in income from liquid asset trading activities. Interest on
securities and amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are also reported in income from liquid asset trading activities.

The Corporalion ctassifies due from banks and time deposits (collectively, cash and cash equivalents) as an element of liquidity in the statement
of consolidated cash flows because they are readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days.

Repurchase and resale agreements - Repurchase agreements are contracts under which a party sells securities and simultaneously agrees to
repurchase the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price. Resale agreements are contracts under which a party purchases
securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price.

It is the Comomtion's policy to take possession of securities purchased under resale agreemenits, which are primarily liguid government
securities. The market value of these securities is monitorad and, within parameters defined in the agreements, additional collateral is obtained
when their value declines. The Corporation alse monitors its exposure with respect to securities sold under repurchase agreements and, in
accordance with the terms of the agreements, requests the return of excess securities held by the counterparty when their value increases.

Repurchase and resale agreements are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions and recorded at the amount at which the
securities were acquired or sold plus accrued interest. Securities purchased under resale agreements, securities sold under agreements to
repurchasa and securities payable for cash collateral received are recorded at fair value.

Borrowings - To diversify its access to funding and reduce its borrowing costs, the Corporation borrows in a variety of currencies and uses a
number of borrowing structures, including foreign exchange rate-linked, inverse floating rate and zero coupon notes. Generally, the Corporation
simultaneously converts such berrowings into variable rate US dollar borrowings through the use of currency and interest rate swap
transactions. Under certain outstanding borrowing agreements, the Corporation is not permitied to mortgage or allow a lien to be placed on its
assels (other than purchase money security interests) without extending equivalent security to the holders of such borrowings.

Bormrowings are recorded at the amount repayable at maturity, adjusted for unamortized premium and unaccreted discount. Where borrowings
are part of a designated hedging relationship employing derivative instruments, the carmying amount is adjustad for changes in fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged. Adjustments for changes in fair value attributable to hedged risks are reported in net gains and losses on
non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated income statement. Interest on borrowings and amortization of premiums and aceretion of
discounts are reported in charges on borrowings.

Risk management, derivative instruments, and hedge accounting - The Corporation enters into transactions in various derivative
instruments for financial isk management purposes in connection with its principal business activities, including lending, client risk management,
borrowing, liquid asset portfolio management and asset and liability management. The Corporation does not use derivatives for speculative,
marketing or merchandising purposes.

All derivative instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value as derivative assets or derivative liabilities. Where they
are not clearly and closely related to the host contradt, certain darivative instruments embedded in loans, equity investments, and market
borrowing transactions entered into on or after January 1, 1999, are bifurcated from the host contract and recorded at fair value as derivative
assets and liabilities. The value at inception of such embedded derivatives is excluded from the carrying value of the host contracts on the
consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair values of derivative instruments used in liquid assel portfolio management activities are recorded in
income from liquid asset trading activities. Changes in fair values of derivative instruments other than those used in liquid asset portfolio
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management activities are recorded in net {|osses) gains on non-trading financial instruments.

Subject to certain specific gualifying conditions in SFAS No. 133, a derivative instrument may be designated either as a hedge of the fair value
of an asset or liability (fair valus hedge), or as a hedge of the variability of cash flows of an asset or liability or forecasted transaction {cash fiow
hedge). For a derivative instrument qualifying as a fair vatue hedge, fair value gains or losses on the derivative instrument are reported in net
incame, together with offsetting fair value gains or losses on the hedged ftem that are attributable to the risk being hedged. For a derivative
instrument qualitying as a cash flow hedge, fair value gains or losses associated with the risk being hedged are reported in other comprehensive
income and released to net income in the period(s) in which the effect on net income of the hedged item is recorded. Fair value gains and
losses on a derivative instrument not qualifying as a hedge are reported in net gains and losses on non-trading financial instruments.

The Corporation has designated certain hedging refationships in its borrowing and lending activities as fair value hedges. The Corporation
generally matches the terms of ils derivatives with the tarms of the specific underlying financial instruments hedged, in temms of cumencies,
maturity dates, reset dates, interest rates, and other features. However, the valuation methodologies applied to the derivative and the hedged
financial instrument, as prescribed by SFAS No. 133, may differ. The resulting ineffectiveness calculated for such relationships is recorded in
net gains and losses on non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated income statement.

The Corporation has not designated any hedging retationships as cash flow hedges.

The risk management policy for each of the Corporation's principal business activities and the accounting policies particular to them are
described below.

Lending activities The Corporation's policy is to closely match the currency, rate basis, and maturity of its loans and borrowings. Derivative
instruments are used to convert the cash flows from fixed rate US dollar or non-US dollar loans into variable rate US dollars. The impact on net
income of changes in fair value of interest rate swaps qualifying for the shortcut method under SFAS No. 133 is exaclly offset by a
comesponding adjustment to the fair value of the related loans. The Corporation has elected not to designate hedging relationships for all other
lending-retated derivatives that da not qualify for the shortcut methed.

Client risk management activities The Corparation enters into derivatives transactions with its clients to help them hedge their own currency,
interest rate, or commodity risk, which, in tum, improves the overall quality of the Corporation’s foan portfolio. To hedge the market risks that
arise from these transactions with clients, the Corporation enters into offselting derivative transactions with matching terms with authorized
market counterparties. Changes in fair value of all derivatives associated with these activities are reflected currently in net income. Though
hedge accounting is not applicable to these activities, the matching of terms between the offsetting transactions minimizes tha impact an net
income. Fees and spreads charged on these transactions are recorded as income on an accrual basis.

Borrowing activities The Corporation issues debt securities in various capital markefs with the abjectives of minimizing its borrowing costs,
diversifying funding sources, and developing member counties’ capital markets, sometimes using complex structures. These structures include
borrowings payable in multiple currencies, or borrowings with principal and/or interest determined by reference to a specified index such as a
stock market index, a refarence interest rate, a commodity index, or one or more foreign exchange rates. The Corporation uses derivative
instruments with matching terms, primarily currency and interest rate swaps, to convert such borrowings into variable rate US dollar obligations,
consistent with the Carporation’s matched funding policy. The Corporation has designated the majority of derivatives associated with borrowing
activities as fair value hedges of the underlying borrowings. There are a small number of cash flow-like hedging transactions for which no hedge
relationship has been designated.

Liquid asset pertfolio management aclivities The Corporation manages the interest rate, currency and other market risks associated with certain
of the time deposits and securities in its liquid asset portfolio by entering into derivative transactions to convert the cash flows from those
instruments into variable rate US dollars, consistent with the Corporation’s matched funding policy. The derivative instruments used include
short-term, over-the-counter foreign exchange forwards {covered forwards), interest rate and currency swaps, and exchange-traded interest rate
futures and options. As the entire liquid asset portfolio is classified as a trading portfolio, all securities (including derivatives) are carred at fair
value, and no hedging relationships have been designated.

Asset and liability management In addition to the risk managed in the context of its business activities detailed above, the Corporation faces
residual market risk in ils overall asset and liability management. Residual currency risk is managed by monitoring the aggregate position in
each lending currency and eliminating the net excess asset or liability position thraugh spot sales or purchases. Interest rate risk due to reset
date mismatches is reduced by synchronizing the reset dates on assets and liabilities and managing overall interest rate risk on an aggregate
basis. Interest rate risk arising from mismatches due to writedowns, prepayments and reschedulings, and residual reset date mismatches, is
monitored by measuring the sensitivity of the present value of assets and liabllities in each currency to each basis point change in interest rates.

The Corporation monitars the credit risk associated with these activities by careful assessment and manitoring of prospective and actual clients
and counterparties. In respect of liquid assets and derivatives transactions, credit risk is managed by establishing exposure limits based on the
credit rating and size of the individual counterpady. In addition, the Corporation has entered into master agreements governing derivative
transactions that contain close-out and netting provisions and collateral arrangements. Under these agreements, if the Corporation’s credit
exposure 10 a counterparty, on a mark-to-market basis, exceeds a specified level, the counterparty must post collateral 1o cover the excess,
generally in the form of liguid government securities.
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Resource mobilization - The Comoration mobilizes funds from commercial banks and other financial institutions (Participants) by facilitating
loan participations, without recourse. These loan paricipations are administered and serviced by the Corporation on behalf of the Participants.
Loan participations serving as collateral under secured borrowing arrangements are included in loans on the Corporation’s consolidated balance
sheet with the related secured bommowing included in liabilities on ithe Comporation’s consclidated balance sheet. The disbursed and cutstanding
hatances of the loan participations that are considered sales are not included in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet.

Pension and other postretirement henefits - |IBRD has a defined benefit Staff Retirement Plan (SRP), a Retired Staff Benefits Ptan (RSBP)
and a Post-Employment Benefits Plan (PEBP) that cover substantially all of its staff members as well as the staff of the Corporation and of
MIGA.

The SRP provides regular pension benefits and includes a cash balance plan. The RSBP provides certain health and life insurance benefits to
eligible retirees. The PEBP provides pension benefits administered outside the SRP. All costs associated with these plans are allocated
between IBRD, the Corporation, and MIGA based upon their employees’ respective participation in the plans. In addition, the Corporation and
MIGA reimburse IBRD for their share of any contributions made to these plans by IBRD.

The net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit income or expense allocated to the Corporation is included in expense from pension
and othar postretirement benefits in the consolidated income statement. The Corporation includes a receivable from IBRD in receivables and
other assets, representing prepaid pension and other postretirement benefit costs.

Variable interast Entities - In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46,
Consolidation of Variable Interes! Entifies - an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46}, During December 2003, FASB replaced FIN 46 with
FASB Interpretation No. 48, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46R). FIN 46 and FIN 46R define
certain VIEs and require parties to such entities to assess and measure variable interests in the VIEs for the purpose of determining possible
consalidation of the VIEs. Variable interests can arise from financial instruments, service contracts, guarantees, leases or other arrangements
with VIE. An entity that will absorb a majority of VIE's expected losses or expected residual retums is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of
the VIE and must include the assets, liabilities, and results of aperations of the VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

The Corporation has a number of investments in VIEs which it manages and supervises in a manner consistent with other porfolio
investments. Nole W provides further details regarding the Corporation’s variable interests in VIEs.

Accounting and financial reporting developmsants - During the year ended June 30, 2006, the Corporation changed its accounting principle
with respect to the amortization of loan origination fees and loan arigination costs. Prior to the year ended June 30, 2006, the net of loan
origination fees and costs was considered to be insignificant. Beginning in year ended June 30, 2006, the Corporation began amortizing loan
origination fees and costs on an effective yield basis.

The FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Eror Carrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASE Statement No.3.
The Corporation early adopted SFAS No. 154 as of July 1, 2005. The adoption had no material impact on the Corporation’s financial position,
resulls of operations or cash flows.

The FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Cenditional Asset Retirement Obligations - an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 143 (FIN 47). The Corporation adopted FIN 47 as of June 30, 2006 and has accrued a liability for its estimated conditional asset retirement
obligations in four oil and gas UJVs.

The US Accounting Standards Executive Committee issued, and the FASB ratified, Statement of Position (SOP) 03-3, Accounting for Certain
Loans or Debt Securities Aoquired in a Transfer (SOP 03-3). The Corpaoration adopted SOP 03-3 as of July 1, 2005, and the adoption had no
material impact on the Corporation’s financial position, results of aperations or cash flows.

During the year ended June 30, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid instruments - an amendment of FASB
Statements Nos. 133 and 140 (SFAS No. 155) and SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets - an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 7140 (SFAS No. 156). Bath SFAS No. 155 and SFAS No. 156 are effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006,
which would be the year ending June 30, 2008 for IFC, The Corporation is presently assessing the possible impact of SFAS No. 155 and
SFAS No. 156.

I addition, during the year ended June 30, 2006, the FASB issued and/or approved various FASB Staff Positions, EITF Issues Notes, and other

interpretative guidance related to Statements of Financial Accounting Standards and APB Opinions. The Corporation analyzed and implemented
the new guidance, as appropriate, with ng material impact on either the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Corporation.
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NOTE B - LIQUID ASSET PORTFOLIO

The composition of the Corporation’s liquid asset portfolio is included in the consolidated balance sheet captions as follows {US$ millions):

June 30, 2006

June 30, 2005

Assets
Cash and due from banks
Time deposits
Trading securities
Securities purchased under resale agreements
Receivables and other assets:
Receivables from sales of securities
Accrued interest income on time deposits and securities
Accrued income on derivative instruments
Derivative assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Payables and other liabilities:
Due to banks
Payables for purchases of securities
Accrued charges on derivative instruments
Securities sold under repurchase agreemeants and
payable for cash collateral received
Derivative liabilities
Total liabilities

Totatl net liquid asset portfolio

reprices within one year.
Trading securities

The composition of trading securities is as follows:

$

2,91
16,286
1,190

1,466
1,226
37

23,305

————

12
1,352
62

8,805
344
10,575

———

& 12730

The liquid asset portfolio is denominated primarity in US dollars; investments in other currencies, net of the effect of associated derivative
instruments that convert non-US dollar securities into US dollar securities, represent less than 1% of the partfolio at June 30, 2006 {less than
1% - June 30, 2005). The annualized rate of retum on the trading portfolio during the year ended June 30, 2006, was 3.6% (2.6% - year ended
June 30, 2005; 1.4% - year ended June 30, 2004). After the effect of associated derivative instruments, the liquid asset portfolio generally

$ 56
1,720

14,561

6,282

1,330
1,116
42
151

25,258

1,769
110

9,321
733

11,933

S 13325

Year ended
June 30, 2008 At June 30, 2008
Fair value
average Average
daily balance Fair value maturity Average
(US$ millions) {USS mitlions) {years) yield {%)
Government and agency obligations $ 9,604 $ 10,182 48 39
Asset-backed securities 4,554 4,467 27.0 56
Corporate securities 1.819 1,318 27 48
Money market funds 307 319 - 52
Total trading securities -] 16,284 & __ 16,286
Year ended
June 30, 2005 Al June 30, 2005
Fair value
average Average
daily balance Fair value maturity Average
{US$ millionis) {US$ millions) {years) yield (%)
Government and agency cbligations $ 7,716 $ 7,923 3.4 39
Asset-backed securities 3,518 4,220 242 39
Corporate securities 2,756 2,300 3.9 4.4
Money market funds * 367 118 - 286
Total trading securities § 14357 8 14561

The expected maturity of the asset-backed securities will differ from the contractual maturity, as reported above, due to prepayment features.
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Income from liguid asset trading actlvities

Income from liquid asset trading activities for the years ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004 comprises (US$ millions):

20086 2005 2004

Interest income 5 673 $ 533 $ 278
Net (losses) gains on trading activities:

Realized 72 (80) (38)

Unrealized (302) {95) (66)

Net (losses) gains on trading activities (230) (175) {104}

Translation adjustments 1 - 3
Total income from liquid asset trading activities 444 8 308 -] 17T
Collateral

The estimated fair value of securities held by the Corporation at June 30, 2006 as collateral, in connection with derivatives transactions and

purchase and resale agreements, that may be sold or repledged was $1,313 million ($6,740 million - June 30, 2005).

NOTE C - LOANS AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND RESERVE AGAINST LOSSES ON LOANS

The distribution of the disbursed portfolio by sector is as follows (US$ millions):

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Equity Equity
Loans vestmens Total Loans vestimenss Total
Finance and insurance § 3511 § 1018 § 4529 $ 2837 3% 845 $ 3482
Utilities 1,013 255 1,268 1,085 198 1,283
Qil, gas and mining 815 173 988 775 167 942
Transportation and warehousing 758 32 790 757 40 797
Industrial and consumer products : 671 83 754 723 66 789
Nonmetallic mineral product manufacturing 703 23 726 529 24 553
Information 463 148 611 450 119 579
Food and beverages 478 83 541 512 62 574
Chemicals 465 683 528 337 73 410
Collective investment vehicles 48 383 431 56 402 458
Agriculture and forestry 387 60 - 427 207 60 267
Wholesale and retail trade 348 48 386 336 63 399
Accommodation and tourism services 277 30 307 322 43 365
Paper and pulp 237 55 292 266 27 293
Primary metals 233 30 263 350 27 377
Textiles, apparel and leather 152 19 171 181 21 202
Plastics and rubber 52 44 96 93 52 145
Construction and real estate 69 1 70 142 7 149
Other 197 23 220 184 18 212
Total disbursed portfolio 10,857 2,551 13,408 9,962 2,314 12,276

Adjustments to investments accounted for under

the equity method - 255 255 - 19 191
Unrealized gains on equity investments held by

consolidated VIEs - 5 6 - -
Unamortized deferred loan origination fees, net (46} - (46} - - -
Fair value adjustments for loans in qualifying hedge

retationships & - & 11 - 11

Carrying value of loans and equity investments § 10817 § 2812 § 13,629 § 9973 §$..2505 S 12478
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The distribution of the disbursed loan and equity investment portfalio by geographical region is as fallows {US5 millions):

June 30, 2006 June 30 2005
Equity Equity
Loans vestments. Totat Loans vestmernts Total
Europe and Central Asia $ 3786 § 628 $ 4414 $ 2847 3 540 $ 3,387
Latin America and Caribbean 3,475 651 4,126 3,681 618 4,299
Asia 2,055 866 2921 1,922 737 2,659
Sub-Saharan Africa 792 188 980 677 186 863
Middle East and North Africa 726 125 851 672 107 779
Other 23 93 118 163 126 289
Total dishursed portfolio 10,857 2,551 13,408 9,962 2,314 12,276

Adjustments to investments accounted for under

the equity method - 255 255 - 191 19
Unrealized gains on equity investments held by

consclidated VIEs - 6 3] - -
Unamortized deferred loan origination fees, net (46) - (486) - -

Fair value adjustments for loans in qualifying hedge
relationships : 1

(] - 6 11
Carrying vaiue of loans and equity investments £.0817 8 2812 § 13629 § 90973 5 2500 §._12478

At June 30, 2008, 20% of the disbursed loan portfolic consisted of fixed rate lcans (16% - June 30, 2005), while the remainder was al variable
rates. At June 30, 2008, the disbursed loan portfalio included $88 million of loans serving as collateral under secured borrowing arrangements.

Loan portfolio

The currency composition and average yietd of the disbursed toan portfolio are summarized below:

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Amount Average Amount Average
{US $ millions} yield {%) (US $ million) yield (%)
US dollar $ 8,300 8.1 $ 8,074 6.6
Euro 1,498 5.3 1,193 48
Other currencies 1.059 8.1 695 8.8
Total disbursed loan portfolic 10,857 7.7 9,962 6.5
Unamortized deferred loan origination fees, net (46) -
Fair value adjustments for ioans in qualifying hedge
retationships 6 11
Carrying value of loans § 10837 S 9973

After the effect of interest rate and currency swaps, the Corporation's loans are principally denominated in US dollars.

Disbursed loans in all currencies are repayable during the years ending June 30, 2007 through June 30, 2011 and thereafier, as follows
{US$ millions):

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter  Total

Fixed rate loans 3 380 § 336 § 338 3 247 § 226 % 676 § 2203
Variable rate lcans 1,200 1,266 1.364 1153 1,056 2615 8,654
Total disbursed loan portfolio § 1580 § 1602 § 1,702 5 1400 5 1282 §__3.291 10,857
Unamortized deferred loan origination fees, net (48)
Fair value adjustments for loans in qualifying hedge
relationships 53
Carrying value of loans 5 10817

The Corporation’s disbursed variable rate loans generally reprice within one year.

Loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued amounted to $447 million at June 30, 2006 ($634 milion - June 30, 2005).
Interest income not recognized on nenaccruing loans during the year ended June 30, 2006 totaled $68 million ($58 million - year ended June 30,
2005; $82 million - year ended June 30, 2004}, Interest income recognized on toans in nonaccrual status, related 1o current and prior years,
during the year ended June 30, 2006 was $21 million (336 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $54 million - year ended June 30, 2004). The
average recorded investment in impaired loans during the year ended June 30, 2006, was $931 million {$1,486 million - year ended June 30,
2005}). The recorded investment in impaired loans at June 30, 2006 was $671 million ($1,191 million - June 30, 2005).
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Reserve against losses on loans

Changes in the reserve against losses, on loans far the year ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004, are summarized below
(USS millions):

June 30, 2008 June 30, 2005 June 30, 2004

Beginning balance 3 989 3 1,367 $ 1,684
Provision for (release of provision for) losses on loans . 10 (259) (89)
Write-offs (111) (138) (246)
Recoveries of previously written-off investments ] 16 2
Translation adjustments on loans 4 4 15

Other adjustments (3) (3) 1
Ending balance § ___ B98 $§______ 089 £ ___ 1367

The provision for losses on loans and guarantees in the consolidated income statement for the year ended June 30, 2006 includes $5 million
provision in respect of guarantees (33 million release - year ended June 30, 2005; $14 million release - year ended June 30, 2004). At June
30, 2006 the accumulated reserve for losses an guarantees, included in the consolidated balance sheet in payables and other [fabilities, was
$18 miltion ($13 million - June 30, 2005).

Interest and financial fees from loans

Interest and financial fees from loans for the years ended June 30, 2008, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004 comprise the following
{USS$ milliens):

2006 2005 2004
Interest income $ 743 § 574 $ 449
Commitment fees 21 17 15
Other financial fees 43 [53¢] 54
Total interest and financial fees from loans & 807 S G660 8 518

NOTE D - GUARANTEES

Under the terms of the Corporation's guarantees, the Corparation agrees to assumne responsibility for the client's financial obligations in the
event of default by the client, where default is defined as failure to pay when payment is due. Guarantees entered into by the Corporation
generally have maturities consistent with those of the loan portfolio. Guarantees signed at June 30, 2006 totaled $1,150 million ($978 million -
June 30, 2005). Guarantees of $484 million that were outstanding at June 30, 2006 ($291 miltion - June 30, 2005} were not included in loans on
the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet. The outstanding amount represents the maximum amount of undiscounted future payments that
the Carporation could be required to make under these guarantees.

NOTE E - INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Income from equily investments for the years ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004 comprise the following (US$ millions):

2006 2005 2004
Realized capital gains on equity sales $ 928 $ 723 8 386
Dividends and profit participations 327 258 207
Amortization of UJVs conditional asset retirement obligations (8) - -
Income from LLPs, certain LLCs and other investments
accounted for under the equity method 56 191 -
Changes in carrying value of equity investments - 269 69
Equity investment impairment write-downs {57} 62) -
Net losses on equity-related derivatives {15) (12} (2)
Custody and other fees (3) (&) {2)
Total incoms from equity investments H 1,228 s 1365 % 658

Realized capital gains include recoveries and are net of losses on sales of equity investments,

Dividends and profit participations include $86 million ($106 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $65 million - year ended June 30, 2004) of
receipts recefved in frealy convertible cash, net of cash disbursements, in respect of investments accounted for under the cost recovery method.
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NOTE F — PROJECTS APPROVED AND COMMITTED BUT NOT DISBURSED OR UTILIZED

Projects approved by the Board of Directors not committed, loan and equity commitments signed but not yet disbursed, and guarantee and client
risk management facilities signed but nof yet utilized are summarized below {USS$ millions):

June 30, 2006

June 3@, 2005

Projects approved but not committed:

Loans $ 2,353 $ 2,333
Equity investments 507 400
Guarantees 679 731
Client risk management facilities 18 19
Tota! projects approved but not committed 3557 3,483

Projects committed but not disbursed:
Loans 5,550 4,819
Equity investments 1,361 1,013

Projects committed but not utilized:

Guarantees 656 687
Client risk management facilities 132 119
Total projects committed but not disbursed or utilized 7.699 6,638
Total projects approved but not disbursed or utilized s 11256 S 10121

NOTE G - RESOURCE MOBILIZATION

Loan participations arranged to be placed with Participants in respect of loans approved by the Board of Directors, loan participations signed as
commitrnents for which disbursement has not yat been made and loan participations disbursed and outstanding and serviced by the Corporation
for the Participants are as follows (US$ millions}:

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Loan participations arranged to be placed with Participants approved
but not committed $ 2,485 $ 2,194
Loan participations signed as commitments but not disbursed 1.138 901
Loan participations arranged to be placed with Participants approved
but not disbursed . 8 3821 § 3095
Loan participations disbursed and outstanding which are serviced by
the Corporation & 3B78 s 4382
NOTE H —~ RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
Receivables and dther assets are summarized below (US$ millions):
June 30, 2008 June 30, 2005
Receivables from sales of securities $ 1,466 $ 1,330
Accrued interest income on time deposits and securities 1,226 1,116
Accrued income on derivative instruments 299 316
Accrued interest income on loans 153 113
Prepaid pension and other postretirement benefit costs 393 348
Headquarters building:
Land 89 89
Building 192 184
Less: Building depreciation (43) (38)
Headquarters building, net 238 235
Deferred charges and other assets 192 316
Total receivables and other assets S.. .. 3967 s 3774
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NOTE | - BORROWINGS
Market borrowings and associated derivatives

The Corporation’s borrowings outstanding from market sources and cumency and inferest rate swaps, net of unamortized issue premiums and
discounts, are summarized below:

June 30, 2008
Interest rate swaps

Currency swaps notional principal
Market borrowings payable {receivable) pavable {receivable) Net currency gbligation
Weighted Weighted Notional Weighted Weighted

. Amount {US average  Amount{US average amount{US average Amount{US  average
§ mitlions}) cost (%) $ millions} cost (%) $ millions) cost (%) $ millions) cost (%)

US dollar 5 6,980 39 $ 8,078 4.6 $ 6,334 5.1 $ 14,725 49
{6,667) (3.8)

Japanese yen 4,174 4.2 {4.174) (4.2) - - - -
Pound sterling 1,712 54 {1.712) (5.4) - - - -
South African rand 589 7.2 {589) (7.2) - - - -
Hong Kong dollar 552 6.1 {552) {6.1) - - - -
Eum 475 64 {475) (6.4) - - - -
Australian dollar 397 4.7 (397) {4.7) - - - -
Canadian dollar 276 1.0 {276) {1.0) - - - -
New Zealand dollar 242 6.0 {242) (6.0) - - - -
Colombian peso 235 12.5 {235) {12.5) - - - -
Chinese renminbi 141 34 - - - - 141 34
Malaysian ringgit 136 29 (136) (2.9) - - - -
Maroccon dirham 114 4.5 {114) {4.5) - - - -
Swiss francs 91 1.9 (91) {1.3) 80 1.3 - -
{80) (2.0 - -
Peruvian solas nuevos 46 66 {48) (6.6) - - - -
Principal at face value 16,160 s {961) § (333 § 14,866
Less: Unamortized discounts, net {605)
Total market borrowings 15,555
Fair value adjustments {668)
Carrying value of market
borrowings s 14887
June 30, 2005
Interest rate swaps
Currency swaps notional principal
Market borrowings payable {receivable) pavable (receivable) Net currency obligation
Weighted ' Weighted National Weighted Weighted

Amount (US  average  Amount(US average amount(US  average Amount{US  average

$ millions) cost {%) $ milliens) cost {%) 8 millions) cost {%) $ millions} cost {%)
US doltar $ 7,029 39 $ §,8a72 27 $ 6,350 3.2 $ 15,641 a3
(6,610 (3.8) .

Japanesa yen 5,008 38 {5,008) (3.8) - - -
Pound sterling 1,713 54 {1.713) (5.4) - - -
Hong Kong dollar 745 6.0 (745) (6.0) - - -
South African rand 662 7.5 {662) (7.5) - - - -
Euro 514 6.3 (514) (6.3) - - - -
Australian dollar 497 4.7 (497) (4.7} - - - -
Canadian dollar 284 10 (284) (1.0) - - - -
Colombian peso 265 12.5 {265) {12.5) - - - -
New Zealand dollar 216 5.6 (216) (5.6) - - - -
Malaysian ringgit 132 29 (132) (2.9) - - - -
Moroccon ditham 110 4.5 (110) (4.5) - - - -
Swiss francs 78 27 (78) (0.4) 78 0.4 - -
(78) (2.7} - -

Hungarian forints 49 9.0 {49) (9.0) - - -
Peruvian soles nueves 48 6.6 {46) (6.6} - - - -
Principal at face value 17,348 £ (1447} i {260) §_—_15641
Less: Unamortized discounts, net (583)
Total market borrowings 16,755
Fair value adjustments (1.451)
Carrying value of market

borrowings -1 16,304
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The weighted average cost of the Corporation’s borrowings outstanding from market sources after currency and interest rate swap transactions
was 4.9% at June 30, 2006 {3.3% - June 30, 2005). The weighted average remaining maturity of the Corporation’s borrowings from market
sources was 10.7 vears at June 30, 2006 (11.6 years - June 30, 2005). Charges on borrowings for the year ended June 30, 2008, include
$6 million of interest expense on secured borrowings.

Net fair value adjustments to the carrying value of markel berrowings comprises $(668) million at June 30, 2006 (3(1,451) million - June 30,
2005) representing adjustments to the carrying value of transactions in designated fair value hedging relationships.

The net nominal amount receivable from currency swaps of $361 million and the net notional amount receivable from interest rate swaps of
$333 million at June 30, 2006 ($1,447 million and $260 million - June 30, 2005), shown in the above table, are represented by currency and
interest rate swap assets at fair value of $785 million and currency and inferest rate swap liabilities at fair value of $(779) million ($1,270 million
and $1,439 millien - June 30, 2005), included in derivative assets and derivative liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet.
Borrowings from IBRD

Borrowings outstanding from IBRD are summarized below:

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Principal Weighted Principal Weighted
amount average amount average
{US$ milions) cost (%) {US$ millions) cost {%)
Saudi Arabian riyal % 50 45 $ - -
US doltar 30 6.4 53 6.4
Euro - - 2 8.1
Total barrowings outstanding from IBRD s 80 s 55

The weighted average remaining maturity of borrowings from IBRD was 7.5 years at June 30, 2006 (2.6 years - June 30, 2005). Charges on
borrowings for the year ended June 30, 2006 includes $5 million {$5 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $8 million - year ended June 30, 2004)
in respect of IBRD borowings.

Maturity of borrowings

The principal amounts repayable on borrowings outstanding in all currencies, gross of any premiums or discounts, during the years ending June
30, 2007 through June 30, 2011 and thereafter are summarized below (US$ millions):

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter  Total
Borrowings from market sources $ 1843 %8 1823 % 1279 % 185 $ 1280 % 8079 § 16,160
Bormowings from IBRD 18 8 3 1 - 50 80
Total borrowings, gross s 1B61 $ 1831 & 1282 § 1857 § 1280 § 8129 16.240
Less: Unamortized discounts, net . {605)
Fair value adjustments {668}

Carrying value of borrowings

After the effect of interest rate and curency swaps, the Corporation’s borrowings generally reprice within one year.

NOTE J - PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Payables and other liabilities are summarized below {US$ millions):

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005

Accrued charges on borrowings 3 216 b 247
Accrued charges on derivative instruments 282 268
Payables for purchases of securities 1,352 1,769
Secured borrowings a8 -
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 286 418
Defered income 60 50

Total payables and other liabilities 8§ 2284 § 2750
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NOTE K - CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS

The Carporation’s authorized share capital was increased {o $2,450 million through two capital increases in 1992. The subscription and
payment period for shares then allocated ended on August 1, 1999, but the Corporation has agreed to defer the payment date for certain
member countries beyond this date. Pursuant to these arrangements, $1 million of subscribed shares remained unpaid at June 30, 2008
{$1 million - June 30, 2005).

During the year ended June 30, 2006, no shares were subscribed and paid by member countries at a par value of $1,000 each {1,615 - year
ended June 30, 2005; 720 - year ended June 30, 2004).

Under IFC’s Articles of Agreement, in the event a member withdraws from IFC, the Corporation and the member may agree on the repurchase
of the member's capital stock on such terms as may be appropriate under the circumstances. Such agreement may provide, among other
things, for a final settlement of all obligations of the member lo IFC. If such an agreement is not made within six months after the member
withdraws or such cther time as the Corporation and the member may agree, the repurchase price of the member's capital stock shall be the
value thereof shown by the books of IFC on the day when the member withdraws. The repurchase of capital stock is subject to certain
conditions, including payments in installments, at such times and in such available currency or currencies as the Corporation reasonably
determines, taking into account the financial pasition of the Corporation. IFC's Articles of Agreement also provide for the withdrawing member
to repay losses on loans and equity investments in excess of resarves provided on the date of withdrawal.

On August 7, 2008, the Board of Directors approved the designation of $230 million of the Corporation's retained eamings for the purposes of
the funding mechanism for technical assistance and advisory services.

On August 7, 2008, the Board of Directors approved the designation of $150 million of the Corpoaration's retained eamings for the purposes of
grants to IDA.

NOTE L -~ OTHER INCOME

Other incame for the year ended June 30, 2008, predominantly comprises $20 million of fees collected from clients for expenses incurred by the
Corporation, incfuded in administralive expenses {$16 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $16 million - year ended June 30, 2004}, $17 million
of income from consolidated entities {$5 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $0 million - year ended June 30, 2004) and income under other
reimbursable arrangements of $10 million {$13 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $10 million - year ended June 30, 2004).

NOTE M - TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE AND ADVISORY SERVICES

As of June 30, 2005, the Corporation had designated retained aarnings in the amount of $350 million for TAAS. As of June 30, 2006, the
Board of Directors has approved $280 million of proposed expsenditures beginning in the year ended June 30, 2005 through the year ending
June 30, 2011. Of the amount approved by the Board of Directars as of June 30, 2006, the Corporation has recognized expenditures of $55
million in the year ended June 30, 2006 and $38 million in the year ended June 30, 2005,

Prior o the year ended June 30, 2005, from time fo time, the Baoard of Directors approved recommendations under which the Corporation
cantributed to special programs, comprising the Corporation's Global Small and Medium Enterprise Capacity Building Facility, Technical
Assistance Fund and Foreign Investment Advisory Service and other donor-funded operations. During the year ended June 30, 2004, the
Corporation contributed a total of $29 million ta these facilities.

NOTE N - PERFORMANCE-BASED GRANTS
During the year ended June 30, 2006, the Corporation provided $35 million to IBRD's Glabal Partnership for Output Based Aid under a pilot
phase approved by IFC's Board of Directors in March 2006, which has been recorded as an expense in the year ended June 30, 2006. Also

under the pilot phase, IFC's Board of Directors has approved a futher $30 million for a future performance-based small and medium-size
enterprise initiative for Sub-Saharan Africa. No amounts have been expensed under this initiative in the year ended June 30, 20086.
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NOTE O — NET (LOSSES) GAINS ON NON-TRADING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Net {losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments for the year ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004, comprise
(US$ millions):

2006 2005 2004

Difference between changes in fair value of derivative instruments

designated as a fair value hedge and change in fair value

of hedged items attributable to risks being hedged $ (83) $ {48) $ 65
Change in fair value of non-trading derivative instruments

not designated as a hedge {85) 112 (54)
Amortization of difference between fair value and camying value of hedged items

at July 1, 2000 not designated for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133 (3) Q) (2)
Release from accumulated other comprehensive income of transition gain

on cash flow-like hedges - 1 2

Net {lossas} gains on non-trading financial instruments s (131} $ 62 - |

Of the totat net {losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments, unreaiized lcsses of $182 million {gains of $44 million - year ended June 30,
2005; losses $26 million - year ended June 30, 2004) are aftributable to borrowings and related derivatives transactions, unrealized gains of $51
million (gains $15 million - year ended June 30, 2005; gains $36 million - year ended June 30, 2004) are attributable to loans and related
derivatives transactions, and unmealized gains of $Q million {gains $3 million - year ended June 30, 2005; gains $1 million - year anded June 30,
2004) are attributable to client risk management activities.

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 133 on July 1, 2000, the Corporation recorded a gain of $14 million to accumulated other comprehensive
income 10 adjust the book value to fair value of cross-currency interest rate swaps in cash flow-like hedges. The Corporation elected not to seek
hedge accounting for these transactions under SFAS No. 133 and, accordingly, records the cross-currency interest rate swaps at fair value, with
the change in fair value included in earnings. The gain recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income upon adoption of SFAS No. 133
is released into earnings over the remaining original hedge term. The amounts released for the years ended June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005
are shown above; the expected release for the year ending June 30, 2007 is $0 million.

NOTE P — DERIVATIVE AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Many of the Corporation’s financial instruments are not actively traded in any marke!. Accordingly, estimates and present value calculations of
future cash flows are used to estimate the fair values. Determining future cash flows for fair value estimation is subjective and imprecise, and
minor changes in assumptions or methodologies may materially affect the estimated values. The excess or deficit resulting from the difference
between the carrying amounts and the fair values presented does not necessarily reflect the realizable values, since the Corparation generally
holds loans, borrowings and other financial instruments to maturity with the airn of realizing their recorded values.

The estimated fair values refiect the interest rate environments as of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005. [n different interest rate environments,
the fair value of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities could differ significantly, especially the fair value of certain fixed rate financial
instrumenis. Reasonable comparability of fair values among financial institutions is not likely, because of the wide range of permitted valuation
techniques and numerous estimates that must be made in the absence of secondary market prices. This lack of objective pricing standards
introduces a greater degree of subjectivity and volatility to these derived or estimated fair values. Therefore, while disclosure of estimated fair
values of financial instruments is required, readers are cautioned in using these data for purposes of evaluating the financial condition of the
Corporation, The fair values of the individual financial instruments do not represent the fair value of the Corporation taken as a whole.

The methodologies used and key assumptions made to estimate fair values as of June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2005 are summarized below.

Liquid assets - The estimated fair value of time deposits and the trading securities portfolio are based on quoted market prices and the present
value of estimated future cash flows using appropriate discount rates.

Derivative instruments - Fair values for covered forwards were derived by using quoted market forward exchange rates. Fair values for other
derivative instruments were derived by determining the present value of estimated future cash flows using appropriate discount rates.

Loans and locan commitments - The Corporation generally has not sold tts loans from the portfolio, and there is no comparable secondary
market. Fair values for fixed rate loans and loan commitments were determined using a discounted cash flow model based on a discount rate
comprising the fixed rate loan spread plus the year-end estimated cost of funds., Since rates an variable rate loans and loan commitments are
generally reset on a quarterly or semiannual basis, the carrying value adjusted for credit risk was determined to be the best estimate of fair
valua. The Corporation also halds options to convert loans into equity of certain of its investee companies. Fair values of these conversion
options are based on quoted market prices or other calculated values of the underlying equity investment.

Equity investments - Fair values of equity investments accounted for at cost less impairment were determined using market prices where
available, put option prices, book values or cost, certain of which were discounted based upon management's estimate of net realizable value,
Whera market prices were not available or alternate valuation techniques were not practical, cost was determined to be the best estimate of fair
value. Fair values of investments in LLPs and centain LLCs, other equity method investments and equily investments held by consclidated VIEs
are not included.
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Borrowings - Fair values were derived by determining the present value of estimated future cash flows using appropriate discount rates.

Estimated fair values of the Comoration’'s financial assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet financial instruments are summarized below
{US$ millions). The Corporation’s credit exposure is represented by the estimated fair values of its financial assets.

June 30, 2006

June 30, 2005

Carrying Fair value
amount adjustments Fair valug Fair value
Financial assets
QDue fromn banks, time deposits, securities and securities
purchased under resale agreements $ 20,594 $ - $ 20,594 $ 22,781
Loans 10,817 441 11,258 10,396
Resarve against lossas on loans {898) - {898) {989)
Net loans 9,919 441 10,380 9407
Cost method equity investments 2,325 4232 6,557 4,749
Derivative assets:
Liquid asset portfolio-related 189 - 189 151
Loans-related 123 - 123 72
Borrowings-related 785 - 785 1,270
Client risk management-related 29 - 29 23
Equity-related 2 - 2 -
Total derivative assets 1,128 - 1.128 1,516
Nonfinancial assets, including equity methad and
consolidated investments 4454 - 4454 4184
Total assets § 28420 § 4673 §  430m § #2637
Financial liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and payable .
for cash collateral received S 8,805 $ - .8 8,805 $ 9,321
Market and |IBRD borrowings outstanding 14,967 14,967 15,361
Derivative liabilities:
Liquid asset portfolio-related 344 344 733
Loans-related 135 - 135 139
Borrowings-related 779 - 779 1439
Client risk management-related 28 - 28 21
Equity-related 2 - 2 -
Total derivative liahilities 1,288 - 1,288 2,332
Nonfinancial liabilities 2,284 - 2,284 2,750
Total liabllities S 2rad s S ___ 27134 529764
June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Carrying Fair value
amount adjustments Fair value Fair value
Off-balance sheet financial instruments
Loan commitments § 5,550 $ 14 § 5,564 S 4831
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NOTE Q - CURRENCY POSITION

The Corporation conducts its operations for fls loans, time deposits and securities and borrowings in muitiple currencies. The Corporation's
policy is to minimize the level of currency risk by closely matching the cufrency of its assets (ather than equity investments and quasi-equity
investments) and liabilities by using hedging instruments. The Corporation's equity investments in enterprises located in its developing member
countries are typically made in the local currency of the country. As a matter of policy, the Corporation carries the currency risk of equity
investments and quasi-equity investments and funds these investments from its capital and retained earnings.

The following table summarizes the Corporation's expasure in major currencles at June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 {US$ millions);

June 30, 2006

Japanese Other Fair value
US dotlar Euro yen currencies _adjustments Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17718 § 1413 § B $ 184 8 - § 19404
Securities purchased under resale agreements 1,190 - - - 1,180
Loans disbursed and outstanding 8,255 1,498 45 1,013 6 10,817
Less: Reserve against fosses on loans {707} (107) (4} (80} - (898)
Net loans 7,548 1,391 41 933 <] 9919
Equity investments - - - 2812 - 2,812
Total loans and equity investments disbursed and
outstanding 7.548 1.391 41 3,745 B 12,731
Derivalive assets 2,725 1,276 4,472 4,147 (11,492} 1,128
Receivables and other assets 3.658 9N 88 130 - 3,967
Total assets 5 32830 § 4171 § 4690 5 _B206 § (11486) § 38,420
Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and
payable for cash collateral received $ 8084 $ 741§ - § - 8 - § 8,805
Borrowings 6,681 468 4,177 4,309 (668) 14,967
Derivative liabilities 7,996 2,765 425 977 {10,875) 1,288
Payables and other liabilities 1,997 64 82 141 2,284
Total liabilities § 24738 § 4038 §_4684 § 5427 § (11.543) § 27344
June 30, 2005
Japanese Other Fair value
US doltar Eurg yen currencies  adjusiments Total
Assets
Cash and cash eguivalents $ 14020 § 2020 § 199 § 260 § - % 16,499
Securities purchased under resale agreements 5,436 846 - - - 6,282
Loans disbursed and outstanding 8,075 1,193 26 668 1" 9,973
Less: Reserve against losses on loans (795) (127} {3) {64) - (989)
Net loans 7.280 1,066 23 604 11 8,984
Equity investments - - - 2,505 - 2,505
Total loans and equity investments disbursed' and
outstanding 7,280 1.066 23 3,109 11 11,489
Derivative assets 2,653 1629 5,355 4,512 (12,633) 1,516
Receivables and other assets 3477 69 106 122 - 3774
Total assets § 32866 S _ 5630 S 5683 S B003 § {12622) §_39.560
Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and
payable for cash collateral received $§ 7845 § 1476 § - 8 - $ - 8§ 93
Borrowings 6,823 508 5,013 4,466 (1,451) 15,359
Derivative liabilities 8,749 3,487 568 887 {11,359) 2,332
Payables and other liabilities 2414 97 100 139 - 2,750
Total liabilities § 25831 § 6568 §__ 5681 § 5492 $ (12810)
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NOTE R - SEGMENT REPORTING

For management purposes, the Corporation’s business comprises two segments: client services and treasury services. The client services
segment consists primarily of lending and equity investment adtivities. Operationally, the treasury services segment consists of the borrowing,
liquid asset management, asset and liability management and client risk management activities. Consistent with internal reporting, net income
(expense) from asset and liability management and client risk management activities in support of client services are allocated to client services
segment.

The assessment of segment performance by senior management includes net income for each segment, return on assets, and retum on capital
employed. The Corporation’s management reporting system and policies are used to delermine revenues and expenses attributable to each
segment. Consistent with internal reporting, administrative expenses are allocated to each segment based largely upon personnel costs and
segment head counts. Transactions between segments are immaterial and, thus, are not a factor in reconciling to the consolidated data.

The accounting policies of the Corporation’s segments are, in all material respects, consistent with those described in note A, “Summary of
Significant Accounting and Related Policies.”

An analysis of the Corporation’s major components of income and expense by business segment for the years ended June 30, 2006, June 30,
2005, and June 30, 2004 is given below (US$ milliens):

2006 2005 2004
Clignt Treasury Client Treasury Client Treasury
services services Total servicas services Total services  services Total

Interest and financial feas
from loans $ 807 & C- 807 § 860 $ - $660 5 518 $ -8 518
Income from liquid asset

trading activities - 444 444 - 358 358 - 177 177
Charges on borrowings {343) (260) (603) (151) (158) {309) {41) {100) (141)
Income from equity

investments 1,228 - 1,228 1,365 - 1,365 658 - 658

{Provision for) release of

provision for losses on

loans and guarantees {15} - (15) 261 - 261 103 - 103
Service fees 52 - 52 41 - 41 41 - 41
Administrative expenses (430) (8) {436) (397) {6} {403) {354) ) {360)
Other income (expense) 22 - 22 18 - 18 (14) - (14)
Income before expenditures

for TAAS, PBG and

net {losses) gains on

non-trading financial

instruments 1321 178 1,493 1,797 194 1,991 811 T 982
Expenditures for TAAS (55) - (55) {38) - (38) - - -
Expenditures for PBG (35) - (35) - - - - - -
Net {losses) gains on non-

trading financial instruments 49 (180} {131) 18 44 62 37 (26) 1
Net income 81280 § (28 1278 $ 1777 § 238 § 2015 % 048 $ 45 $ 933

Geographical segment data in respect of client services are disclosed in Note C, and are not relevant in respect of {reasury services,

NOTE S - PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Corporation, IBRD, and MIGA parlicipate in a defined benefit SRP, a Retired Staff Benefits Plan (RSBP), and a Post-Employment Benefits
Plan (PEBP) that cover substantially all of their staff members.

The SRP provides regular pension benefits and includes a cash balance plan. The RSBP provides certain health and life insurance benefits to
eligible retirees, The PEBP provides cerlain pension benefits administered outside the SRP.

The Corporation uses a June 30 measurement date for its pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

The armounts presented below reflect the Corporation’s respective share of the costs, assets, and liabilities of the plans.

All costs, assets, and liabilities associated with these plans are allocated between the Corporation, IBRD, and MIGA based upon their
employees’ respective coniributions to the plans. Costs allocaled to IBRD are then shared between IBRD and |DA based on an agreed cost-

sharing ratio. The Corporation, 10A, and MIGA reimburse IBRD for their proportionate share of any contributions made to these plans by IBRD.
Contributions to these plans are calculated as a percentage of salary.
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The following table summarizes the benefit costs associated with the SRP, RSBP, and PEBP allocated to the Corporation for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004 (US$ millions):

SRP RSBP PEBP
2008 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004
Benefit cost
Service cost $ 59 § 48 § 43 8 9 $ 6 % 5 8 23 2%
Interast cost 101 100 84 8 7 5 2 1 1
Expected return on plan
assets {157} {145) {122) {10) {8) ) - - -
Amortization of prior
sarvice cost 1 3 3 - - - -
Amoriization of unrecog-
nized net loss (gain} 9 - 3 4 2 2 - .
Net periedic pension
cost - 13 & 6 % 11§ 118§ 7 8 6 % 4. 5 3 8 3

The expenses for the SRP, RSBP, and PEBP are included in expense from pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004, expenses for these plans of $28 million, $16 million and $20
million, respectively, were allocated o IFC. The Corporation’s net expense for these plans reported in the consolidaled income statement was
$28 mitlion, $14 million, and $19 million for the fisca! years ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004, respectively.

The follewing table summarizes the projected benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and funded status associated with the SRP, RSBP,
and PEBP for the Corporation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004 {US$ millions). Since the assets for
the PEBP are not held in an irevocable trust separate from the assets of IBRD, they do not qualify for off-balance sheet accounting and are
therefore included in IBRD's investment portfolio. IFC has recognized a receivable {prepaid asset) from [BRD and a payable (liability) to IBRO
equal to the amount required to support the plan. The assets of the PEBP are invested in fixed income instruments.

SRP RS8P PEBP
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 20086 2005 2004
Projected Benefit Obligation
Beginning of year $ 1631 &8 1392 § 12689 § 162 % 103 § 21 8 23 8 15 8 12
Service cost 59 48 43 9 6 5 2 2 2
Interest cost 101 100 a4 8 7 5 2 1 1
Employee contributions 15 14 13 1 2 1 - - -
Benefits paid (51) {68} {56) @ {6) 5) {2) (2) O
Actuanial {gain} loss {403) 145 39 {15) 50 5] 9 7 1
End of year 1352 1,831 1,392 161 162 103 34 23 15
Fair value of plan assets
Beginning of year $ 1670 $ 1592 § 1328 % 118 § 99 $ a0 3 -8 -8 -
Employee conlributions 15 14 13 1 2 1 - - -
Actual return on assets 205 88 284 11 15 16 - - -
Employer contributions 53 44 23 16 8 7 - - -
Bensfits paid (51) (68} {56} (4) (8) {5) - - -
End of year 1,892 1,670 1,592 142 118 g9 - - -
Funded status

Plan assets in excess of

{less than) projected

benefit obligation 3 540 % 39 5 200 § 19 § {44) § 4 3 (34) § (23) & (15)
Unrecognized net {gain) loss

from past experience

different from changes in

assumptions {202) 258 57 43 62 21 15 6 {1}
Unrecognized prior service

cost 10 11 14 - - - 1 - -
Prepaid (accrued) pension

cost s 348 $ 308 % 271 by 24 § 18§ 17 __ % {18). % (17) & (16}
Accumulated benefit

obligation 1024 $ 1255 & 1008 § 161§ 162 $ 103§ 28 % 20 § 13

The prepaid SRP cost was $348 million at June 30, 2006 ($308 million - June 30, 2005) and the prepaid RSBP cost was $24 million at June 30,
2006 ($18 million - June 30, 2005). These amounts are included in Receivables and other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Assumptions

The actuarial assumptions used are based on financial market interest rates, past experignce, and management's best estimate of future benafit
changes and economic conditions, Changes in these assumptions will impact future benefit costs and obligations.

The expected long-term rate of return for the SRP assets is a weighted average of the expected long-term {10 years ar more) returns for the
various asset classes, weighted by the portfolio allocation. Asset class retums are developed using a forward-looking building block approach
and are not strictly based on historical retums. Equity returns are generally developed as the sum of expected inflation, expected real earnings
growth and expected long-term dividend yield. Bond returns are ganerally developed as the sum of expected inflation, real bond yield, and risk
premium/spread (as appropriata). Other asset class returns are derived from their relationship to equity and bond markets. The expected long-
term rate of return for the RSBP is computed using procedures similar to thase used for the SRP. The discount rate used in determining the
benefit obligation is selected by reference to the year-end AAA and AA corporate bonds.

Actuarial gains and losses occur when actual results are different from expected results. Amortization of these unrecognized gains and losses
will be included in income if, at the beginning of the fiscal year, they exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the
markat-related value of plan assets. If required, the unrecognized gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service
lives of the employee group.

The following tables present the weighted-average assumptions used in determining the projected benefit obligations and the net periodic
pension costs for the fiscal years ended June 3@, 2008, June 30, 2005, and June 30, 2004:

Weighted average assumptions used to determine projected banefit obligation (%)

SRP RSBP PEBP
2006 2005 2004 20086 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Discount rate 6.50 5.25 6.25 6.50 5.25 6.25 6.50 5.25 6.25
Rate of compensation increase 6.80 5.80 6.40
Health care growth rates

-at end of fiscal year 7.60 6.80 7.30
Uttimate health care growth

rate 5.00 4.25 475
Year in which ultimate rate

is reached 2012 2012 2012

Waeighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost (%)

SRP RSBP PEBP
2006 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Discount rate 5.25 8.25 575 5.25 6.25 575 5.25 B.25 5.75
Expected return on plan

assets 7.75 7.75 7.75 8.25 8.25 7.75
Rate of compensation

increase 5.90 6.40 5.40
Health care growth ratas

-at end of fiscal year 6.80 7.30 6.10

<o year 2012 and thereafter 425 4.75 3.75

The medical cost trend rate can significantly affect the reporled postretirement benefit income or costs and benefit obligations for the RSBP.
The following 1able shows the effects of a one-percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate (US$ millions):

QOne percentage paint increasa  One percentage point decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost 54 $(3)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 33 {27)
Investment Strategy

The investment policy for the SRP and the RSBP is to optimize the risk-return relationship as appropriate to the respective plan's needs and
goals, using a global diversified portfolio of various asset classes. Specifically, the long-term asset allocation is based on an analysis that
incorporates expected retumns by asset class as well as volatilities and correlations across asset classes and the liability profile of the respective
plans. This analysis, referred to as an assel-liability analysis, also provides estimates of potential future contributions and future asset and
liability balances, Plan assets are managed by external investmant managers and monitored by IBRD’s pension investment department. The
pension plan assets are invested in diversified portfolios of public equity, fixed income, and alternative investments. The fixed-income and public
equity asset classes are rebalanced on a monthly basis.
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The following table presents the weighted-average asset altocation at June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005, and the respective target allocation by
asset category for the SRP and RSRP (%):

SRP RSBP
Target % of Plan Targal % of Plan Assels
Allacation Assets Allocation
2006 2006
2006 2005 2006 2005

Asseot Class
Fixed Income 40% 40%  40% 30% 30% 31%
Public Equity 35 35 40 30 33 37
ARernative Investments 25 25 20 40 37 32
Total 100% 100% 100%  100% 100% 100%
Alternative investments include:
Private Equity upto 12% B83% 7.1% upto28% 12.3% 11.2%
Real Estate upto 8% 47 40 wupto18% 4.1% 3.7
Hedge Funds upto 12% 12.0 87 wupto23% 205% 168

Estimated Future Benefits Payments

The following table shows the benefit payments expected to be paid in each of the next five years and subsequent five years. The expected
bensfit payments are based on the same assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation at June 30, 2006 (USS$ millions):
SRP RSBP PEBP
July 1, 2006 - June 30, 2007 $48 $3 33
July 1, 2007 - June 30, 2008 54
July 1, 2008 - June 30, 2009 61
July 1, 2009 - June 30, 2010 66
July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2011 71 5
July 1, 2011 - June 30, 2015 452 35 22

Expected Contributions

The Corporation's contribution to the SRP and RSBP varies from year to year, as detarmined by the Pension Finance Commitiee, which bases
its judgment on the results of annual actuarial valuations of the assets and liabilities of the SRP and RSBP. The best estimate of the amount of
contributions expecied to be paid to the SRP and RSBP for the Corporation during the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008 is $25 million and

$9 miltion, respectively.

NOTE T - SERVICE AND SUPPCRT PAYMENTS

The Corporation obtains certain administrative and overhead services from IBRD in those areas whare common services can be efficiently
provided by IBRD. This includes shared costs of the Boards of Governors and Direclors, and other services such as communications, internal
auditing, administrative support, supplies, and insurance, The Corporation makes payments for these services to IBRD based on negotiated
fees, chargebacks and allocated charges, where chargeback is no! feasible. Expenses allocated to the Corporation for the year ended June 30,
2006, were $23 million ($25 million - year ended June 30, 2005; $21 million - year ended June 30, 2004).
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NOTE U - TRUST FUNDS

The Corporation uses the services of IBRDC to administer funds on behalf of donors that are restricted for specific uses, including technical
assistance, feasibility studies and project preparation, global and regional programs and research and training programs. These funds are
placed in trust and are not included in the Corporation's assets. The responsibilities of the Corporation are to arrange for services generally not
otherwise provided by i, including full project implementation and procurement of goods and services. The distribution of Trust Fund assets by
executing agent is as follows (USS$ millions):

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Total fiduciary Number of Total fiduciary Numbear of
assets active funds assets active funds
Executed by the Corporation s 420 715 $ 287 612
Executed by the recipient - - - -
Total S 420 [ & |- { 5 287 f12

NOTE V -~ CONTINGENCIES

in the normal course of its business, the Corporation is from time to time named as a defendant or co-defendant in various legal actions on
different grounds in various jurisdictions. Although there can be no assurances, based on the information cumently available, the Corporaticn’s
Management does not believe the outcome of any of the various axisting legal actions will have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s
financial condition or results of operations,

NOTE W - VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND OTHER CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS

An antity is subject {o FIN 46R and is called a variable interest entity (VIE) if it lacks: (1) equity that is sufficient to permit the entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated financial suppor from other parties; or (2) equity investors who have decision-making rights about
the entity’s operations or who do not absorb the expected losses or receive the expected returns of the entily proportionally to their voting
rights.

A VIE is consolidated by its primary beneficiary, which is the party involved with the VIE that abscrbs a majority of the expected losses or
receives a majority of the expected residual returns or both. The primary beneficiary is required to initially measure the assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests of the VIE at their carrying amounts at the date on which it first became the primary beneficiary. Because certain VIEs
were created prior to the issuance of FIN 46R, it may not be practicable to determine the carrying amounts of the assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests at the initial date, and in such cases, the primary beneficiary must measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling
interests at their fair values on the date FIN 46R is first applied. The primary beneficiary is also required to disclose infarmation about the
nature, purpose, size, and activities of the VIE, and collateral and recourse creditors may have against the VIE.

An enterprise may hold significant variable interests in VIEs, which are not consolidated because the enterprise is not the primary beneficiary.
In such cases, the enterprise is required to disclose information about its involvement with and exposure to the VIE, and about the nature,
purpose, size, and activities of the VIE.

An enterprise is not required to apply FIN 4BR to certain entities if, after making an exhaustive effort, it is unable o obtain the information
necessary to: (1) determine whether the entity is a VIE; (2) defermine if the enterprise is the primary beneficiary of the possible VIE; or (3)
perform tha accounting required to consolidate a possible VIE. In such cases, the enterprise is reguired to disclose the number of entities to
which FIN 46R is not béing applied, why the information required to apply FIN 46R is not available, the nature, purpose and activities of the
entities to which FIN 46R is not being applied, and the enterprise’s maximum expasure to the entities to which FIN 46R is not being applied.

The Corpaoration has identified seven VIEs in which the Corporation is deemed to be the primary beneficiary at June 30, 2006.

Four of the VIEs have been consolidated into IFC’s financial statements as of June 30, 2006. One consolidated VIE is in the Finance and
Insurance sector in the Latin America and Caribbean region. Three consolidated VIEs are in the Collective Investment Vehicles sector in the
Latin America and Caribbean region.

The remaining three VIEs in which the Corporation is deemed to be the primary beneficiary have not been consolidated into IFC's financial
statements, as they are significantly impaired and information required to apply the provisions of FIN 46R is not available. IFC's net investment
in these three entities totals $2 million, virtually all in the primary metals sector in the Asia region. Based on the most recent financial data
available, total net assets of the three entities is $12 million,

As a result of the consolidation of the four investments described above, IFC's consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2006 includes
additional assets of $6 million in equity investments ($0 million - June 30, 2008), $3 mitlion in receivables and other assets {$131 million - June
30, 2005), and additional liabilities of $2 million in payables and other liabilities {$131 miltion - June 30, 2005).

Other income for the year ended June 30, 2006 includes $17 million of income from consolidated entities ($5 million - year ended June 30,

2005; $0 million - year ended June 30, 2004) and other expense includes $10 million of expenses from consolidated enfities (35 million - year
ended June 30, 2005; $0 million - year ended June 30, 2004).

66




INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation has identified fourteen investments in VIEs in which the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary but in which it is deemed to
hold significant variable interests. The Corporation's total investment in and maximum exposure to loss to these entities, comprising both
disbursed amounts and amounis committed but not yet disbursed balances, was $108 million at June 30, 2006. The regional and sectoral
analysis of the Corporation’s investments in these VIEs is as follows (US$ millions):

Juna 302008

Equity
Loans vestments Total
Latin America and Caribbean $ 23 % 21§ 44
Asta 10 1 21
Evurope and Central Asia 7 3 10
Sub-Saharan Africa - 5 5
Middle East and North Africa 2 - 2
Other - 26 26
Total VIE investments $ 42 % BE S i08
June 30, 2006
Equity
Loans vestmenis Total
Collective investment vehicles $ - 8 5 51
Finance and insurance 15 12 27
Agriculture and forestry 10 - 10
Food and beverages 8 - 8
Accaomimodation and tourism services 7 - 7
Qil, gas and mining - 3 3
Textiles, apparel and leather 2 - 2
Total VIE investments s 42 £ 66 X% 108

Based on the most recent available data from these VIEs, the assets of thase VIEs totaled $602 million.

NOTE X - MATERIAL TRANSACTION

On December 21, 2005, the Cormoration entered into an agreement to sell its shares in Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. (BCR). The
agreement includes provisions that may result in the termination of the agreement prior to closing. In addition, IFC has entered into an
agreement which includes certain payment covenants and potential indemnifications with respect to certain conditions and valuations in case
such conditions and valuations become applicable. The transaction did not close by June 30, 2006. Should the transaction closae in
accordance with the agreement, IFC would expect to recognize a significant capital gain in the year ending June 30, 2007, in the range of
$669 miltion 1o $841 million {based on June 30, 2006 exchange rates).
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No person is authorized to give any information or to make any represcntation nol contained in this
Information Statement, or any prospectus. information memorandum or offering circular, or related offering
document. Any information or representation nol contained herein must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by the Corporation or by any dealer, underwriter or agent of the Comporation. Neither this Information
Statement nor any such prospectus, information memorandum or offering circular, or related offering document,

constitutes an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy Securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is
unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

Except as otherwise indicated, in this Information Statement (1) all amounts are stated in current United States
dollars translated as indicated in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, Note A — Summary of
significant accounting and related policies, translation of currencies and (2) all information in this Information
Statement is given as of June 30, 2006.
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CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

as of September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and June 30, 2006 (unaudited)

(US$ miltions)

September 30
Assets

Cash and due frOM BanKS ........c.cocceeiiieiceieeec e cecrav s e e vrenses e reernoresrsnetmessessnsravsreerns B 265
Time deposits .................... 3,015
Trading SEOUMBES. ... vicctieemeiceeeee e eere e eene e reecterenseernsranseeeseesssranseesanesaseeseesnseeesssransesnnesernne 17,787
Securities purchased under resale agreements .............cccoceeeeieeinieseecreet e e ne e eas 966

LOANS  ooiiricriie st ire st se e st ras e e e r e e e e e s et na e a A RA e d e aa e s b pad s d e et b e 11,521
Less: Reserve against 10sses on 10ans - NOte C ...t ieners e s e (844)
NEEIGANS ..ot ee e eeee e e eee e ee e e aeeeteseemseesen st vensrtaer srtnnsarnrsnrrarreens 10,677

Equity INVESIMIBNLS ..o e et ree st et aen b e en s et ane 2,838

Total loans and equity investments disbursed and cutstanding............ccccoeevecinrccvvneniecennennes

13,515

DErvative BSSBIS ...ttt rar et s an s s ra e ret s s an b e eerbrae st rnesaann 1,222

Liabilities and capital

Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and payable
for cash COlAtEral TECEIVE ............oooeeeeeeeeeee et eee et eear e mve s e nree st v 3 8,032

Borrowings withdrawn and outstanding
FrOM MAMKEE SOUICES ...t iee st iee st ee e s e erasessessbeesesses semaessansasann sas essmnsssnannas 15,829
From international Bank for Reconstruction and Development ...............ccoeceveevieeeeniecn. 79
Total BOITOWINGS ...occviciiiiiniiiciiiciisiieets e ste e e re s e esaesrereeseerm s e e s e ennesesreesanesnranses 15,908
Derivative BaBilIIRS .........ceevreieeiererree s snse i cs s ceie st ar e et s b s s s s ana bbbt 1,009
Payables and other IabilIIES ........cc...cceiiee et se e s s 4173

Tolal BADIEES ...oviviveericreee it e s 29,122

Capital
Capital stock, authorized 2,450,000 shares of $1,000 par value each
SUDSCIADEA 1eieieici ettt e s e et e e e e e e st e st e st ana et an e e eaenara s aeaans
Less: Portion not yet paid
TOLal CAPIAI SEOCK ..oceveeieeieer s re e et e braesbrssn e sbssam st enne s 2,364

Accumutated other COMPrehensive INCOME ............ccornin e e e 1
RELRINEA BAMINGS ...cvveenreeieieeeiceerersers e e et st e es e seeseasbeeseeseesasessesassssassaesaesnsaas sasssaensasannns 9,636

TOLAI CAPIAD ..c.veeeiie et e sis et stbe st b be e seneenteeseesanesareeesserasneeenneesasennne

Total liabilities and Capital ... e

The notes to consolidated condensed financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

Juneg 30

$ 159
2,959

16,286

1,190

10,817
(898)

99619
2812

12,731

1,128

3.967

S____ 38420

$ 8,805

14,887

14,967

1,288
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CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT

for the three months ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

The notes to consolidated condensed financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

(US$ millions)

2006 2005
 Interest and fiNaANCIal fEBS TOM LOANS ........ocviveeeiiirerecere et sre et ses e as e essbaseas s s eentsssensbsnesss B 237 $ 196 -
Income from liquid asset trading activities « NOE B............c..oooreeiieerecee e e 246 139
Charges ON DOMMOWINGS ...cc.vreiiiriinsriessirineses s s tresssssssneasss s essne s ssnsresssrnssresnssessasssssnesanennses (195} {125}
Income from equity iINVESIMENIS —INOIE F .....oooi e rsree e vrressesssensasrnesseessnesssansranense 657 331
Release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees —Note C ..., 49 18

Income from loans, equity investments and liquid asset trading activities,
after release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees..............cceevevevecrenrcrnnns 994 559
Other income
Service fees ... 11 1"
Net translation adjustments on non-trading activities... 1 (3)
OthET e e ee s 5 12
Total other INCOME ...t e s e e s ne s nn e s s s rnesresraes 18 20
Other expenses
AdMINISIrAtive BXPENSES ..o 117 116
Expense from pension and other postretirement henefit plans ... 3 7
Other - 7
Total other expense ..... 120 130
Income before expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services
and net gains {losses) on non-trading financial instruments ... 892 449
Expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services —~Note H...........cccoeeecvinnniininniinnnns {22) (19)
Net gains {losses) on non-trading financial INSruments — NOB E .......vveeeeceer e eenssves s ssvesenns 55 (8)
L L LT T SOOI S * ¥ - | $§ 422
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CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the three months ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

{US$ millions)

2006
NBEINCOIME ...t ar e er st e sae e st aes b e e seesmeensean e es e e e ssarasesseesaesnnesseransnean $ 925
Other comprehensive income
Reclassification to net income of net interest accruals on swaps in
cash flow hedging relationships at June 30, 2000 ... -
Total comprehensive INCOME ............ccuiieeiiie et s e ss e ermn e, 92§

2005

$ 422

CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL

for the three months ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

(US$ millions)
Retained eamings

Designated

for technical Accumulated

assistance Designated for other

and advisory  performance- Designated for comprehensive  Capital Total

Undesignated _ services based grants _grants to IDA Total income stock! capital

At June 30,2006 ............... $ 7,859 $ 487 $ 215 § 150% 8711 § 1$2364 § 11,076

Three months ended
September 30, 2006
Netincome .................... 925 925
Expenditures for technical
assistance and advisory

925

services - Note H.......... 22 (22) - -
At September 30, 2006 ...... s 8,806 3§ 465 & 215 § 15089636 $ 182364 812001
At June 30,2005............... 6,871 312 250 - 7,433 1 2,364 9,798
Three months ended
September 30, 2005
Netincome ...........co.evvs 422 422 422
Expenditures for technical
assistance and advisory
services —Note H.......... 19 {19) = =
At September 30, 2005 ......3 7312 § 203 § 250 § -$ 78558 18 23648 10220

T Capital stock Includes payments received on account of pending subscriptions.

The notes o consolidated condensed financial statements are an integral part of these statements,
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CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the three months ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

(US$ millions)
2006 2005
Cash flows from loans and equity investment activities
LOAN QISDUISEIMENES ......eeviiiie e ea et ses et b sn e bese s s b pr e b e e srnssnsensbsnerenee B (1,185) $ {861)
Equity disbursements ...... . (191) (23)
Loan repayments .. 477 593
Sales of equity mvestmenls 704 385
Net cash (used in) provlded by inveslmg actlvltles ........................................ {195) 64
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown Of DOIOWINGS .....ccocieiiiieiiiniicaiiiiesinies e sas st st sttt e b e s e na e e hat s 697 182
Repayment of borrowings (625)
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 814 {443)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income . v 925 422
Adjustments to reconcxle nel lncome to net cash (used tn) prowded by operanng actlvmes
Realized capital gains on QUILY SAIES .....cccoccervvrrvriirerresrerrsrre e rrarresreesssaessane seanosressammessses (554) (251)
Income from LLPs, certain LLCs and other investments
accounted for under the equity method (10) (36)
Equity investment impaiment write-downs 12 16
Release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees ..... (49) (18)
Translation adjustments, net .. 0] 3
Net (gains) losses on non- tradlng ﬁnancnal mstruments ..................... (55) 8
Change in accrued Income on loans, time deposits and securities ... 165 248
Change in payables and other liabilities ............ccccoconiinicnnnniininee 1,794 82
Change in receivables and other assets .. {420) (160)
Change in trading securities and secunhes purchased and sotd under
resale and repurchase agreementS. ... .o s 934
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 1,248
Change in cash and ¢ash equUIvValENts ... e e e e eree s aras 173 869
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -
Net change in cash and cash equivalents .............c.....ceei e, 869
Beginning cash and cash eqQUIVAIEBNES ..............cooovieeviieeiece et e ees s sas s s b s san s 1,938
Ending cash and cash equUIvValents ..............c..cccooiiiciincrnnrne e e rre e rne e s $ 2807
Composition of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and due fIOM DBMKS .........ooviverrmrireeresiersrireeeseersssserrsssserrssesessssnesasassontess seescanmesnsnmssean $ 265 $ 258
Time deposits .. Fereereare R bR s an b S A et et e R et TR e ra st R ne e RO R e e e T Re R ReTeee nreeb na neen 3,015 2,549
Total cash and cash equlvalents e ern et e aa e e mre e erneshesaterer e ranresannearensessnereennror- B 3, BB0 $ 2807
Supplemental disclosure
Change in ending balances resulting from exchange rate fluctuations:
Loans OULSEANAINGD ...cocvvivieericrie et e e e e s e e e sar e e sraasanensere B 29 3 9
BOITOWINGS ...c.vviicriivirniirrrrerssrrns e sns e ssesssrne st s rresssnsrmessernssrssnssssmesrasessearssoensnsnssansssses (47) (176)

The notes to consolidated condensed financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

PURPOSE

The Intermational Finance Corporation {IFC or the Corporation), an intermational organization, was established in 1956 to further economic
development in its member countries by encouraging the growth of private enterprise. The Corporation is a member of the World Bank Group,
which zlso includes the Intemational Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), the Intemational Development Association (IDA), and
the Multitateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). The Corporation’s activities are closely coordinated with and comptement the overall
development objectives of the other World Bank Group institutions. The Corporation, together with private investors, assists in financing the
establishment, improvement and expansion of private sector enterprises by making loans and equity investments where sufficient private capital
is not otherwise available on reasonable terms. The Corporation’s share capital is provided by its member countries. It raises most of the funds
for its investment activities through the issuance of notes, bonds and other debt securities in the international capital markets. The Corporation
also plays a catalytic role in mobilizing additional project funding from other investors and lenders, either through cofinancing or through loan
participations, underwritings and guarantees. In addition to project finance and resource mobilization, the Corporation offers an array of financial
and technical advisory services to private businesses in the developing world to increase their chances of success. it also advises govemments
on how to create an environment hospitable to the growth of private enterprise and foreign investment.

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND RELATED POLICIES

The consolidated condensed financial statements include the financial statements of the Corporation and three Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)
{see Note K). The accounting and reporting policies of the Comporation conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (US GAAP).

Consolidated condensed financial statements presentation - Certain amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conform to the
current year's presentation.

The consolidated condensed financial statements are presented in a manner consistent with the Comoration’s audited consolidated financial
stalements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2006 and, in the opinion of the management, all adjustments (consisting only of nomal
recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and the results of operations for the interim periods have been
made. The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2006, included for comparative purposes only, is derived from those audited
consolidated financial statements. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the
Corporation’s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year ending June 30, 2007.

Use of estimates - The preparation of the consclidated condensed financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumplions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated condensed financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expense during the reporting periods. Actual results
could differ from these estimates. A significant degree of judgment has been used in the determination of; the adequacy of the reserve against
losses on loans and impaimment of equity investments; estimated fair values of all derivative instruments and retated financial instruments in
qualifying hedging refationships; and net periodic pension income. There are inherent risks and uncertainties related to the Corporation’s
operations. The possibility exists that changing economic conditions could have an adverse effect on the financial position of the Corporation.

The Comporation uses intemal models to determine the fair values of derivative and other financial instruments and the aggregate level of the
reserve against losses on loans and impaimment of equity investments. The Corporation undertakes continuous review and respedification of
these models with the objective of refining its estimates, consistent with evolving best market practices. Changes in estimates resulting from
refinements in the assumptions and methodologies incorporated in the models are reflected in net income in the pericd in which the enhanced
models are first applied.

Transiation of currencies - Assets and liabilites not denominated in United States dollars (US dollars or $), other than disbursed equity
investments, are expressed in US dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at September 30, 2006 and June 30, 2006. Dishursed equity
investments are expressed in US dollars at the prevailing exchange rates at the time of disbursement. income and expenses are translated at
the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Transtation gains and losses are credited or charged to income.

Loans - The Corporation originates loans to facilitate project finance, restructuring, refinancing, corporate finance, and/or developmental impact.
Loans are recorded as assets when disbursed. Loans are camied at the principal amounts outstanding. Where loans are part of a designated
hedging relationship employing derivative instruments, the camying value is adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being
hedged. These adjustments are reported in net gains and losses on non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated condensed income
statement. Itis the Comoration's practice to obtain collateral security such as, but not limited to, mortgages and third-party guarantees.

Revenue recognition on loans - Interest income and commitment fees on loans are recorded as income on an accrual basis. Beginning in the
year ended June 30, 20086, the Corporation began amortizing net loan origination costs and fees over the estimated life of the criginated loan to
which the fees relate. Prior to the year ended June 30, 2006, loan origination costs were expensed as incurred, and loan origination fees were
recognized in income when received. The net of loan origination fees and loan origination costs was considered insignificant. All other fees are
recerded as income when received in freely convertible currencies.

The Corporation does not recognize income on loans where collectibility is in doubt or payments of interest or principal are past due more than
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60 days unless management anticipates that collection of interest will occur in the near future. Any interest accrued on a loan placed in
nonaccrual status is reversed out of income and is thereafter recognized as income only when the actual payment is received. Interest not
previously recognized but capitalized as part of a debt restructuring is recorded as deferred income, included in the consolidated condensed
financial statement in payables and other liabilities, and credited to income only when the related principal is received. Such capitalized interest
is considered in the computation of the reserve against losses on loans and equity investments in the consolidated condensed financial
statement,

Reserve against losses on loans - The Corporation recognizes portfolio impairment on loans in the consolidated condensed balance sheet
through the reserve against losses on loans, recording a provision or release of provision for losses on loans in net income on a quarterly basis,
which increases or decreases the reserve against losses on loans.

Management determines the aggregate level of the reserve against losses on loans, taking into account established guidelines and its
assessment of recent portfolio quality trends. The guidelines comprise simulation techniques, internal country risk ratings and the impaimment
potential of the loan portfolio based on the Corporation’s historical porifolio write-off and loss reserve experience on mature investments,

The reserve against losses on loans reflects estimates of both probable losses already identified and probable losses inherent in the portfalio but
not specifically identifiable. The determination of identified probable losses represents management's judgment of the creditworthiness of the
borrower and is established through review of individual loans undertaken con a quarterly basis. The Corporation considers a loan as impaired
when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Corporation will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the
loan's contractual terms. Unidentified probable losses are the aggregate probable losses over a one-year risk harizon, in excess of identified
probable losses. The risks inherent in the portfolio that are considered in determining unidentified probable losses are those proven to exist by
past experience and include: country systemic risk; the risk of correlation or contagion of losses between markets; uninsured and uninsurable
risks; nonperformance under guarantees and support agreements; and opacity of, or misrepresentation in, financial statements.

Loans are written-off when the Corporation has exhausted all pessible means of recovery, by reducing the reserve against losses on loans.
Such reductions in the reserve are offset by recoveries associated with previousty written-off loans.

Equity investments - The Corporation invests for current income, capital appreciation, developmental impact, or all three; the Corporation does
nol seek to take operational, controlling, or strategic equity positions within its investees. Equity investments are acquired through direct
ownership of equity instruments of investees, as a limited partner in limited liability partnerships (LLPs) and limited liability companies (LLCs),
andfor as an investor in a private equity fund.

Ravenue recognition on equity investments - Direct equity investments in which the Corporation does not have significant influence and
certain investrments in investment companies are camied at cost less impairment. The Corporation’s investments in companies where it has
significant influence and certain investrments in LLPs and LLCs that maintain specific ownership accounts are accounted for under the equity
method. The Comporation’s investments in certain private equity funds in which IFC is deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary of a VIE as the
presumption of control by the fund manager or the genera! partner has been overcome are fully consoclidated into the Corporation’s books.
Certain equity investments, for which recovery of invested capital is uncertain, are accounted for under the cost recovery method, such that
receipts of freely convertible currencies are first applied to recovery of invested capitat and then to capital gains. The cost recovery method is
principally applied to the Corperation's investment in its oil and gas unincorporated joint ventures (UJVs). Conditional asset retirement
obligations related to investments in WJVs are recorded when the fair value of the obligations can be reasonably estimated. The obligations
are capitalized and systemically amortized over the estimated economic useful lives.

Dividends and profit participations received on cost method equity investments are generally recorded as income when received in freely
convertible cumencies. Realized capita! gains on the sale or redemption of equity investments are measured against the average cost of the
investments sold and are generally recorded as income when received in freely convertible currencies or securities, which are readily convertible
into freely convertible currencies. Capital losses are recognized when incurred.

The Corporation enters into put and call option agreements in connection with equity investments; these are accounted for in accordance with
Staternent of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133,

Impairment of equity Investments - Equity investments are assessed for impaimment each guarter. When an impairment is identified and is
deemed to be other than tempaorary, the equity investment is written down to the impaired value, which becomes the new cost basis in the equity
investment. Impairment lesses are not reversed for subsequent recoveries in value of the equity investment until it is sofd.

Guarantees - The Corporation extends financial guarantee facilities to its clients to provide credit enhancement for their debt securities and
trade obligations. Beginning in the year ended June 30, 2001, the Corporation began offering partial credit guarantees to clients covering, on a
risk-sharing basis, client obligations on bonds and/or loans. Under the terms of the Corporation's guarantees, the Corporation agrees to assume
responsibility for the client’s financial obligations in the event of default by the client {i.e., failure to pay when payment is due). Guarantees are
regarded as issued when the Corporation commits to the guarantee. Guarantees are regarded as outstanding when the underying financiat
obligation of the client is incurred, and this date is considered to be the “inception” of the guarantee. Guarantees are regarded as called when
the Corporation’s obligation under the guarantee has been invoked. There are two liabilities associaled with the guarantees: (1) the stand-ready
obligation to perform and (2) the contingent liability. The stand-ready obligation to perform is recognized at the outstanding date unless a
contingent liability exists at that time or is expected to exist in the near term. The contingent liability associated with the financial guarantees is
recognized when it is probable the guarantee will be called and when the amount of guarantee called can be reasonably estimated. All liabilities
associated with guarantees are included in payables and other liabilites, and the receivables are included in other assets on the consolidated
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condensed balance sheet. When the guarantees are called, the amount disbursed is recorded as a new loan, and specific reserves are
established, based on the estimated probable loss. These reserves are included in the reserve against losses on foans on the consolidated
condensed balance sheet. Guarantee fees are recorded in income as the stand-ready obligation to perform is fulfiled. Commitment fees on
guarantees are recorded as income on an accrual basis.

Designations of retained earnings - In the year ended June 30, 2004, IFC established a funding mechanism for technical assistance and
advisory services {TAAS) through a designation of retained eamings. In the year ended June 30, 2005, the Corporation established a funding
mechanism for performance-based grants (PBG) through a designation of retained eamings. Further, in the year ended June 30, 2006, the
Corporation also designated retained eamings for grants to IDA for use by IDA in the provision of grants to further IFC’s mandates in certain
IDA member countries. Total designations of retained eamings for TAAS, PBG, and grants to IDA are determined based on the Corporation’s
annual income before expenditures for TAAS, expenditures for PBG, and net (losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments in excess of
$150 million, and contemplating the financial capacity and priorities of the Corporation. Expenditures for TAAS, PBG, and grants to IDA are
recorded as expenses in the Corporation’s consolidated condensed income statement in the year in which they occur, also having the effect of
reducing the respective designated retained earnings for such purposes.

Expenditures are deemed to have eccurred when IFC has ceded control of the funds to the recipient. If the recipient organization is deemed,
in accordance with US GAAP, to be controlled by IFC, the expenditure is deemed to have occurred only when the recipient organization
expends the funds to a non-related party. On occasion, recipient organizations which are deemed to be controlled by the Corporation will
acquire certain investment assets other than cash. These investments have had no material impact on the Corporation’s financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows. In such cases, the Corporation includes those assets on its consclidated condensed balance sheet, where
they remain until the recipient organization disposes of or transfers the asset or the Corporation is deemed to no longer be in control of the
recipient organization.

Liquid asset portfolio - The Corporation’s liquid funds are invested in government and agency ohligations, time deposits and asset-backed
securities, Govemment and agency obligations include long and short positions in highly rated fixed rate bonds, notes, bills, and other
obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by governments of countries or other official entities including govemment agencies and
instrumentalities or by multilateral organizations. The liquid asset portfctio, as defined by the Corporation, consists of: time deposits and
securities; related derivative instruments; securities purchased under resale agreements, securities sold under repurchase agreements and
payable for cash collateral received; receivables from sales of securities and payables for purchases of securities; and related accrued income
and charges.

Trading securities are carried at fair value with any changes in fair value reported in income from liquid asset trading activities. Interest on
securities and amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are also reported in income from liquid asset trading activities.

The Corporation classifies due from banks and time deposits (collectively, cash and cash equivalents} as an element of liquidity in the statement
of consolidated cash flows because they are readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days.

Repurchase and resale agreements - Repurchase agreements are contracts under which a party sells securities and simultanecusly agrees to
repurchase the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price, Resale agreements are contracts under which a party purchases
securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price.

It is the Corporation's policy to take possession of securities purchased under resale agreements, which are primanly liquid government
securities. The market value of these securities is monitored and, within parameters defined in the agreements, additional collateral is obtained
when their value dedlines. The Corporation also monitors its exposure with respect to securities sold under repurchase agreements and, in
accordance with the terms of the agreements, requests the retum of excess securities held by the counterparty when their value increases.

Repurchase and resale agreements are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions and recorded at the amount at which the
securities were acquired or sold plus accrued interest. Securities purchased under resale agreements, secunities sold under agreements to
repurchase and securities payable for cash collateral received are recorded at fair value.

Borrowings - To diversify its access to funding and reduce its borrowing costs, the Corporation borrows in a variety of cumrencies and uses a
number of borrowing structures, including foreign exchange rate-linked, inverse floating rate and zero coupon notes. Generally, the Corporation
simultaneously converts such bomowings into variable rate US dollar borrowings through the use of cumency and interest rate swap
transactions. Under certain outstanding borrowing agreements, the Corporation is not permitted to mortgage or allow a lien to be placed on its
assets (other than purchase money securnity interests) without extending equivalent security to the holders of such borrowings.

Boerrowings are recorded at the amount repayable at maturity, adjusted for unamortized premium and unaccreted discount. Where bormowings
are part of a designated hedging relationship employing derivative instruments, the camrying amount is adjusted for changes in fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged. Adjustments for changes in fair value attributable to hedged risks are reported in net gains and fosses on
non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated condensed income statement. Interest on borrowings and amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts are reported in charges on borrowings.

Risk management, derivative instruments, and hedge accounting - The Corporation enters inte transactions in various derivative
instruments for financial risk management purposes in connection with its principal business activities, including lending, client risk management,
borrowing, liquid asset portfolio management and asset and fiability management. The Corporation does not use derivatives for speculative,
marketing or merchandising purposes.
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All derivative instruments are recorded on the consolidated condensed balance sheet at fair value as derivative assets or derivative liabilities.
Where they are not clearly and closely related to the host contract, certain derivative instruments embedded in loans, equity investments, and
market borrowing transactions entered into on or after Januvary 1, 1999, are bifurcated from the host contract and recorded at fair value as
derivative assets and liabiliies. The value at inception of such embedded derivatives is excluded from the camying value of the host contracts
on the consolidated condensed balance sheet. Changes in fair values of denvative instruments used in liquid asset portfolio management
activities are recorded in income from liquid asset trading activities. Changes in fair values of derivative instruments other than those used in
liquid asset portfolic management activitles are recorded in net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instruments.

Subject to certain specific qualifying conditions in SFAS No. 133, a derivative instrument may be designated either as a hedge of the fair value
of an asset or lizbility {fair value hedge), or as a hedge of the variability of cash flows of an asset or liability or forecasted transaction (cash flow
hedge). For a derivative instrument qualifying as a fair value hedge, fair value gains or losses on the derivative instrument are reported in net
income, together with offsetting fair vatue gains or losses on the hedged item that are attributable to the risk being hedged. For a derivative
instrument qualifying as a cash flow hedge, fair value gains or losses associated with the risk being hedged are reported in other comprehensive
income and released to net income in the period(s) in which the effect on net income of the hedged item is recorded. Fair value gains and
losses on a dervative instrument not qualifying as a hedge are reported in net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instruments.

The Corporation has designated certain hedging relationships in its borrowing and lending activities as fair value hedges. The Corporation
generally matches the terms of its derivatives with the terms of the specific underlying financial instruments hedged, in terms of currencies,
maturity dates, reset dates, interest rates, and other features. However, the valuation methodologies applied to the derivative and the hedged
financial instrument, as prescribed by SFAS No. 133, may differ. The resulting ineffectiveness calculated for such relationships is recorded in net
gains and losses on non-trading financial instruments in the consolidated condensed income statement.

The Corperation has not designated any hedging relationships as cash flow hedges.

The risk management policy for each of the Corporation’s principal business activities and the accounting policies particular to them are
described below.

Lending activities The Corporation's policy is to closely match the currency, rate basis, and matunity of its loans and borrowings. Derivative
instruments are used to convert the cash flows from fixed rate US dollar or non-US dollar loans into variable rate US dollars. The impact on net
income of changes in fair value of interest rate swaps qualifying for the shortcut method under SFAS No. 133 is exaclly offset by a
corresponding adjustment to the fair value of the related loans. The Corporation has elected not to designate hedging relationships for all other
lending-related derivatives that do not qualify for the shortcut method.

Client risk management activities The Corporation enters into derivatives transactions with its clients to help them hedge their own cumency,
interest rate, or commodity risk, which, in turn, improves the overall quality of the Corporation’s loan portfclio. To hedge the market risks that
arise from these transactions with clients, the Corporation enters into offsetting derivative transactions with matching terms with authorized
market counterparties. Changes in fair value of all derivatives associated with these activities are reflected currently in net income. Though
hedge accounting is not applicable to these activities, the matching of terms between the offsetting transactions minimizes the impact on net
income. Fees and spreads charged on these transactions are recorded as income on an accrual basis.

Borrowing aclivities The Corporation issues debt securities in various capital markets with the objectives of minimizing its borrowing costs,
diversifying funding sources, and developing member countries’ capital markets, sometimes using complex structures. These structures include
borrowings payable in muitiple currencies, or borrowings with principal and/or interest determined by reference to a specified index such as a
stock market index, a reference interest rate, a commodity index, or one or more foreign exchange rates. The Corporation uses derivative
instruments with matching terms, primarily currency and interest rate swaps, to convert such borrowings into variable rate US dollar obligations,
consistent with the Corporation’s matched funding policy. The Corporation has designated the majority of derivatives associated with borrowing
activities as fair value hedges of the underlying borrowings. There are a small number of cash flow-like hedging transactions for which no hedge
relationship has been designated.

Liquid asset portfolio management activities The Corporation manages the interest rate, currency and other market risks associated with certain
of the time deposits and securities in its liquid asset portfolio by entering into derivative fransactions to convert the cash flows from those
instruments into varable rate US dollars, consistent with the Corporation’s matched funding policy. The derivative instruments used include
short-term, over-the-counter foreign exchange forwards (covered forwards), interest rate and currency swaps, and exchange-traded interest rate
futures and options. As the entire liquid asset portfolio is classified as a trading portfolio, all securities {(including derivatives) are carried at fair
value, and no hedging relationships have been designated.

Asset and fiabiiity management In addition to the risk managed in the context of its business activities detailed above, the Corporation faces
residual market risk in its overall asset and liability management. Residual currency risk is managed by monitoring the aggregate position in
each lending currency and eliminating the net excess asset or liability position through spot sales or purchases. Interest rate risk due to reset
date mismatches is reduced by synchronizing the reset dates on assets and liabiliies and managing overall interest rate risk on an aggregate
basis. Interest rate risk arising from mismatches due to writedowns, prepayments and reschedulings, and residual reset date mismatches, is
monitored by measuring the sensitivity of the present value of assets and liabilities in each curmrency to each basis point change in interest rates.

The Corporation monitors the credit risk associated with these aclivities by careful assessment and monitoring of prospective and actual dients
and counterparties. In respect of liquid assets and derivatives transactions, credit risk is managed by establishing exposure limits based on the
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credit rating and size of the individual counterparty. In addition, the Corporation has entered into master agreements goveming derivative
transactions that contain close-out and netting provisions and collateral arrangements. Under these agreements, if the Corporation’s credit
exposure to a counterparty, on a mark-to-market basis, exceeds a specified level, the countemparty must post collateral to cover the excess,
generally in the form of liquid government securities.

Resource mobilization - The Corporation mobilizes funds from ¢ommerdial banks and other financial institutions (Participants} by facilitating
loan participations, without recourse. These loan padicipations are administered and serviced by the Corporation on behalf of the Participants.
Loan participations serving as collateral under secured berrowing arrangements are included in loans on the Corporation’s consolidated
condensed balance sheet with the related secured borrowing inciuded in liabilities on the Corporation’s consolidated condensed batance sheet.
The disbursed and outstanding balances of the loan participations that are considered sates are not included in the Comoration's consolidated
condensed balance sheet.

Pension and other postretirement benefits - IBRD has a defined benefit Staff Retirement Plan (SRP), a Retired Staff Benefits Plan (RSBP)
and a Post-Employment Benefits Plan (PEBP) that cover substantially all of its staff members as well as the staff of the Corporation and of
MIGA.

The SRP provides regular pension benefits and includes a cash balance plan. The RSBP provides certain health and life insurance benefits to
eligible retirees. The PEBP provides pension benefits administered outside the SRP. All costs assoclated with these plans are allocated
between IBRD, the Corporation, and MIGA based upon their employees' respective participation in the plans. In addition, the Corporation and
MIGA reimburse IBRD for their share of any contributions made to these plans by IBRD.

The net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit income or expense aflocated to the Corporation is included in expense from pension
and other postretirement benefits in the consolidated condensed income statement. The Corporation includes a receivable from IBRD in
receivables and other assets, representing prepaid pension and other postretirement benefit costs.

Variable Interest Entities - In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 485,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46). During Dacember 2003, FASB replaced FIN 46 with
FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitiss - an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46R}. FIN 46 and FIN 48R define
certain VIEs and require parties to such entities to assess and measure variable interests in the VIEs for the purpose of determining possible
consolidation of the VIEs. Variable interests can arise from financial instruments, service contracts, guarantees, feases or other arrangements
with VIE. An entity that will absorb a majority of VIE’s expected losses or expected residua! returns is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of
the VIE and must include the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the VIE in its consolidated condensed financial statements,

The Corporation has a number of investments in VIEs which it manages and supervises in a manner consistent with other portfolio
investments. Note K provides further details regarding the Corporation’s variable interests in VIEs.

Accounting and financial reporting devetopments - During the year ended June 30, 2008, the Corporation changed its accounting principle
with respect to the amortization of loan origination fees and loan origination costs. Prior to the year ended June 30, 2006, the net of loan
origination fees and costs was considered to be insignificant. Beginning in year ended June 30, 2006, the Corporation began amortizing loan
origination fees and costs on an effective yield basis.

The FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Eror Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No.3.
The Corporation early adopted SFAS No. 154 as of July 1, 2005. The adoption had no material impact on the Corporation's financial pasition,
results of operations or cash flows.

The FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirerment Obligations - an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 143 (FIN 47). The Corporation adopted FIN 47 as of June 30, 2006 and has accrued a liability for its estimated conditional asset retirement
cbligaticns in four oil and gas UJVs.

The US Accounting Standards Executive Committee issued, and the FASB ratified, Statement of Position (SOP) 03-3, Accounting for Certain
Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer (SOP 03-3). The Corporation adopted SOP 03-3 as of July 1, 2005, and the adoption had no
material impact on the Comporation's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

During the year ended June 30, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid instruments - an amendment of FASB
Statements Nos. 133 and 140 (SFAS No. 155) and SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assels - an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 140 (SFAS No. 156). Both SFAS No. 155 and SFAS No. 156 are effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 20086,
which would be the year ending June 30, 2008 for IFC. The Corporation is presently assessing the possible impact of SFAS No. 155 and
SFAS No. 156.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (FAS 157)which is effective for
fisca! years beginning after November 15, 2007, which would be the year ending June 30, 2009 for IFC. Earlier application is encouraged,
provided that the reporting entity has not yet issued financial statements for that fiscal year, including any financial statements for an interim
period within the fiscal year of adoption. IFC has not elected to early adopt FAS 157 for FY2007 and not yet completed the necessary
analysis to determine if it will early adopt in FY2008.

Y |
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Also, during the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans (FAS 158). As IFC does not have publicly traded equity securities, FAS 158 is effective for IFC as of the end of
the fiscal year ending after June 15, 2007, which is the year ending June 30, 2007 for IFC. In accordance with FAS 158, the Corporation will
required to recognize the funded status of its benefit plans. The Comporation is presently assessing the impact of FAS 158 on its June 30,
2007 financial statements.

In addition, during the three months ended September 30, 2006, the FASB issued and/or approved various FASB Staff Positions, EITF Issues
Notes, and other interpretative guidance related to Statements of Financial Accounting Standards and APB Opinions. The Corporation analyzed
and implemented the new guidance, as appropriate, with no material impact on either the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of
the Corporation.
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NOTE B - INCOME FROM LIQUID ASSET PORTFOLIO

Income from the liquid asset trading portfolio for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 comprise (US$ millicns):

2006 2005
Interest income $ 199 $ 134
Net gains (losses) on trading activities:
Realized (18) (16)
Unrealized , B3 20
Net gains on trading activities ) 45 4
Translation adjustments 2 ]
Total income from liquid asset portfolio $ 246 | S K

NOTE C - RESERVE AGAINST LOSSES ON LOANS

Loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued amounted to $406 million at September 30, 2006 ($447 million - June 30, 2006).
Interest income not recognized on nonaccruing loans during the three months ended September 30, 2006 totaled $11 million ($2 million - three
months ended September 30, 2005). Interest collected on loans in nonaccrual status, related to current and prior years, during the three months
ended September 30, 2006 was $1 million ($1 million - three months ended September 30, 2005).

Changes in the reserve against losses on lpans for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and the year ended June 30, 20085 are
summarized below (US$ millions):

September 30, 2006 June 30, 2006
Beginning balance $ 898 $ 989
Release of {provision for) losses on loans (50} 10
Write-offs 4) (111)
Recoveries of previously written-off investments - 9
Translation adjustments on loans 1 4
Other adjustments {1) (3)
Ending balance § 844 $ 898

Release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees in the consclidated condensed income statement for the three months ended
September 30, 2006 includes $1 milion charge in respect of guarantees ($nil million - three months ended September 30, 2005). At
September 30, 2006 the accumulated reserve for losses on guarantees, included in the consolidated condensed balance sheet in payables
and other liabilities, was $19 million ($18 million - June 30, 2006).

NOTE D - GUARANTEES

Under the terms of the Corporation’s guarantees, the Corporation agrees to assume respensibility for the client's financial obligations in the
event of default by the client, where default is defined as failure to pay when payment is due. Guarantees entered into by the Corporation
generally have maturities consistent with those of the loan portfolio. Guarantees signed at September 30, 2006 totaled $1,259 million ($1,150
millien - June 30, 2006). Guarantees of $573 million that were outstanding at September 30, 2006 ($494 million - June 30, 2006), were not
included in loans on the Cerporation’s consolidated Condensed balance sheet. The outstanding amount represents the maximum amount of
undiscounted future payments that the Corporation could be reguired to make under these guarantees.

NOTE E - NET GAINS (LOSSES) ON OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Net gains (losses) on other financial instruments for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 comprises (US$ millions):

2006 2005
Difference between changes in fair value of derivative instruments
designated as a fair value hedge and change in fair value
of hedged items attributable to risks being hedged $ 25 $ 23
Change in fair value of non-trading derivative instruments .
not designated as a hedge 30 {3
Net gains (losses) on non-trading finangial instruments £ 55 3 __  (8)

]



Page 12
INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE F — INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Income from equity investments for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 comprise the following (US$ millions):

2006 2005

Realized capital gains on equity sales $ 554 $ 251
Dividends and profit participations 105 66
Income from LLPs, certain LLCs and other investments

accounted for under the equity method 10 36
Equity investment impairment write-downs {12) (16)
Custody and other fees - (1
Net losses on equity-related derivatives - {5)

Total income from equity investments $ 657 |- S—- ) i |

Dividends and profit participations include $12 million ($28 miltion - three months ended September 30, 2005) of receipts received in freely
convertible cash, net of cash disbursements, in respect of investments accounted for under the cost recovery method.

NOTE G - SEGMENT REPORTING

For management purposes, the Corporation’s business comprises two segments: client services and treasury services. The client services
segment consists primarily of lending and eguity investment activities. Operationally, the treasury services segment consists of the borrowing,
liquid asset management, asset and liability management and client risk management activities. Consistent with intemnal reporting, net income
{expense) from asset and liability management and client risk management activities in support of client services are allocated to dient services
segment.

The assessment of segment performance by senior management includes net income for each segment, retum on assets, and retum on capital
employed. The Corporation’s management reporting system and policies are used to determine revenues and expenses attributable to each
segment. Consistent with internal reporting, administrative expenses are allocated to each segment based largely upon personnel costs and
segment head counts. Transactions between segments are immaterial and, thus, are not a factor in reconclling to the consolidated data.

The accounting policies of the Corporation’s segments are, in all material respects, consistent with those described in Note A, “Summary of
significant accounting and related policies.”

An analysis of the Corporation’s major components of income and expense by business segment for the three months ended September 30,
2006 and 2005 is given below (US$ millions):

2006
Client Treasury
services services Total

Interest and financial fees from loans $ 237 $ - 8 237
Income from liquid asset trading activities - 246 246
Charges on borrowings (119 (76) {195)
Income from equity investmenis 657 - 657
Release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees 49 - 49
Service fees 11 - 11
Administrative expenses {116) {1 (117N
Other income 4 - 4
Income before expenditures for TAAS and net gains

{losses) on non-trading financial instruments 723 169 892
Expenditures for TAAS (22) - (22)
Net gains (losses) on non-trading financial instruments (20) 75 55

Net income -1 681 § 244 $ 925
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2005

Client Treasury

services services Total
Interest and financial fees from loans $ 196 $ - 8 196
Incorme from liquid asset trading activities - 139 139
Charges on borrowings (66) (59) {125}
Income from equity investments 33 - 3N
Release of provision for losses on loans and guarantees 18 - 18
Service fees " - 1
Administrative expenses (115) {1) (118)
Other income (expense) {5) - (5)
Income before expenditures for TAAS and net (losses)

gains on non-trading financial instruments a7o 79 449

Expenditures for TAAS (19) - {19)
Net {losses) gains on non-trading financial instruments - (8) {8)
Net income 3 351 § 71 & 422

NOTE H - TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE AND ADVISORY SERVICES

Through June 30, 2006, $580 million has been designated for the funding mechanism for technical assistance and advisory services.
Expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services through June 30, 2006 totaled $93 million. In the three months ended September
30, 2006, the Corporation has recorded expenditures for technical assistance and advisory services totaling $22 million ($19 million — three
months ended September 30, 2005). At September 30, 2006, retained earnings designated for technical assistance and advisory services
totaled $465 million.

NOTE | — PENSION AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
IBRD, IFC and MIGA participate in a defined benefit Staff Retirement Plan {SRP), a Retired Staff Benefits Plan (RSBP) and a Post-
Employment Benefits Plan (PEBP) that cover substantially all of their staff members.

All costs, assets and liabilittes assoclated with these pension plans are allocated between IBRD, IFC and MIGA based upon their employees’
respective parlicipation in the plans. Costs allocated to IBRD are then shared between IBRD and IDA based on an agreed cost sharing ratio.

The following tables summarize the benefit costs associated with the SRP, RSBP, and PEBP for IFC for the three months ended September
30, 2006 and September 30, 2005:

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2006
(Unaudited)
SRe RS8P PEBP
Bensfit cost '
Service cost $ 15 % 28 1
Interest cost 22 3 1
Expected return on plan assets (37) (3) -
Amortization of prior service cost * * :
Amortization of unrecognized net loss {gain) * h h
Net periodic pension cost 3 bl | 2 3 2
* Less than $0.5 million
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2005
(Unaudited}
SRP RSBP PEBP
Benefit cost
Service cost $ 15 § 2% 1
Interest cost 25 2 *
Expected retum on plan assets (39) {2) -
Amortization of prior service cost * * *
Amortization of unrecognized net loss (gain) 2 1 N
Net periodic pension cost 3 3 s i3 1

* Less than $0.5 million

At September 30, 2008, the estimate of the amount of contributions expected to be paid to the SRP and RSBP for the Corporation during
fiscal year 2007 remained unchanged from that disclosed in the June 30, 2006 consolidated financial statements: $25 million for the SRP and
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$9 millien for the RSBP.

NOTE J - CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of its business, the Corporation is from time to time named as a defendant or co-defendant in various legal actions on
different grounds in various jurisdictions. Although there can be no assurances, based on the information cumently available, the Corporation’s
Management does not believe the outcome of any of the various existing legal actions will have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s
financial condition or results of operations.

NOTE K - VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND OTHER CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS

An entity is subject to FIN 46R and Is called a variable interest entity (VIE) if it Jacks: (1) equity that is sufficient to permit the entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties; or (2) equity investors who have decision-making rights about
the entity’s operations or who do not absorb the expected losses or receive the expected returns of the entity proportionally to their voting
rights.

A VIE is consolidated by its primary beneficiary, which is the party involved with the VIE that absorbs a majority of the expected losses or
receives a majority of the expected residual returns or both, The primary beneficiary is required to initially measure the assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests of the VIE at their carrying amounts at the date on which it first became the primary beneficiary. Because certain VIEs
were crealed prior to the issuance of FIN 46R, it may not be practicable to determine the camying amounts of the assets, liabilities and
nancontrolling interests at the initial date, and in such cases, the primary beneficiary must measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling
interests at their fair values on the date FIN 46R is first applied. The primary beneficiary is also required to disclose information about the
nature, purpose, size, and activities of the VIE, and collateral and recourse creditors may have against the VIE.

An enterprise may hold significant variable interests in VIEs, which are not consolidated because the enterprise is not the primary beneficiary.
in such cases, the enterprise s required to disclose information about its involvement with and exposure to the VIE, and about the nature,
purpose, size, and activities of the VIE.

An enterprise is not required to apply FIN 46R to certain entities if, after making an exhaustive effort, it is unable to obtain the information
necessary to: (1) determine whether the entity is a VIE: (2) determine if the enterprise is the primary beneficiary of the possible VIE; or (3)
perform the accounting required to consolidate a possible VIE. In such cases, the enterprise is required to disclose the number of entities to
which FIN 46R is not being applied, why the information required to apply FIN 46R is not available, the nature, purpose and activities of the
entities to which FIN 46R is not being applied, and the enterprise’s maximum expesure to the entities to which FIN 46R is not being applied.

The Corporation has identified six VIEs in which the Corporation is deemed to be the primary beneficiary at September 30, 2008,

Three of the VIEs have been consolidated into IFC's consolidated condensed financial statements as of September 30, 2006. All consolidated
VIEs are in the Collective Investment Vehicles sector in the Latin America and Caribbean region.

The remaining three VIEs in which the Corporation is deerned to be the primary beneficiary have not been consolidated into IFC's consolidated
condensed financiat statements, as they are significantly impaired and information required to apply the provisions of FIN 46R is not available.
IFC's net investment in these three entities totals $2 million, virtually all in the primary metals sector in the Asia region. Based on the most recent
financial data available, total net assets of the three entities is $11 million.

As a result of the consolidation of the three investments described above, IFC's consolidated condensed balance sheet at June 30, 2006
includes additional assets of $6 million in equity investments ($6 million - June 30, 2006), $2 million in receivables and other assets ($3 million
- June 30, 2006), and additional liabilities of $2 million in payables and other liabilities ($2 million - June 30, 2006).

Other income for the year ended June 30, 2006 includes $nil million of income from consolidated entities ($17 million - year ended June 30,
2006; $5 million - year ended June 30, 2005} and other expense includes $nil million of expenses from consaclidated entities ($10 million - year
ended June 30, 2005; 35 million - year ended June 30, 2005).

The Corporation has identified eighteen investments in VIEs in which the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary but in which it is deemed
to hold significant variable interests. The Corporation’s total investment in and maximum exposure to loss to these entities, comprising both
disbursed amounts and amounts committed but not yet disbursed balances, was $209 million at June 30, 2006. The regional and sectoral
analysis of the Corporation's investments in these VIEs is as follows {US$ millicns);
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September 30, 2006

Equity
Loans mestiments Total
Europe and Central Asia $ 103 § 6 % 108
Latin America and Caribbean $ 22 3 21§ 43
Asia "1 11 22
Sub-Saharan Africa - 8 8
Middle East and North Africa 1 - 1
Other - 26 26

Total VIE investments

s 137 § 72 3 209

September 30, 2006

Transpertation and warehousing
Collective investment vehicles
Finance and insurance
Industrial and consumer products
Agriculture and forestry
Food and beverages
Qil, gas and mining
Accommodation and tourism services
Textiles, apparel and leather

Total VIE investments

Based on the most recent available data from these VIEs, the assets of these VIEs totaled $1,033 million.

NOTE L - MATERIAL TRANSACTION

Equity
Loans mestiments Total
$ 7 % - 8 78
- 54 54
20 11 31
19 4 23
1M - 1

8

2

1
1 - 1
$ 137 % 72 3 209

On December 21, 2005, the Corporation entered into an agreement to sell its shares in Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. (BCR). n addition,
IFC has entered into an agreement which includes certain payment covenants and potential indemnifications with respect to certain conditions
and valuations in case such conditions and valuations become applicable. The transaction closed during October 2006. Accordingly, IFC will

recognize a significant capital gain in the second quarter of the year ending June 30, 2007, in the amouni of $833 million.




INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

Page 16

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

-
De|0|tte0 DeloiTte 8 Touche LLP

Suite 500
555 121h Stree1 NwW

Yashingion, OC 20004-17G7

Usa

Tel. »1 202 379 5600
Fan; «V 202 879 5309
www deloitte.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

President and Board of Govemnors
International Finance Corparation

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated condensed balance sheetl of the
International Finance Corporation (IFC) as of September 30, 2006, and the related
consolidated condensed income siatement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in capital, and statement of cash flows for the three-month periods
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, These interim financial statements are the
responsibility of the IFC’s management.

We conducted our review in accordance with standards established by the Amcrican
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial information
consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquires of persons
responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an
audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the
tinancial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we arc not aware of any material modifications that should be made
to such consolidated condensed interim financial staternents for them to be in conformity
with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, the consolidated halance sheet, including the statement of
capital stock and voting power, of IFC as of June 30, 2006, and statement of cash flows
for the fiscal year ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated August 7, 2006,
we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. In our apinion, the
information set forth in the accompanying consolidated condensed balance sheet ns of
June 30, 2006, is fairly siated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated
balance sheet from which it has been derived.

November 13, 2006

Mer ber ot

Dalcntte Touache Tokmatsy




International Finance Corporation

Reporting To SEC on New and Matured Borrowings

External Currency Currency USD Interest Settle': Date /
Id Code Amount Amount Rate Maturity Date

For the Quarter Ending Sep 30, 2006

New Market Borrowings

07_15XXXXX AUD 157,000,000.00 119,751,750.00 5.37 11-Sep-06
Total for Currency AUD 157,000,000.00 119,751,750.00

07_14XXXXX EUR 24,000,000.00 30,634,800.00 3.06 11-Sep-06
Total for Currency EUR 24,000,000.00 30,634,800.00

07_12XXXXX HKD 750,000,000.00 96,429,535.72 4.45 01-8ep-06
Total for Currency HKD 750,000,000.00 96,429,535.72

07_04XXXXX JIPY 500,000,000.00 4,324,511.33 2.10 23-Aug-06
07_05XXXXX IPY 550,000,000.00 4,770,371.66 3.00 2i-Aug-06
07_08XXXXX JPY 500,000,000.00 4,352,746.58 5.50 14-Aug-06
(07_09XXXXX JPY 500,000,000.00 4,261,303.11 3.00 05-8ep-06
Total for Currency JPY 2,050,000,000.00 17,708,932.68

07 _11XXXXX MXN 200,000,000.00 18,461,254.44 7.00 25-Aug-06
Total for Currency MXN 200,000,000.00 18,461,254.44

06_45XXXXX usD 11,875,000.00 11,875,000.00 0.00 06-Jul-06
07_02XXXXX usp 14,705,882.40 14,705,882.40 4.00 01-Aug-06
07_03XXXXX usp 6,250,000.00 6,250,000.00 4.00 08-Aug-06
07_I3XXXXX UsD 50,500,000.00 50,500,000.00 4.46 11-Sep-06
Total for Currency USD 83,330,882.40 83,330,882.40

07_01_RI1XX ZAR 200,000,000.00 28,039,676.00 7.25 31-Aug-06
07_0IXXXXX ZAR 300,000,000.00 43,084,878.00 7.25 03-Aug-06
07_06XXXXX ZAR 900,000,000.00 132,453,252.00 B.15 10-Aug-06
07_07XXXXX ZAR 300,000,000.00 42,223,785.00 1.00 24-Aug-06
07_10XXXXX ZAR 600,000,000.00 84,760,728.00 8.00 25-Aug-06
Total for Currency ZAR 2,300,000,000.00 330,562,319.00

TOTAL NEW MARKET BORROWINGS 696,879,474.2

Friday, October 20, 2006 Page 1 of 3




External Currency Currency USD Interest Settle Date /
1d Code Amount Amount Rate Maturity Date

Matured Market Borrowings
04 25XXXXX GBP 30,000,000.00 55,470,000.00 2.80 24-Jul-06
Total for Currency GBP 30,000,000.00 55,470,000.00
03 39_B1XX JPY 1,000,000,000.00 8,462,026.66 2.65 20-Sep-06
Total for Currency JPY 1,000,000,000.00 8,462,026.66
03_54_B2XX usD 16,949,152.50 16,949,152.50 0.00 08-Aug-06
Fotal for Currency USD 16,949,152.50 16,949,152.50

TOTAL MATURED MARKET BORROWINGS

Friday, October 20, 2006

80,881,179.16
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External Currency Currency USD Interest Settle Date /
Id Code Amount Amount Rate Maturity Date

Matured IBRD Borrowings

003785_03X usD 1,190,476.00 1,190,476.00 8.00 01-Sep-06
004210_04X UsD 312,500.00 312,500.00 5.58 03-Jul-06
004210_06X UsD 222,000.00 222,000.00 5.58 17-Jul-06
Total for Currency USD 1,724,976.00 1,724.976.00
TOTAL MATURED IBRD BORROWINGS 1,724,976.00

Friday, October 20, 2006 Page3 of3




